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Our year 2016/17

The number of patients we cared for each month

Our programme of developing Queen Mary’s Hospital
in Sidcup continued with the opening of our children’s centre
and building of the kidney and cancer centres.

Good
We improved the quality

of our services through the
year and now our Care
Quality Commission rating
is good across all domains.

The partnership was launched
to encourage closer working
between Oxleas, South

£240m

We spent on
delivering patient
care in 2016/17

London and Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust, and South
West London and St Georges
NHS Trust.

At our annual recognition
awards, we highlighted
the dedication of our inspiring
staff. Around 3,600 people
work across our physical and
We developed Bexley Care with Bexley Council to
offer more joined-up care to local people.

mental health services.
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Overview

Overview
This summary aims to give readers enough
information about Oxleas to understand
our organisation and purpose, how we have
performed during the year and any risks to us
achieving our objectives.

people’s lives. To achieve this in an increasingly
challenging financial environment, we are
working closer than ever with partners and
aim to work as effectively as possible using
technology where we can.
We have continued to perform well in our key
areas of quality, patient experience, workforce
and financial management and we are
particularly pleased that, following an inspection
in April 2016 followed by a re-inspection
in February/March 2017, the Care Quality
Commission has changed our overall trust
rating to good. This is for the trust overall and
across all five domains – safe, effective, caring,
responsive and well-led.

Our year
Welcome to this report on Oxleas’ activity and
performance over the year from April 2016 to
the end of March 2017. It has been an extremely
busy year and the first year for me in my role as
Chief Executive.
Oxleas works across Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich
and Kent to provide high quality mental and
physical healthcare with the aim of improving

Oxleas Care Quality Commission Ratings Dashboard – Updated April 2017

1 Community
health services
for adults
2 Community
health inpatient
services

Safe

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

3 End of life care

4 Community
services for
children, young
people and
families

7

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Section one - Performance report

Section one - Performance report

Overview

Safe
5 Community
mental health
services for
children, young
people and
families

Good

6 Community
mental health
services for
working age
adults

Good

7 Mental health
crisis services

Good

8 Mental health
wards for adults
of working age

Good

9 Rehabilitation
mental health
wards for working
age adults
10 Forensic
inpatient wards

Good

Overview

Effective

Caring

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Responsive

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Well-led

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

12 Community
services for
people with a
learning disability

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

13 Wards for older
people with
mental health
problems

Good

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Good

Good

Good

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Mental Health
Services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Community
Health Services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Overall Trust
Rating

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

14 Community
mental health
services for
older people

Good

11 Wards for people
with a learning
disability

Good

Safe

Good

Our Forensic Services were re-inspected in April 2017 and we await the outcome of this inspection.

Over the last year, we have had a strong focus
on making improvements in services as required
by the Care Quality Commission following their
full trust inspection in April 2016 which rated us
as requires improvement. This has led to quality
improvement programmes in our inpatient
mental health and our forensic mental health
services. This piece of work, involving a wide
range of staff, has had a very positive impact
both for patient experience and the working
experience of our staff. We plan to build on
these initiatives by launching a trustwide quality
improvement programme during 2017. During
the year, we launched a carers’ strategy to
ensure that we involve carers more in people’s
treatment and support them more. Through
this, we are identifying and supporting younger
carers more and working with our staff to work
with carers more effectively.

following a serious incident on one of our
forensic mental health wards where two
members of staff were injured. Both colleagues
are recovering well but to prevent a similar
incident occurring we have changed how we
manage our kitchens and improved our safety
and security procedures across our services.
The quality of our services is a major item at
every Board of Directors’ meeting where data
and feedback is reviewed and directors regularly
visit services to talk to staff and patients.
A complete review of our quality performance is
contained in our Quality Accounts Report which
is from page 84 in this document.
It has been another year of transformation
across our services. Queen Mary’s Hospital in
Sidcup continues to develop with the opening
of Acorns, our children’s centre in 2016, and
work beginning on a major project to create

We have also implemented a safety review
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out-patient facilities and a new main entrance.
New kidney and cancer treatment centres on
the site have also been completed and opened
in April and May 2017. We have developed new
community mental health rehabilitation services
to reduce in-patient care and support people
closer to home. We have also launched a new
treatment for severe depression – repetitive
transcranial magnetic stimulation – which
aims to help people who have limited success
with other treatments. Many of our services
for children have been re-organised following
us successfully bidding for new contracts and
we have rolled out iPads across many of our
community services to enable staff to spend
more time with patients.

Section one - Performance report

Overview
One of the highlights for me over the past
year was our Recognition Awards where we
had the opportunity to acknowledge the
tremendous work of colleagues across the whole
organisation. This recognised how our staff
day in and day out put our values into action
and make a difference to our patients and their
families. For the first time, we also recognised
the 18 colleagues who have worked at Oxleas
for 30 years or more and the significant
contribution they have made.
We rely on the expertise and dedication of
our staff to deliver high quality services and
therefore want to ensure that we attract and
retain the best staff and support and engage
them in developing the care we offer. We have
gathered the views and ideas from nearly 500
members of staff and have launched the ‘Let’s
Talk’ staff engagement programme to provide
colleagues with a variety of means to share their
views with senior members of staff. More details
are shared in the Staff Report from page 45.

Working in partnership has been a key theme of
the past year and we have developed two key
partnerships which we hope will enable us to
provide better and more efficient care to local
people in the future. Bexley Care is the integration
of our services with social care services provided
by Bexley Council. This was developed over the
past year and was launched on 1 April 2017.
This exciting opportunity aims to improve
collaborative working, avoid duplication and help
Bexley residents stay healthy and independent.

We continue to seek ways of saving money and
have implemented plans across all our services
to work more efficiently. This year, we have
met our financial targets and continue to have
a strong focus on reducing costs particularly
around use of agency staff. More details are in
the financial performance report from page 14.

We have developed a three-way partnership
with South London and Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust and South West London and
St Georges NHS Trust to share innovation and
expertise and to see if there are ways we can
work more efficiently together. This has resulted
in a pilot with NHS England to commission and
run forensic mental health services across
South London.

Over the coming year, we will continue to build
on these developments and partnerships and
look forward in particular to celebrating Queen
Mary Hospital’s centenary and to taking forward
our quality improvement plans.

We are also part of the South East London
Sustainability and Transformation Plan and are
working collaboratively with organisations across
South East London to take these plans forward.

Signed by

Ben Travis, Chief Executive

25 May 2017
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Our purpose
Our purpose is to improve lives by providing
the best quality health and social care for our
patients and carers.

hospitals including Queen Mary’s Hospital in
Sidcup and Memorial Hospital in Greenwich as
well as the Bracton Centre, our medium secure
unit for people with mental health needs.

We do this by putting our values into action:

We also provide healthcare to prisoners across
South East London and Kent. We are one of the
largest providers of prison healthcare and work
with a range of organisations to give prisoners
the physical and mental healthcare they need.

User focus

We view things through the eyes of our patients
and their carers

Excellence

We employ around 3,600 members of staff
including nurses, doctors, therapists, healthcare
assistants and social workers. We are always
seeking caring and enthusiastic staff to join
us, visit our #working4us page on our website
oxleas.nhs.uk.

We are never content with a service that is
second best

Learning

We constantly review and improve how we do
things

Our history and statutory background
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust was established in
2006 following many years as a successful NHS
trust. We are part of the NHS and are registered
with the Care Quality Commission. As a
foundation trust, our performance is overseen
by the healthcare regulator NHS Improvement
(formerly Monitor). Being a foundation trust
means that we are still part of the NHS but that
we are able to include local people more in the
decisions we make. Therefore, we have a Council
of Governors made up of local people; many
of whom use or care for someone who uses
our services.

Responsive

We avoid unnecessary delays for treatment and
care

Partnership
We work with others to ensure our patients get
the help they need

Safety

We seek to protect our patients, staff and public
from harm
Our activities
We offer a wide range of health and social
care to people living in South East London. This
includes community health care such as district
nursing and health visiting, care for people
with learning disabilities including assessment
and therapy and mental health care such as
psychiatry, nursing and psychological therapy.
Our multidisciplinary teams look after people
of all ages and we work closely with other parts
of the NHS, local authorities and voluntary
organisations. We care for people in many
different settings such as hospitals, health
centres and in people’s homes. We manage
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Performance analysis

The key issues and risks that could affect us delivering our objectives

This section provides a detailed performance
summary of how we measure our performance.

Over the coming year, we want to:

•  recruitment challenges – we are taking action to recruit and

At each board meeting, we review our
performance using key indicators to measure
the quality of the services we deliver, the fitness
of our workforce and our financial health. This
is presented in an integrated board report using
information from a variety of sources including
our electronic patient information system
RiO, our learning support system and national
measures such as the Friends and Family
Test. We carry out internal audits to ensure
the validity of our information and several
measures are also audited externally. Each
area is assigned to a board sub-committee who
review performance, develop mitigation plans as
needed and review targets as necessary.

•  temporary staffing needs – we are taking action to improve

Our performance in these areas over the past
year are outlined below:

Key issue

Risks that could affect this and how we are responding:

Enhance quality

•  high demand – we are implementing strong bed

and ensure excellence for every
patient every time

management processes to ensure that people needing
inpatient mental health care have a positive experience

•  understanding risk – we are taking action across the

organisation to ensure that comprehensive risk assessments
are carried out.

•  ability to planning care effectively –we will continue to
implement our Carers’ Strategy and to work across our
services to improve and personalise our care planning

Maintain a skilled and engaged
workforce and ensure staff feel
valued and are able to make a
difference

retain suitably qualified staff

our roster planning, only use agency staff when absolutely
necessary and to ensure temporary staff are suitably qualified
and familiar with services

•  
Maintain a sustainable
organisation and using our
resources efficiently

data accuracy issues – we are working with staff to ensure we
collect and share accurate data to measure our performance

•  our local health economy – our commissioners face

significant financial challenges and we are working in
partnership across the area to make most effective use
of resources

•  ability to deliver savings – we are focused on making our
services as efficient as possible

Work in partnership to deliver
better care by working across
boundaries

•  having a shared vision – we are working with partners

through the South London Mental Health and Community
Partnership, Bexley Care and South East London Sustainability
and Transformation Plan to deliver savings to the local health
economy and improve pathways across the sector.

Going concern disclosure
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that Oxleas NHS Foundation
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, we continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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adult mental health and children’s community
services were re-inspected in February/March
2017 and the Care Quality Commission found
that we had made improvements in all areas.
They have therefore rated the trust as Good
overall and in all domains.
In our Quality Report, we present our performance
against last year’s goals which were set through a
variety of processes including:
annual focus groups with members
• our
and governors across Bexley, Bromley and
Greenwich

regular quality review meetings with our
• our
commissioners
from patients who have used our
• feedback
services
• nationally defined performance targets.

We had 23 quality goals in 6 areas of quality.
These are agreed with our local commissioners
and our members to focus on areas of clinical
risk. Of these, we completely achieved 21, and
mostly achieved 2. Full details are in the Quality
Accounts Report from page 84.

Providing quality services
The Board of Directors reviews a range of quality
indicators including performance against targets
set by NHS Improvement and those internally
set. The targets cover the three quality domains
of patient experience, patient safety and clinical
effectiveness. Our Quality sub-committee has
the main oversight of our quality performance
and leads in-depth reviews into areas of concern
and monitors actions taken in response.

Supporting our staff
We recognise that our services rely on qualified
and motivated staff to deliver them. It is
therefore important that our staff feel fully
engaged in how our services are run and we
have developed new ways of involving staff
over the past year. Our ‘Let’s Talk’ programme
was introduced in November 2016 to provide
opportunities for staff to discuss issues with
senior staff, communicate key issues through
short films and enable staff to raise issues
direct with the Chief Executive. Members of the

In April 2016, the Care Quality Commission
inspected our services and, while the majority
of services were rated good or outstanding,
the inspectors did identify areas for
improvement and rated the trust overall as
Requires Improvement. In response to this, we
implemented a comprehensive improvement
plan involving staff across our services. Our

13

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Section one - Performance report

Section one - Performance report

Performance analysis

Performance analysis

Our financial health
For the financial year 2016/17, we reported
a net deficit of £1.8m (trust only position) within
our annual accounts. This includes the following
one-off items:-

Board of Directors and Executive Team are also
undertaking more visits to our services to meet
with staff so that they can understand more
about what it is like to work in direct patient
care. The NHS Staff Survey was undertaken
for the first time across our whole workforce.
This showed that while we are still better
than average, levels of staff satisfaction have
declined. Actions are being undertaken to
understand this more and to improve staff
satisfaction. The key findings from the survey
include:

- reductions in the value of
• Impairments
a number of assets based upon the amount
they are likely to realise when sold on the
open market totalled £5.1m (net)

of assets - £0.6m net profit on the
• Disposal
sale of surplus assets
and Transformation Funding
• Sustainability
(core)- £1.6m
and Transformation Funding
• Sustainability
(bonus) - £0.6m

have improved in staff reporting if they
• We
have experienced harassment or abuse
perform better than most other NHS
• We
organisations in effective team working and
use of patient feedback, effective and fair
incident reporting procedures and quality of
appraisals.

When these are excluded from the position,
we achieved an underlying surplus of £1.0m,
which is in line with our plan. In order to deliver
this surplus, we successfully implemented full
year effect savings totalling £7.7m during the
year. Alongside this we experienced a number
of financial pressures, some of which were
associated with the continued reliance on
agency staff, continued usage of private sector
beds (where the capacity was not available in
the trust) and the expenditure required to take
forward the actions linked to the initial ‘Requires
Improvement’ outcome of the Care Quality
Commission review of our services. This
included the purchase of additional inpatient
capacity from a fellow NHS provider at a total
cost of £1.2m.

are worse than many NHS organisations
• We
for staff attending work despite feeling unwell
staff experience more discrimination,
• Our
abuse and physical violence, particularly from
patients and carers, than average.

Our staff report outlines the programme of
actions we are taking to improve working life
at Oxleas. This includes a greater focus on staff
engagement, implementing a staff health and
wellbeing strategy and supporting clinical teams
to manage abusive patients and carers.
Our performance over the past year
Average Sickness Absence over last
12 months – 4.48% (this was an increase in
absence from the previous year of 4.08%)

The new ‘Single Oversight Framework’ scoring
system went live on 1st October 2016. NHS
Improvement assigned each NHS provider an
overall ‘segment’ taking into account scores
attained across 5 core themes, with ‘Finance
and the use of resources’ being one of these.
Segment 1 means complete autonomy and
a segment rating of 4 would lead to special
measures being instigated.

‘Finance and use of resources’ theme is made up
of the metrics detailed in the table below. Each
metric has been assigned an equal weighting.
A score of 1 is the ‘best’ and 4 the ‘worst’.
The calculations exclude the one-off items
mentioned above and are measuring the
‘business as usual’ position of the Trust.

Financial and use of resource Measure

YTD

Score

Capital Servicing
Capacity Rating (times)

Actual
Plan

2.21
2.26

2
2

Liquidity Rating (days)

Actual
Plan

45
33

1
1

I & E Margin (%)

Actual
Plan

1.3%
1.0%

1
1

Distance from
Financial Plan (%)

Actual
Plan

0.0%
0.0%

1
1

Agency Spend

Actual
Plan

33%
0.0%

3
1

Financial and use of resource rating March 17

Actual
Plan

Financial sustainability

Finanical efficiency

Financial controls

2
2

Turnover for all reasons 2016/17 – 17.12%
Turnover for all reasons 2015/16 – 15.2%

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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The table below and subsequent paragraphs set
out the financial position in more detail:

We prepare our accounts in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). There have been no significant
amendments to the accounting standards in
2016/17 and so our accounting policies therefore
remain largely unchanged. Our Group deficit
of £1.9m includes £0.1m deficit in relation to
Oxleas Prison Services Limited.

Reported group deficit
(including impairment
and profit on asset
disposal)

16/17
(£m)

15/16
(£m)

(1.9)

(5.9)

Impairments (land,
buildings, major IT)

5.1

5.8

Charitable funds net
(income)/expenditure

0.0

0.1

Control Total
including sustainability
and transformation
funding*

3.2

Less: Sustainability
and Transformation
Funding (Core)

(1.6)

Less: Sustainability
and Transformation
Funding (Bonus)

(0.6)

Underlying surplus**

1.0

Delivering our underlying target surplus of £1m
did rely on us achieving a £0.6m of profit on
asset sale.
A summary of our key financial metrics is
presented in the table below:
Key Metrics

N/A

N/A

15/16
(£m)

Total income

£247.0

£246.6

Total expenditure

£240.3

£243.3

Finance costs

£4.0

£3.2

Impairments

£5.1

£5.8

Gain from asset disposals

£0.6

0

Revaluation gains

£3.0

£2.7

Underlying surplus*

£1.0

£0.1

Underlying surplus margin

0.2%

0.0%

Cash

£62.4

£85.0

£166.9

£165.8

2

3

100%

100%

Net assets
NHS Improvement Finance
and use of Resources score

0.1

(15/16 - Financial
Sustainability Risk Rating) ***
Efficiencies delivered
vs plan

* In 2016/17, all NHS providers were assigned a ‘financial
control total’. This was introduced to try to ensure that
the provider sector achieved financial balance in 2016/17
and is a key condition in receiving additional sustainability
funding. By delivering a ‘underlying surplus’ of £1.0m we
secured a £2.2m of additional sustainability funding.

Trust only position, excluding charitable trust
funds and Oxleas Prison Services Ltd.
*** The level of financial risk was previously calculated
using a Financial Sustainability Risk Rating as defined
by Monitor’s (the then regulator of Foundation Trusts)
methodology as set out in the Risk Assessment Framework
2015/16. Under that regime 4 was the best and 1 the
worst. The new rating system reverses this definition with
1 now being the best and 4 the worst.

** Underlying surplus is defined as surplus for the year
before impairments and sustainability and transformation
funding. This represents the operational performance of
the trust.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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There is no doubt that 2016/17 presented a
significant financial challenge for the NHS and
in particular for providers like us. The impact of
sustained efficiency expectations coupled with
the growing demand and the need to maintain
and improve the quality of care delivered;
achieving financial balance has required
efforts across all areas of the trust including
‘hard choices’ including the suspension of
discretionary spend during the year.

include rental income, non-contracted activity
and a small sum for research and development.

29+19+181476

2016/17 Income

Other NHS and
partner
organisations
Queen Mary’s
7%
Hospital
6%

Local
Authority
7%

Greenwich CCG
29%

Bromley
14%

Bexley CCG
18%

Income
We can confirm that for 2016/17, in accordance
with Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006, the
income from the provision of goods and services
for the purposes of the health service in England
was greater than the income from the provision
of goods and services for any other purposes.
The work required to receive the non-health
care income has had no adverse impact on the
provision of goods and services for the purposes
of the health care.

NHS England
19%

Expenditure
Our total expenditure in the year was £240.3m
with staff costs accounting for 73% of operating
expenditure. To achieve our planned surplus
of £1.0m we needed to deliver £7.7m of cash
releasing efficiencies in the year. All directorates
developed detailed schemes to deliver the level
of savings required and these were monitored
throughout the year with formal reports to the
Board, the Business Committee and Executive.
The plans covered a range of themes including
service redesign and productivity, rationalisation
of the estate in line with our Estates Strategy,
continued deployment of new technologies such
as iPads and other mobile working initiatives,
re-procurement of non-pay goods and
services and a review of corporate resources.
We delivered £7.4m (96% of the full year effect)
with the remainder managed through nonrecurrent savings.

There was a marginal increase in our total
income to £247m (2015/16 £246.6m). The
majority of our income comes from NHS England
and local Clinical Commissioning Groups for
the provision of clinical services. There are a
number of other income sources to the trust.
The education and training income supports
the costs of training doctors, nurses and other
healthcare professionals and in doing so
supports the quality of care provided at the
trust. The remainder of the income sources

17
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We have complied with the cost allocations and
charging requirement set out in HM Treasury
and Office of Public Sector information guidance.

Our internal auditors report to our Board of
Directors via the Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee and have responsibility to our
members as well as the wider public in the case
of public interest reports.

We closed on 31 March 2017 with a healthy cash
balance of £62.4m. This cash balance is held to
ensure we do not encounter difficulties in paying
our staff and creditors, and can fund our future
capital programme where we are planning to
spend £30.8m over the next 2 years.

73+3+918

2016/17 Expenditure

Other 3%
Training 1%

Heathcare
Contracts
8%

Better payment practice code and our
compliance
We continue to monitor our performance
against the Better Payment Practice Code that
requires payment of all trade creditor invoices
within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice
(unless other terms have been specifically
agreed with the supplier). The target set is
95% for both value and volume of invoices. We
ended the year at 85% and 88% respectively.
We continue to work towards the Government’s
initiative to pay small and medium enterprises
within 10 working days.

Premises 9%

Supplies 3%
Drugs 3%

Staff costs
73%

External Audit
Our external auditor is Deloitte and for the year
2016/17 expenditure on external audit fees for
statutory audit work was £66k excluding VAT
(2015/16 equivalent £64k). The quality accounts
fees, excluding VAT, was £14k (2015/16 £14k) and
the charitable independent examination fee,
excluding VAT was £4k (2015/16 £4k).

Statement of Financial Position
We have continued to invest our cash balances
into maintaining and developing the estates and
facilities across all our boroughs. In 2016/17, we
spent £30.6m on capital expenditure.
Our journey on developing the Queen Mary’s
site continued with a further £16.8m spent on
reconfiguring and updating the space. A further
£4m was spent on the development of the new
Kidney and Cancer Treatment Centres; all of
which will ensure we have in place, over the
next two years, a 21st Century healthcare hub
delivering a range of services in redesigned fitfor-purpose facilities to the local population.

Internal Audit
Our internal audit function is provided by
KPMG. KPMG provides us with a comprehensive
internal audit service based on our strategic
internal audit plan; underpinned by the annual
operational audit plan to meet the mandatory
standards for NHS internal audit and the reviews
linked to our risk register. KPMG also meet the
requirements for the provision of the opinion
of the Head of Internal Audit on our system of
internal control, and provide advice on meeting
our corporate governance requirements whilst
maintaining the necessary level of professional
independence.

In addition we have spent £2m on ICT projects
including PC replacement, iPads, Transformation
projects and metrics. This investment has
ensured that healthcare professionals are able
to deliver high quality patient care.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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Key financial performance indicators
We agree and monitor a number of financial
performance indicators to measure our financial
success. Some of these form part of the NHS
Improvement Single Oversight Framework
whilst a number seek to assess and improve
performance. The table below sets out the key
indicators and performance against plan.

Local Counter Fraud
We are committed to providing and maintaining
an absolute standard of honesty and integrity
in dealing with our assets. We are committed to
the elimination of fraud and illegal acts within
the trust, and ensure rigorous investigation
and disciplinary or other actions are taken as
appropriate. We adopt best practice procedures
to tackle fraud, as recommended by NHS Protect
and by KPMG, who provide us with specialist
counter-fraud services.

Metric

Over the year, we have widely published our
policies and procedures for staff to report any
concern about potential fraud. This has been
reinforced by awareness training. Any concerns
are investigated by our local counter fraud
specialist or NHS Protect as appropriate with all
investigations reported to the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee.

16/17
Target

16/17 Achieved
Actual

Normalised
Surplus - Year to
Date (£m)

1.0

1.0

✔

Cash Position
(£m)

47.0

62.0

✔

Capital Plan
(revised) - Year
to Date (£m)

30.6

30.7

✔

CRE Plans - Full
Year Effect (£m)

7.7

7.7

✔

Future Financial Plans
Our financial focus is on long term financial
sustainability rather than simply the delivery
of short term targets. To support this vision,
our key priorities are:

Statement as to disclosure to auditors
So far as the Directors (who held office at the
date of approval of this report) are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which our
auditors are unaware. They have taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that
our auditors are aware of that information.

sufficient income and expenditure
• generating
and cash surpluses to support o
 n-going

	operations, fund capital investment
requirements and business development
opportunities, and ensure
we maintain liquidity

pursuing turnover growth by securing
• actively
new business and defending current contracts
sustainable Cost Improvement
• delivering
Programmes over the next 1-5 years
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a Trust-wide focus on workforce
• drive
redesign to deliver new ways of working,

with commissioning and acute
• working
hospital colleagues to enhance psychiatric

reduce temporary staffing expenditure and
delivering transformation programmes
across the South London Partnership (joint
working between us, South London and
Maudsley Foundation Trust and South West
London and St Georges NHS Trust)

liaison services to achieve 24/7 coverage
across all acute hospitals in our area

to play an active part in the
• continue
development of the Sustainability and

Transformation Plans (STP) for the South East
London geographical footprint.

to deliver a long-term ‘Financial and
• aspiring
Use of Resources’ score of 1
a £0.1m target surplus in 2017/18
• generating
and 2018/19 respectively and for the 3 years

Our environmental
performance

thereafter

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of
public funds, we have an obligation to work
in a way that has a positive effect on the
communities we serve. Sustainability means
spending public money well, the smart and
efficient use of natural resources and building
healthy, resilient communities. By making the
most of social, environmental and economic
assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term even in the context of
rising cost of natural resources. Demonstrating
that we consider the social and environmental
impacts ensures that the legal requirements
in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012)
are met.

planning over the next one to five
• capital
years of £50.4m to invest in our key priorities
of progressing further improvements in our
patient environments and use of technology

with Commissioners during the
• working
year towards a non-block funding system,

assessing the viability of moving to a whole
population budgeting approach based on a
year of care and/or episodic funding.

The key issues shaping our financial plan which
we must manage carefully in 2017/18 and for
the next four years include:

to the development of seven-day
• contributing
working through our system-wide working on

In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role
we play, we have the following sustainability
mission statement located in our sustainable
development management plan (SDMP) –
we aim to improve overall environmental
performance. We acknowledge this
responsibility to our patients, local communities
and the environment by working hard to
minimise our footprint.

public sector transformation and new models
of care

in an alternative Acute and Crisis
• investing
service model to ensure patients receive the
right care at the right time and in the right
setting

national mental health and
• achieving
community health service targets

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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As a part of the NHS, public health and social
care system, it is our duty to contribute towards
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing
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Climate change brings new challenges to our
business both in direct effects to the healthcare
estates, but also to patient health. Examples of
recent years include the effects of heat waves,
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of
cold, floods, droughts etc. The organisation has
identified the need to develop a board approved
plan for future climate change risks affecting
our area.

the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health
and social care system by 34% (from a 1990
baseline) which is equivalent to a 28% reduction
from a 2013 baseline by 2020. To achieve this
target we have already significantly reduced our
carbon emissions.
Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our
business it is important to explain where in our
process and procedures sustainability features.
Area

Is sustainability
considered?

Travel

Yes

Business Cases

Yes

Procurement environmental)

Yes

Procurement (social impact)

Yes

Suppliers' impact

Yes

We aim to reduce the environmental impact
of providing our services by efficient use of
resources and greener travel where possible.
We have a positive social impact by providing
jobs and volunteering opportunities locally and
supporting the people who use our services to
stay in work and to participate fully in their local
community.
We comply with the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
Partnerships
The NHS policy framework already sets the
scene for commissioners and providers to
operate in a sustainable manner. For us as
a provider, evidence of this commitment
is provided in part through contracting
mechanisms.

We have an approved sustainable development
management plan and will continue to focus
on this work in the coming year. One of the
ways in which we measure our impact as an
organisation on corporate social responsibility
is through the use of the Good Corporate
Citizenship (GCC) tool. The last time we used
the GCC self assessment was in 2014 when
we scored 83%. As an organisation that
acknowledges its responsibility towards creating
a sustainable future, we help achieve that goal
by running awareness campaigns that promote
the benefits of sustainability to our staff.
For example, we promote cycling to work and
offer electric charging and electric lease cars
to our staff.

Performance
Since the 2007 baseline year, the NHS has
undergone a significant restructuring process
and one which is still on-going. Therefore in
order to provide some organisational context,
the following table may help explain how both
the organisation and our performance on
sustainability has changed over time. It reflects
that we now own and manage Queen Mary’s
Hospital, Sidcup and provide waste and energy
services to the wide range of organisations
running clinical services on the site 24 hours
a day. Therefore, our level of activity has
increased.
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Context info

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Floor Space (m2)

117,348

105,372

82,181

105,246*

Number of Staff

3,400

3,500

3,221

3,122

*This figure now includes areas we lease
to other providers.

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

7,975,893

6,646,076

9,672,362

17,180,000

1,692

1,394

2,024

3,590

159,147

159,147

159,157

159,157

51

51

50

50

8,880,281

11,670,374

12,261,313

15,470,000

tCO2e

4,972

7,228

7,049

7,995

Total Energy CO2e

6,715

8,673

9,124

11,636

£ 1,615,117

£ 1,341,880

£ 1,543,061

£ 1,956,980

Oil

Electricity

Carbon Emissions - Energy Use

Carbon (tCO2e)

Resource
Gas

In 2014 the Sustainable Development Strategy
outlined an ambition to reduce the carbon
footprint of the NHS by 28% (from a 2013
baseline) by 2020. We have supported this
ambition by taking steps in a number of ways
such as introducing paperless technology, fitting
LED lighting, supporting electric car ownership,
and improving heating efficiency where possible.

15,000

Energy use
Our estate profile has changed during the past year and therefore year on year use is not directly
comparable as estate size and condition has altered.

Use (kWh)
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
tCO2e
Use (kWh)

Total Energy Spend

Gas
Oil
Coal
Electricity
Green Electricity

10,000
5,000
0
2013/2014
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2015/2016
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Waste
Our waste and recycling performance is illustrated below. This reflects the significant amount of
work, including building and refurbishment work, that is being undertaken at our sites particularly
Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup.

Use of water

Waste

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

411.00

193.00

372.00

214.60

8.63

4.05

7.44

4.51

24.00

175.00

0.00

0.00

0.50

3.68

0.00

0.00

(tonnes)

68.00

15.00

80.00

204.89

tCO2e

14.96

3.30

17.52

45.08

(tonnes)

427.00

367.00

120.00

355.00

tCO2e

104.37

89.70

29.33

110.05

930.00

750.00

572.00

774.49

44%

26%

65%

28%

128.46

100.73

54.29

159.63

tCO2e

Other recovery
High Temp
disposal
Landfill

Mains

2013/14
(tonnes)

Recycling

Water

(tonnes)
tCO2e

Total Waste (tonnes)
% Recycled or Re-used
Total Waste tCO2e

Based on ERIC Estates Return Information Collection figures

Waste Breakdown
2013/14

Landfill
High temp disposal

2014/15

Other recovery
2015/16

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

22016/177

60,039

55,283

96,162

122,000

55

50

88

111

m3
tCO2e

Water & Sewage Spend

£

292,091

£

298,188

£

397,249

£

503,512

This increased use of water reflects the level of activity at Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup.
Equality and human rights
We are committed to promoting equality and
human rights across our services and our
workforce. Equality, diversity and human rights
is led by our Head of Equality and Human
Rights and our quarterly Equality and Human
Rights Governance Group, which reports to the
Workforce Board sub-committee. The role of the
group is to lead on equality work and projects, to
oversee compliance, to communicate priorities
to staff and ensure that plans and actions are
implemented.

We have an organisational Equality Objective
which is published in line with the requirements
of the Public Sector Equality Duty. We have
published our Workforce Race Equality Standard
metrics along with an action plan to address
areas for improvement. This has been reviewed
during the year. We are working with NHS
England on a project to develop Disability as
an Asset and the national development of the
Workforce Disability Equality Standard. We have
undergone assessment against the Equality
Delivery System framework and the results are
published on our website www.oxleas.nhs.uk

We have an Equality and Human Rights
policy which sets out our expectations for the
organisation and a reasonable adjustments
policy which sets out the expectations for
making reasonable adjustments in the
workplace.

Signed by

Ben Travis, Chief Executive

We publish an Annual Equality Report, which
includes workforce data and examples of our
equality work, providing evidence of compliance
against the three main headings of the General
Duty, which are set out in the Equality Act.

25 May 2017

Recycling

2016/17
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Board of Directors
There were several changes to the Board of
Directors during 2016/17. Acting Chief Executive
Ben Travis took up the role substantively in June
2016 and Jazz Thind was appointed as Director
of Finance in August 2016. On 1 January 2017,
Yemisi Gibbons joined the Board as a nonexecutive director.

Archie Herron
Deputy Chair (until end October 2016)
Archie chaired the Audit Committee until he
retired from Oxleas at the end of October 2016.
His varied career in banking was spent mostly
in the City of London. He is a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland and
is a Past President of their London Centre. He is
a member of the Independent Trust Financing
Facility of the Department of Health.

From May 2013 onwards, our Board meetings
have been held in public and a quorum of seven
is required for the meeting to take place.

Anne Taylor
Non Executive Director (until end April 2016)
Anne had a particular focus on human resources
issues and was the Senior Independent Director
until she retired from her non executive
role at Oxleas at the end of April 2016. She
was a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Her previous career
included senior appointments at Marks and
Spencer and a secondment to the British Brain
and Spine Foundation.

The members of the Board of Directors during
2016/17 were:
Andrew Trotter OBE QPM
Chair
Andy has been Chair of Oxleas since November
2015 and is a highly skilled leader in public
services, having over 40 years’ experience in
policing.
His most recent role was a Chief Constable of
the British Transport Police and he has also
worked with both the Metropolitan and Kent
Police Services.

James Kellock
Non Executive Director
James joined Oxleas in 2009 after a successful
career in the Civil Service where his last role was
as Deputy Director of the Serious Fraud Office.
James chairs the Workforce Committee. As well
as being a non executive director at Oxleas, he
is the director of a charity and has a portfolio of
part-time roles in the regulation of professionals
in the healthcare and accountancy professions.
He has lived with his family in Greenwich for
over 25 years.

Steve Dilworth
Deputy Chair (from November 2016)
Steve chairs our Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee. He has extensive experience
in financial services, marketing and
communications having held senior executive
positions in Foresters, Bank of Ireland and
Leeds Permanent. Steve has a first class
honours degree in economics and history and
a degree in financial services. He is a Fellow
of both the Chartered Institute of Banking
and the Chartered Institute of Marketing. In a
voluntary capacity, Steve chairs the Bromley
Neighbourhood Police Panel. In 2012, Steve
was elected as a Community Champion for the
London Borough of Bromley. He is married with
three children and lives in Bromley.

Seyi Clement
Non Executive Director
Seyi is a lawyer and a partner in a law firm
based in Bexleyheath. He came to the UK after
qualifying as a barrister in Nigeria. He studied
Law at the University of Benin in Nigeria. He has
previously been secretary of the Independent
Healthcare Forum and company secretary to a
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Yemisi Gibbons (from 1 January 2017)
Non Executive Director
Yemisi joined Oxleas Board of Directors on
1 January 2017. She has been a consultant
pharmacist for 17 years and is also CEO of a
London-based domiciliary care company. Having
studied Pharmacy at Manchester University
before completing an MBA, she then entered the
primary care sector in medicines management;
working with prescribers to ensure clinical
excellence to all patients.

range of independent healthcare companies,
including Three Shire Hospital Limited, Amicus
Healthcare Limited and BMI Syon Clinic Limited.
He chairs the trust’s Infrastructure Committee.
Seyi lives in Greenwich with his wife and two
sons, one of whom uses our services.
Steve James
Non Executive Director
Following 18 years in local authority social
work, Steve James has been Chief Executive
of the Avenues Group for the past 20 years.
Avenues is a charity which pioneers specialist
social care supporting people facing significant
disadvantage through illness and disability so
they can live full lives in their local communities.
Previous to his appointment on Oxleas’ Board,
Steve spent eight years working as a non
executive director for NHS Greenwich. He has
an interest in community health services and
particularly how they can integrate with social
care. Steve has lived in Greenwich for 29 years
and is married with two adult children. Steve
became our Senior Independent Director in May
2016 and chairs the Quality Committee.

Outside of her business commitments, she
is also on the fitness to practice and appeals
committees within the General Pharmaceutical
Council and a member of the Lord Chancellor’s
advisory sub-committee, contributing to the
appointments of new magistrates for a London
bench.
Ben Travis
Acting Chief Executive from September 2015/
Chief Executive from June 2016
Ben joined Oxleas in 2011 from Central and
North West London NHS Foundation Trust where
he was Deputy Director of Finance. He trained
as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen
and worked for Heineken and Deloitte before
moving into the NHS with The Royal Marsden
NHS Foundation Trust. Ben became Acting Chief
Executive at Oxleas in September 2015 and took
up the post substantively in June 2016.

Jo Stimpson (from 1 May 2016)
Non Executive Director
Jo joined Oxleas Board of Directors on 1 May
2016 and chairs our Business Committee. She
is a law graduate and chartered accountant
with senior finance and board level experience
gained in the technology and utility sectors,
most recently as Finance Director of South
East Water. In addition to her role at Oxleas, Jo
chairs the South East Water-sponsored pension
schemes, is a trustee of Eduserv, a not-for-profit
technology services company, serves on the
Ravensbourne audit committee and is a school
governor. Jo lives in Greenwich with her husband
and her two teenage daughters.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Helen Smith
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Service
Delivery
Helen originally trained as a clinical psychologist
and practised in a variety of clinical settings.
Later she became a senior lecturer at the
University of Canterbury and then helped to
establish the Centre for Mental Health Services
Development at King’s College, London.
Following a commissioning role at the South
East London Health Authority, Helen joined
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Oxleas in 2000 as Director of Bromley mental
health services and became Deputy Chief
Executive in 2007.

clinicians, supporting staff and partnering
agencies to work together creatively to improve
care and make sure services are responsive to
the needs of patients and their families.

Ify Okocha
Medical Director
Dr Ify Okocha qualified in Medicine in 1985
and after training in psychiatry obtained his
membership of the Royal College of Psychiatrists
in 1992. He was appointed consultant in 1996
and in the same year obtained his Doctor of
Philosophy (Ph.D) degree from the Institute of
Psychiatry and King’s College, London where
he did his doctorate and post-doctorate
research in psychosis and psychopharmacology
respectively. He has received commendations
and won many national awards for the high
quality care clinical teams working for him
deliver. These include: the National Association
of Psychiatric Intensive Care and Low Secure
Units (NAPICU) Team of the Year award; the
Care Services Improvement Partnership ‘Positive
Practice’ award; commendation by Hospital
Doctors Award Committee; award of the British
Association of Medical Managers and the Royal
College of Psychiatrist Medical Manager/Leader
of the Year (2009). He is on the Roll of Honour of
the Royal College of Psychiatrists.

Simon Hart
Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development
Simon joined Oxleas in 2006 from Guy’s and St
Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust. He has worked
in a range of human resources roles in acute and
mental health trusts and has an MSc in Human
Resources Leadership.
Jazz Thind
Acting Director of Finance from September
2015/Director of Finance from August 2016
Jazz is a qualified accountant who joined the
NHS in 1993 in a junior finance role. Since then,
she has taken up a number of NHS roles across
both management and financial accounting
functions. Most of these roles have been within
provider organisations but Jazz did spend four
years with a primary care trust. Post graduation
and prior to joining the NHS, Jazz worked at
HMRC in VAT registration.
Colleen Harris MVO, DL
Board Advisor
Colleen was a board advisor in November 2015
until July 2016 when she was no longer able to
continue in the post due to ill health.

Jane Wells
Director of Nursing
Jane started her career as a nurse in 1987
at Charing Cross Hospital and has spent the
majority of her career in community health
services. She joined the Greenwich community
health services in 2000 and has held various
roles including professional executive committee
member, nurse advisor, service and programme
manager. Jane became the Director of
Greenwich Community Health Services in 2011,
Director of Adult Community Health Services in
2012 and Director of Nursing for Oxleas in May
2015. Jane is passionate about empowering

All non executive directors are considered to be
independent as they have not been employed by
the trust and do not have any financial or other
business interest in the organisation. None has
close family ties with Oxleas’ advisers, directors
or senior employees and none has served on
the Board of Directors of the foundation trust
for more than nine years. Re-appointments of
non executive directors are considered at the
end of every three-year term to a maximum
of nine years in total. There were no significant
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changes in the external commitments of the
Chair over the year. We ensure that the balance
of skills, expertise and experience of the Board
of Directors provides effective and proactive
leadership. The performance evaluation of
the Board is by self-assessment and individual
appraisal of directors including governor
feedback. We have a well established and
effective process of governors holding
non-executive directors to account. During
the Care Quality Commission inspection in
March 2017, the inspectors carried out a well
led review. They reported that the trust has
robust governance structures in place and a
board assurance framework that identifies and
monitors areas of risk and links to risk registers
across the organisation. The Care Quality
Commission report stated that board meetings
were well organised and inclusive with a high
level of challenge and debate.

The directors are responsible for preparing
the annual report and accounts and have
considered the report and accounts as a
whole to ensure that they are fair, balanced,
understandable and provide the information
necessary for patients, regulators and other
stakeholders to assess our performance and
strategy. We have complied with the cost
allocation and charging guidance issued by HM
Treasury and we follow the better payment
practice code. We comply with Section 43 (2A)
of the NHS Act 2006 requiring that income
from the provision of goods and services for
the purposes of the health service in England
is greater than income from the provision of
goods and services for any other purpose.
More information is included in the financial
accounts. A register of directors’ interests is
available from the Trust Secretary.

this gave us an overall trust rating of requires
improvement. The commission found 58 out of
70 areas they visited to be good or outstanding
but assessed three of our services as requiring
improvement and one to be inadequate. We
implemented quality improvement programmes
in these areas in response and three of these
services were re-inspected in March 2017. In
May 2017, the CQC reported that all issues in
these services had been addressed and that
it has upgraded the trust rating to good. Key
areas where we made improvements included
reducing ligature risks, managing demands on
our inpatient mental health services better and
improved medicine administration. The CQC
also carried out a ‘well led’ review as part of its
2017 inspection and found that the trust had
continued to strengthen leadership and refine
the trust governance processes.

How we ensure the quality of our services
Our aim is to ensure that quality is at the
forefront of everything that we do and an
important aspect of this is to review our
performance throughout the year and share
how we have performed with staff, patients,
members and our commissioners. We have
effective structures in place to ensure that
quality is monitored and improved across all of
our diverse services. The quality of our services
is a major focus of every Board meeting and we
have developed an integrated dashboard for the
Board to track performance in key quality areas
including targets set by NHS Improvement. Key
risks to the quality of our services are identified
in our Board Assurance Framework. Internal
and external reports are presented at Board
meetings and Board members get further
assurance by visiting services and talking direct
with patients, carers and staff.

We have also implemented a safety review
following a serious incident on one of our
forensic mental health wards. To prevent a
similar incident occurring we have changed how
we manage our kitchens and improved safety
and security procedures across our services.

Directors’ report

Directors’ report

The Board of Directors and its sub committees
are regularly reviewed to ensure they are
effective and well balanced. Following changes
to the Board in 2015, further appointments
were made in 2016/17. In planning for these
appointments, there was a focus on increasing
the diversity of our Board members and
increasing the depth of clinical experience on
the Board.
This year, we have made changes to the Board’s
sub-committees and further implemented
recommendations made in the Well-led
Governance review that we commissioned in line
with Monitor’s Well-led Governance framework
in 2015. All board sub-committees are now
chaired by non executive directors and the new
structure is shown below.

Board of Directors

Audit and Risk
Assurance
Committee

Quality

Workforce

Business

Infrastructure

Committee

Committee

Committee

Committee

Board Committee Structure

Our quality goals cover the three areas of
patient experience, patient safety and clinical
effectiveness. Greater detail and examples of
how we have improved patient care, how we
gather and respond to patient feedback and
how we check the quality of our services is
included in our Quality Accounts Report from
page 84 and assurance on our approach and
processes is laid in our Annual Governance
Statement on page 75.
Over the year, we have increased the ways
we work in partnership with patients, carers,
voluntary sector organisations and other
providers of health and social care. We liaise
with our overview and scrutiny committees,
HealthWatch and many local groups and

In April 2015, the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) undertook a full inspection of our services,
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We have developed Bexley Care with Bexley
Council to bring our healthcare staff together
with social care staff in a joint management
structure using pooled funds to offer more
streamlined care to local people.

organisations. We seek to involve the people
who use our services in shaping not only their
own care but also how our services deliver
care more widely. This year, we have been
implementing a new strategy to involve and
support carers and other people important to
our patients in their care more. As part of this
year’s actions, we have created a website to
support young carers, recruited ‘experts by
experience’ and have worked with our staff to
enable them to involve patients’ friends and
family more effectively. This work will continue
during the coming year.

We have also created a partnership with South
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
and South West London and St Georges NHS
Trust called the South London Mental Health
and Community Partnership. Through this we
hope to work more effectively and efficiently.
The first result of this partnership is the creation
of a joint approach to forensic mental health
care including commissioning of specialist
care as part of a pilot with NHS England.
We are also part of the local Sustainability
and Transformation Plan which is involving
organisations across South East London to
develop plans for the sustainable future of
health services. More information is available
online at www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk. We
expect these partnerships to develop further
over the coming year.

Our partnership working with other health
and social care organisations has developed
significantly during the year. Queen Mary’s
Hospital in Sidcup is a unique approach to joint
healthcare where we enable a wide variety of
organisations to provide care to local people.
Refurbishment of the site has continued at
pace during the year and we have opened a
children’s centre bringing together mental and
physical health services plus cancer and kidney
treatment centres have been completed.
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Annual statement on remuneration
Changes to pay are considered against the
national pay context particularly with the NHS.
The remuneration committee aims to balance
the need to attract and retain suitably qualified
and experienced staff alongside the need for
economic efficiency.

the incremental points is subject to the
delivery of appropriate performance targets.
As with staff subject to Agenda for Change
terms and conditions, incremental progression
can be denied where there is sub-standard
performance. Performance against agreed
objectives is monitored via the annual appraisal
process. Increases in executive pay are made in
line with recommendations by the National Pay
Review bodies for agenda for change.

In 2016/2017, the committee decided to increase
executive salaries by 1% in line with other
NHS staff. In 2016, the committee agreed the
salary of the newly appointed Chief Executive.
As the Chief Executive’s salary was greater
than £142,500 per annum a formal opinion
was sought from NHS Improvement and the
Secretary of State for Health which confirmed
the decision of the Remuneration committee.

The only non-cash elements of executive
director remuneration are pension related
benefits accrued under the NHS pension
scheme. Contributions are made by both the
employer and employee in accordance with the
rules of the national scheme which is open to
all NHS employees. All contracts for executive
directors are substantive NHS contracts and are
subject to the giving of six months notice by
either party.

The pay for non executive directors was subject
to the same 1% uplift as all other NHS staff in
2016/17.
Senior Managers’ remuneration policy
The remuneration policy for executive directors
is based on that established for employees
under Agenda for Change and provides an
incremental salary scale and pay range for
each executive director. Progression through

The trust’s normal disciplinary and performance
management policies apply to senior managers,
including the sanction of gross misconduct. The
trust’s redundancy policy is consistent with the
NHS redundancy terms for all staff.
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Future Policy Tables

Future Policy Tables contd

Remuneration report

Annual
performance Long term
related
related
bonus
bonus

Remuneration report

Pension
related
benefits

Clinical
excellence
awards

Ensure the
recruitment
/retention
of directors
of sufficient
calibre to
deliver
the trust’s
objectives

Recognition
of clinical
quality and
leadership

Salary
and fees

Taxable
benefits

How the
component
supports the
short and long
term strategic
objectives of
the trust

Ensure the
recruitment
/retention
of directors
of sufficient
calibre to
deliver
the trust’s
objectives

None

How the
component
operates

Standard
monthly
pay

None

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Contributions Standard
paid by both monthly
employee
and employer,
except for any
employee who
has opted out
of the scheme

Maximum
payment

Basic pay,
High Cost
Area
supplement

None

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Contributions Standard
are made
national
in accordance rate
with the
NHS Pension
Scheme

None

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Framework
Trust
used to
appraisal
assess
system
performance
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Not
applicable

Advisory
Committee
on Clinical
Excellence
Awards
framework

Annual
performance Long term
related
related
bonus
bonus

Pension
related
benefits

Clinical
excellence
awards

None

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Following
Advisory
Committee
framework

Performance Concurrent
None
period
with the
financial year

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Following
Advisory
Committee
framework

Amount paid
for minimum
level of
performance
and any
further
levels of
performance

No
None
performance
related
payment
arrangements

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Standard
rate

Explanation
of whether
there are any
provisions for
recovery of
sums paid to
directors, or
provisions for
withholding
payments

Any sums
paid in error
may be
recovered

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Salary
and fees
Performance Based on
measures
individual
objectives
agreed with
line manager

Taxable
benefits

None
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Annual report on remuneration (of which some
elements are subject to audit)

A) Salaries and allowances (subject to audit)

Salary and Fees

Taxable Benefits

Clinical Excellence
Awards

Pension Related
Benefits

Total

(bands of
£5000) £000

Rounded to
the nearest
£100

(bands of
£5000) £000

(bands of
£2500) £000

(bands of
£5000) £000

55-60

30-35

30-35

Archibald Herron
Non Executive
Director
(to October 16)

10-15

10-15

15-20

15-20

Seyi Clement
Non Executive
Director

10-15

10-15

10-15

10-15

Steve Dilworth
Non Executive
Director

15-20

15-20

5-10

5-10

Stephen James
Non Executive
Director

15-20

15-20

10-15

10-15

James Kellock
Non Executive
Director

10-15

10-15

10-15

10-15

0-5

0-5

15-20

15-20
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Total

55-60

Chairman and
Non-Executive
Directors

Anne Taylor
Non Executive
Director (to April 16)
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Pension Related
Benefits

(bands of
£5000) £000

• Andy Trotter, Chairman
• Steve Dilworth, non executive director
• James Kellock, non executive director
Lyon, Head of Partnership and
• Wendy
Chair of Staff side
• Lesley Smith, elected governor

(bands of
£2500) £000

Simon Hart, Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development, was in attendance
at part of the meeting and provided information
to the committee comparing existing executive
director remuneration with that of other
foundation trusts.

Clinical Excellence
Awards

Executive Directors
Remuneration of Executive Directors is
decided by the Remuneration Committee. The
following are members of the Remuneration
committee:

APRIL 2015 TO MARCH 2016

Andy Trotter
Chair

Ben Travis, Chief Executive, was in attendance at
part of the meeting to provide feedback on the
performance of individual executive directors on
the basis of their annual appraisal.

(bands of
£5000) £000

There was one meeting of the remuneration
committee in 2016/17. This was attended by all
members of the committee.

Name and Title

Taxable Benefits

The remuneration of the Chair and non
executive directors of the trust is determined by
the Council of Governors. Guidance in the setting
of non executive director salaries is taken from
the NHS Improvement and benchmarking with
other NHS foundation trusts.

APRIL 2016 TO MARCH 2017

Rounded to
the nearest
£100

Non-Executive Directors

Salary and Fees

The remuneration committee includes the Chair
of Staff side and a publically elected governor
to ensure that its processes are transparent and
open to scrutiny.

Remuneration report

(bands of
£5000) £000

Remuneration report

37

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Section two - Accountability report

Section two - Accountability report

A) Salaries and allowances (subject to audit) - contd

A) Salaries and allowances (subject to audit) - contd

Remuneration report

Joanne Stimpson
Non Executive
Director
(from May 16)
Yemisi Gibbons
Non Executive
Director
(from January 17)

Clinical Excellence
Awards
(bands of
£5000) £000

Total

Taxable Benefits
Rounded to
the nearest
£100

(bands of
£5000) £000

Salary and Fees
(bands of
£5000) £000

Pension Related
Benefits

Total

Total
(bands of
£5000) £000

(bands of
£5000) £000

Pension Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2500) £000

Pension Related
Benefits

Clinical Excellence
Awards
(bands of
£5000) £000

APRIL 2015 TO MARCH 2016

(bands of
£2500) £000

Taxable Benefits
Rounded to
the nearest
£100

Clinical Excellence
Awards

Salary and Fees
(bands of
£5000) £000

(bands of
£5000) £000

Total
(bands of
£5000) £000

Taxable Benefits

Pension Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2500) £000

Rounded to
the nearest
£100

Clinical Excellence
Awards
(bands of
£5000) £000

Chairman and
Non-Executive
Directors, cont’

Salary and Fees

Taxable Benefits
Rounded to
the nearest
£100

Name and Title

(bands of
£5000) £000

APRIL 2016 TO MARCH 2017

Salary and Fees

Name and Title

APRIL 2015 TO MARCH 2016

(bands of
£5000) £000

APRIL 2016 TO MARCH 2017

(bands of
£2500) £000

Remuneration report

Board Directors
Ben Travis
Chief Executive

10-15

10-15

0-5

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

0-5
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5-10

5-10

150-155

67.5-70 220-225 140-145

75-77.5 215-220

Helen Smith
Deputy Chief
Executive & Director
of Service Delivery 120-125

37.5-40 160-165 120-125

112.5-115 235-240

Jane Wells
Director of Nursing
& Governance

105-110

20-22.5 130-135 105-110

112.5-115 215-220

Simon Hart
Director of HR
& Organisational
Development

120-125

42.5-45 165-170 115-120

40-42.5 160-165

Dr Ify Okocha
Medical Director

170-175

30-35* 160-162.5 365-370 160-165

Jazz Thind
Director of Finance

115-120

150-152.5 265-270
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55-60

35-40*

75-77.5 275-280
30-32.5

85-90
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Remuneration report

6.2

6.3

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and
the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.

Real Increase in Cash
Equivalent Transfer Value

£32,407

Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value at 31 March 2017

Ratio

£32,862

Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value at 31 March 2016

Median Total
Remuneration £

Lump sum at age 60 related
to accrued pension at 31
March 2017 (bands of £5000)

(bands of £5,000)
£'000 **

Total accrued pension at age
60 at 31 March 2017
(bands of £5000)

200-205 195-200

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Ben Travis
Chief Executive

2.5-5

0.5-5

20-25

55-60

265

334

69

Helen Smith
Deputy Chief Executive
& Director
of Service Delivery

0-2.5

5-7.5

55-60

165-170

1,186

1,274

88

Jane Wells
Director of Nursing
& Governance

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

110-115

549

600

51

For defined benefit schemes the pension-related
benefits figure is the annual increase in pension
entitlement determined in accordance with the
‘HMRC’ method.

Simon Hart
Director of HR &
Organisational
Development

2.5-5

0-2.5

35-40

95-100

493

561

69

Compensation for loss of office paid to senior
managers in the year was £nil.

Dr Ify Okocha
Medical Director

7.5-10

22.5-25

85-90

265-270

1,510

1,703

193

Jazz Thind
Director of Finance

7.5-10

10-12.5

40-45

60-65

405

513

108

Amounts were annualised for permanent
and bank staff according to their whole time
equivalents and total paid hours respectively.
The 2016/17 median pay amount was calculated
in accordance with these annualised total
remuneration figures.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid
director in Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust in
the year ended 31 March 2017 was £200,000£205,000**. This was 6.2 times the median
remuneration of the workforce which was
£32,862.

Taxable Benefits are expenses allowances
that are subject to UK income tax and paid or
payable to the person in respect of qualifying
services.

In the year ended 31 March 2017, no employee
received remuneration in excess of the highest
paid director. Remuneration of the highest paid
employees, who were senior consultants, ranged
from £165,000 to £170,000 in the year ended
31 March 2017 (bands of £5,000).
Total remuneration includes salary and fees,
performance-related bonuses, taxable benefits,
severance payments and pension related
benefits. It does not include employer’s national
insurance and superannuation contributions.

Name and title

Real increase in pension
lump sum at age 60 (bands
of £2500)

Band of Highest
Paid Director's Total
Remuneration

B) Pension Benefits (subject to audit)
Real increase in pension at
age 60 (bands of £2500)

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the
methodology for calculating the median
remuneration involved a detailed analysis of
total staff costs which was reconciled to payroll
records. Total remuneration figures including
salary and allowances, were extracted for
the year for permanent staff, and March 2017
for bank staff. Staff on maternity pay or sick
pay were excluded as they were not deemed
to be employed at year end. Where a staff
member fulfilled more than one role, the total
remuneration received by the employee was
apportioned to each role on the basis of the
actual total cost incurred for this employee by
the Trust.

2016/17 2015/16

Year 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
Remuneration report
Section two - Accountability report

Board Directors

* This relates to an award under the national clinical excellence reward scheme for consultants.
This is an award under the terms of the scheme and relates only to medical staff.
** This figure excludes pension related benefits.
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Remuneration report
As Non-Executive members do not receive
pensionable remuneration, there will be no
entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive
members.

pension due to inflation, contributions paid
by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another pension
scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end
of the period.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from
the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme, or arrangement to secure
pension benefits in another pension scheme
or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits
accrued in their former scheme. The pension
figures shown relate to the benefits that the
individual has accrued as a consequence of
their total membership of the pension scheme,
not just their service in a senior capacity to
which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures,
and from 2004-2005 the other pension details,
include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own
cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines
and framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.

As a part of the NHS, Oxleas offers all staff
the opportunity to be part of the NHS Pension
Scheme. The terms and conditions and levels
of payment for this scheme are determined
nationally by the Department of Health in
consultation with relevant trade unions.
During the year there were 3 early retirement on
the grounds of ill-health (year ended 31 March
2016 - 2). The estimated additional pension
liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be
£172,698 (year ended 31 March 2016 £178,048).
The cost of these ill-health retirements will be
borne by NHS Pensions.

Remuneration report
Directors

Governors

Directors

Governors

2016/17

2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

Total number in office

15

43

16

42

Total number receiving
expenses

7

2

12

6

£1,200

£100

£7,000

£1,500

Aggregate sum of expenses
paid (to the nearest £100)

Signed by

Ben Travis, Chief Executive
25 May 2017

Directors and Governors expenses
(not subject to audit)
Mileage re-imbursement for directors’ travel
expenses is processed at HMRC advisory rate of
45 pence per mile for automobiles and 24 pence
per mile for motorcycles. Payments for travel
claims above the HMRC advisory rate is classed
as a benefit-in-kind. For 2016/17 all directors’
travel expense claims processed did not exceed
the HMRC advisory rates and therefore were
not classed as benefit-in-kind. The number of
directors who claimed travel expenses during
2016/17 was 7– total value of £1,200 rounded to
the nearest £100. The number of governors who
claimed travel expenses during 2016/17 was
2 – total value of £100 rounded to the nearest
£100. A summary of the information in relation
to the expenses of the governors and directors is
presented in the table on next page.

Due to the lead time required to perform
calculations and prepare annual reports, the
CETV figures quoted in this report for members
of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the
previous discount rate and have not been
recalculated.
Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase
in CETV effectively funded by the employer.
It takes account of the increase in accrued
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Providing self-help
information
HeadScape - our website for young people to
support their mental health and wellbeing.
HeadScape has been designed for young
people by our clinicians and the young
people who use our services.
It is a one-stop source of self help about
a range of mental health issues and
it offers people tailored advice and the
opportunity to self refer to our services
if necessary. HeadScape can be reached
at www.headscapebexley.co.uk and
www.headscapegreenwich.co.uk

Section two - Accountability report

Staff report
Analysis of staff costs

Year ended 31 March 2017
Total

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Pension costs-other contributions
Agency/contract staff
Total

Other

£000

Permanently
Employed
£000

127,642
12,849

127,526
12,849

116
0

15,206

15,206

0

£000

0

0

0

17,747

0

17,747

173,444

155,581

17,863

Other

£000

Permanently
Employed
£000

128,772
10,360

127,957
10,360

815
0

15,345

15,345

0

0

0

0

19,679

0

19,679

174,156

153,662

20,494

Year ended 31 March 2016
Total

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Pension costs-other contributions
Agency/contract staff
Total

£000

Total employer’s contributions payable to the defined contribution pension scheme in the year ended 31March 2017 were
£15,206,000 ( 31 March 2016, £15,345,000).

Average number of employees
Year ended
31 March 2017
Total Number

Year ended
31 March 2016
Total Number

Medical and dental
Administration and estates

160
691

157
711

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

479

495

1,051

1,062

691

696

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff

84

81

Agency and contract staff

240

203

Bank staff

259

266

3,655

3,671

Total
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Consultancy expenditure

ensure that staff are aware of the decisions and
actions of the trust and have the opportunity to
comment and input. These range from formal
consultations relating to organisational change
to regular email briefings and focus groups.
During 2016/17, we have increased the range
of methods used and published them more
through our ‘Let’s Talk’ programme which aims
to give to colleagues more opportunity to raise
issues with senior staff. The chair of staff side
is also the Head of Partnership working for
the trust and acts as an advocate for all staff
irrespective of union membership ensuring that
their views are heard and considered. The two
members of the Partnership team also hold the
role of Trust Freedom to Speak Up Guardian, a
role that fits neatly with their partnership work.

Staff report

Staff report

This is set out in note 4.1 of the accounts
Staff gender analysis
16/17 year end break down:-

Male

Female

Totals

Directors1

3

3

6

Other Senior Managers

10

16

26

Employees3

624

2650

3274

Annual sickness absence rate

4.48%

Annual turnover

17.12%

All reasons included

1 Defined as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors with voting rights.
2 Defined in accordance with HSCIC’s Occupational Code Manual (employees who have been coded in
electronic staff record under the Senior Managers G0 occupational code).
3 Presumed definition is those with a permanent contract, excluding those already counted in Director and
Senior Manager figures.

opportunity to engage staff and understand
staff needs. The networks have been involved
in the selection of the Occupational Health
Provider, the Staff counselling service and the
BME coaching scheme provider. The Chair of the
BME network, in partnership with the Head of
Employment Relations scrutinises outcomes of
all trust disciplinary processes to ensure that
there is no discrimination in either process or
outcome. Their conclusions are reported to
the Board.

Staff engagement is a key part of the trust’s
Workforce Strategy. Research shows that high
levels of staff engagement have a direct positive
impact on the quality of care patients receive
so ensuring high levels of staff engagement
is very important for Oxleas. In July 2014, the
Kings Fund identified Oxleas as having the
highest level of staff engagement of any NHS
organisation in its report ‘Improving NHS Care by
Engaging Staff and Devolving Decision making’.
Staff engagement in the trust is underpinned by
the Partnership agreement which sets out the
framework by which we work with trade unions
for the best interests of the organisation. We
have subsequently extended this agreement to
recognise and include the various staff networks
including the BME network, LGBT network and
Lived Experience (of Mental Health) network.
The networks provide the trust with a further

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Staff engagement is supported by an annual
staff engagement plan which is prepared by
the Partnership team with input from the HR
department and staff side. The plan sets out a
programme of focus groups with staff across
the trust that are run by the Partnership team
with support from staff side and HR. A wide
variety of communications methods are used to

46

Overall comparators
Better than average

15

Average

8

Worse than Average

9

The composite score for staff engagement was
above average.
The trust scored the top score for any combined
community, mental health and learning
disability trust for % reporting the most recent
experience of harassment, bullying or abuse.

Feedback from staff is gained via the national
staff survey, staff Friends and Family test, focus
groups run by the partnership team and visits to
teams by service, corporate and non executive
directors. Findings from visits are reported
directly back to the board and the executive
for action. The Head of Partnership presents a
report directly to the Trust Board twice a year
setting out the key themes that staff are raising
via focus groups.
2016 Staff Survey Summary of Key Findings
The 2016 national staff survey was distributed to
all Oxleas staff
The overall response rate was 44% which was
average for combined community, mental
health and learning disability trusts.
The trust was compared by the CQC with all
other combined community, mental health
and learning disability trusts nationally and
was rated against 32 separate key findings
and one additional composite finding for staff
engagement.
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Staff report
Top Five Ranked Scores

% of staff reporting most recent experience
of harassment, bullying or abuse

2015

Staff report

2016

National
Av 2016

Trust
Improvement/
deterioration

18%

64%

58%

+46%
(improvement)

Effective team working

81.2%
(4.06)

79.2%
(3.96)

77.4%
(3.87)

-2%
(deterioration)

Effective Use of Patient /
Service User feedback

80.4%
(4.02)

77.2%
(3.86)

73.6%
(3.68)

-3.2%
(deterioration)

Fairness and effectiveness
of incident reporting procedures

79%
(3.95)

77%
(3.85)

75.4%
(3.77)

-2%
(deterioration)

Quality of appraisals

67%
(3.35)

66.2%
(3.31)

62%
(3.10)

-0.8%
(deterioration)

* Scores as published in the National Staff Survey report are in brackets, for ease of interpretation these have been
multiplied by 20 to achieve a % figure

Bottom Five Ranked Scores

Trust
Improvement/
deterioration

2015

2016

National
Av 2016

% of staff attending work in the last
3 months despite feeling unwell
because they felt pressure from their
manager, colleagues or themselves

62%

66%

55%

+4%
(deterioration)

% of staff experiencing discrimination
in the last 12 months

13%

18%

11%

+5%
(deterioration)

% of staff experiencing harassment,
bullying or abuse from patients,
relatives or the public in last 12 months

28%

34%

28%

+6%
(deterioration)

% of staff experiencing physical violence
from patients, relatives or the public in last
12 months

17%

19%

15%

+2%
(deterioration)

% of staff experiencing physical violence
from staff in last 12 months

2%

3%

2%

+1%
(deterioration)
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2016 Staff Survey Plans for Improvement

significantly since 2015 and is the highest
score for any combined mental health/
learning disability and community trust.
Further emphasis will be placed on ensuring
that staff are aware of the different ways in
which violence and harassment and abuse
from colleagues can be reported, the support
staff can expect to receive and the zero
tolerance position taken by the trust towards
violence to staff.

analysis of the data around
• Detailed
discrimination shows that staff at Oxleas

are less likely to be discriminated against by
their colleagues than other similar trusts but
are more likely to be discriminated against
by patients, carers or the public. Often this
takes the form of verbal abuse. We have
reviewed our policies relating to abuse and
violence towards staff and our post incident
support policies to ensure that staff are
protected and supported in the workplace.
We are revising our wider publicity material
to staff and patients and public about the
unacceptability of abuse and violence towards
its staff. Further guidance for clinical teams
in the management of abusive patients or
carers will also be shared with all teams in
Oxleas. This guidance has been drawn up
by clinicians in partnership with staff side
and BME network colleagues. In May 2017,
a full time security officer was appointed
to the trust who will provide direct support
to staff and teams in the management of
abusive patients and members of the public.
The forensic service has trialled a proactive
approach to managing the risk of violence
and aggression from patients which will be
implemented across forensic services.

recognises how committed staff
• Oxleas
are to delivering services to patients. The

detailed review of the staff survey shows
that overwhelmingly it is the pressure staff
place upon themselves to attend work
that underpins the above result. Achieving
a healthy work/life balance for staff is an
important part of the trust’s health and well
being strategy that was launched in 2016. We
will help staff by seeking new ways to attract
and recruit staff to vacant positions as we
know that vacancies place additional stress
on substantive staff. We have reviewed the
nursing establishments on all of our inpatient
units to make sure that there are sufficient
staff on each shift to manage the workload
effectively. We are trialling 12 hour shifts on a
number of ward areas to assess the benefits
of this to flexible working for staff. We are
supporting managers to utilise the E-Roster
system effectively to give staff greater
certainty about their shifts further in advance.

percentage of staff who have reported
• The
violence from colleagues is small. Any

incidents relating to staff aggression are
directed to the human resources team. In
all but one case in 2016, these incidents
were verbal not physical. In the single
instance noted above the member of staff
was dismissed. There have been no informal
reports of physical aggression received from
staff side or from bullying and harassment
advisors. Staff willingness to report incidents
of harassment bullying or abuse has improved

Information to and consultation with
employees
Oxleas continues to work in partnership with
local trade union representatives on a range of
issues. The trust has agreed a formal statement
of partnership working with its trade unions
which regularises the input and inclusion of
staff in the decision making of the trust. This
agreement was revised and updated in 2013 to
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formally recognise the role of the staff networks
and their contribution to the the trust. Major
changes to service provision and roles and
responsibilities of staff are accompanied by a
formal consultation process to which all affected
staff and their trade union representatives are
encouraged to contribute. Staff are also able to
raise issues and ask questions via the seven
elected staff governors. The staff governors are
part of the Council of Governors and also attend
the Staff Partnership Forum along with trade
union stewards and representatives of the staff
networks.

status in recognition of our commitment
to supporting people with mental health
issues into employment. The trust employs a
dedicated occupational therapist to support
the employment of service users as either
employees or via volunteer placements and to
further our work as a Mindful Employer.

Formal Staff Consultations
During 2016/17, we undertook 34 formal
consultations with our staff which involved the
following teams:

We support staff who become disabled
during their employment and commission an
occupational health service. This service has
specialist knowledge in supporting staff working
in a mental health setting and helps to facilitate
disabled employees return to work, either
in their own job or alternative employment
elsewhere in the organisation. In addition
the service also provides fast track access to
physiotherapy and a consultant psychiatrist. We
provide an Employment Assistance Programme
which gives employees direct and confidential
access to a dedicated 24hour telephone
counselling service as well as access to more
specialist psychological therapeutic support
as required. We have established a staff led
Disability Action Group and a Lived Experience
Network for staff with personal experience of
mental health issues. These groups are actively
involved in supporting the trust to improve how
it supports staff.

Children and Young People – universal 0-19
service

Staff report

Equal Opportunities and Occupational Health
Oxleas has met all of its duties under the 2010
Equality Act and has set and published its
objectives to improve equality for those who
use our services and those who work in them.
We have fully implemented the NHS Equality
Delivery System (EDS) which provides a robust
assurance framework that allows the trust
to identify areas of strength and weakness
in relation to how it supports all groups
protected under the Act. Progress against
the framework is measured independently by
patient representatives drawn from Healthwatch
and trade union and staff groups. In 2016
we have jointly reviewed all of the outcomes
of disciplinary hearings with the chair of the
BME network to further ensure transparency
and fairness. We have actively supported the
development of the National Workforce Race
Equality Scheme and have published this data
along with a trust action plan in 2016 in line with
the national requirements.

Corporate estates and facilities
Pharmacy
Electro-biomedical engineering
Patient safety

Children and Young People - Immunisations

E-roster

Children and Young People – community staff
nurses

Administration – corporate/adult mental health
and learning disability/adult community
Teams across our Adult Mental Health and
Learning Disability, Older People Mental Health
and Adult Community Health directorates were
involved in consultation around re-organising
our directorates into integrated borough
services.

Children and Young People – single point of
access Greenwich
Children and Young People – Greenwich services
Children and Young People – specialist therapy
services Greenwich
Children and Young People – health intelligence
service

Off-Payroll arrangements
NHS foundation trusts are mandated to report
the following data on their highly paid and/or
senior off-payroll engagements. This information
is presented in the Table 1 and table 2 overleaf.

Adult community services – Eltham Community
Hospital
Adult community services – senior management
team and administration

In line with NHS Improvement guidance issued
in December 2016, the trust has reviewed all
existing office holder off-payroll appointments
and has been moving such arrangements to
on-payroll engagements. Where this is not
possible alternative solutions to meet service
need are considered.

Adult community services – Meadow View
Adult community services – Bexley sexual health
Adult community services – Rapid response
The Source
Adult mental health - Greenwich psychology
Adult mental health rehabilitation
Adult mental health – woodlands unit
Bexley and Bromley adult learning disability
service
Older People mental health liaison
Older People mental health physiotherapy
Older People mental health community
occupational therapy

Oxleas is committed to giving full and fair
consideration to applications from disabled
people. We have been awarded the ‘two
tick’ symbol by Job Centre Plus in recognition
of our commitment to the employment of
disabled people. We have ‘Mindful Employer’

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Kent Prisons
Medical Records – Queen Mary’s Hospital
Senior managers trustwide
Corporate IT
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Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 Mar 2017,
for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months
No. of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2017

Staff report
2016/17
No of engagements
1

Of which:
Number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for between one and two years at the
time of reporting

1

Number that have existed for between two and three years at the
time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for between three and four years at the
time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting

0

Confirmation: The trust confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements,
outlined above, have at some point been subject to a risk based assessment
as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached
six months in duration, between 01 Apr 2016 and 31 Mar 2017,
for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months

Yes

2016/17
No of engagements

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration
between 01 Apr 2016 and 31 Mar 2017

0

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance
obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

There were no off-payroll engagements
of board members or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility between
1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.

Exit packages (subject to audit)
During the year there were 28 exit packages
(31 March 2016, 23) at a cost of £792,000 (31 March 2016, £490,000).
Year ended 31 March 2017
Exit package cost band

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of other Total number of exit
departures
packages by cost
agreed *
band

<£10,000

5

0

5

£10,001-£25,000

12

0

12

£25,001-£50,000

8

0

8

£50,001-£100,000

1

0

1

£100,001-£150,000

2

0

2

£150,001-£200,000

0

0

0

> £200,000

0

0

0

Total number of exit packages by type

28

0

28

Total resource cost £'000

792

0

792

Number agreed

Total value of
agreements
(£'000)

0

0

* of which

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

Of which:
Number for whom assurance has been received

0

Number for whom assurance has not been received

0

Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0
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Year ended 31 March 2016
Exit package cost band

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of other
departures
agreed

Total number of exit
packages by cost
band

<£10,000

5

5

10

£10,001-£25,000

5

1

6

£25,001-£50,000

4

0

4

£50,001-£100,000

3

0

3

£100,001-£150,000

0

0

0

£150,001-£200,000

0

0

0

> £200,000

0

0

0

Total number of exit packages by type

17

6

23

Total resource cost £'000

458

32

490
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Code of governance disclosures
the remuneration and terms and
• Decide
conditions of non executives
• Appoint our financial auditor
• Receive the annual accounts
• Provide a view on forward planning
• Approve significant transactions
• Approve mergers and acquisitions
• Approve separations or dissolutions
an increase or more than 5% of
• Approve
non-NHS activities
changes to our Constitution (unless
• Approve
it is around the powers and duties of the

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust has applied the
principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance on a comply or explain basis. The
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most
recently revised in July 2014, is based on the
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code
issued in 2012.
The Board of Directors uses the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance as best practice
advice to improve our governance practices.
We follow the code guidance with exception to
the maximum term of office for non executive
directors. In 2011, our membership voted for the
extension of the non executive maximum term
of office to 3 x 3 year terms to provide greater
continuity through times of change within
Oxleas and the wider NHS.

Code of governance disclosures
Should any disagreements arise between our
Council of Governors and our Board of Directors,
we would follow the procedures laid down in our
Constitution. Members of the Board of Directors
and Council of Governors both attend our
members’ focus groups to learn members’ views
on what our future priorities should be and to
gather feedback on our current performance.
Attendance at Board meetings
The table below shows the number of meetings
attended out of a maximum of 11. There have
been several changes mid-year, so not all Board
members had the opportunity to attend all
meetings.

Council of Governors).

The Board of Directors manages the business of
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust by setting strategy
and overseeing performance. The Executive
team manages the day to day operational
running of the organisation and regularly
reports on activity to the Board. The Board also
works closely with the Council of Governors and
both groups regularly meet and attend each
other’s meetings.

The governors put these duties into action this
year in several ways including appointing a
new non executive director, being involved in
the forward planning process and approving
the significant transaction of entering into the
South London Mental Health and Community
Partnership – forensic mental health pilot.
Our governors also have the right to:

•
one or more directors to attend
• Require
a meeting to obtain information about the
Propose a vote on the organisation’s or
director’s performance

The Council of Governors have a range of roles
and responsibilities. Their general duty is to
hold the non executive directors individually
and collectively to account for the performance
of the Board of Directors and to represent the
interests of our members and the public.

organisation’s or director’s performance and

a question to NHS Improvement’s
• Refer
advisory panel as to whether the trust has

The governors’ statutory duties are to:

•
the appointment of the Chief
• Approve
Executive

failed or is failing to act in accordance with
the Constitution.

Appoint or remove the Chair and non
executive directors

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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None of these rights has been used in 2016/17.
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Name

Meetings
attended

Seyi Clement
Non Executive Director

9/11

Steve Dilworth
Non Executive Director

11/11

Yemisi Gibbons
Non Executive Director

3/3

Colleen Harris
Board Advisor

2/4

Simon Hart
Director of Human Resources
and Organisational Development

5/6

Steve James
Non Executive Director

9/11

James Kellock
Non Executive Director

11/11

Dr Ify Okocha
Medical Director

10/11

Helen Smith
Deputy Chief Executive and
Director of Service Delivery

10/11

Jo Stimpson
Board Advisor (to April 2016)
Non Executive Director
(from May 2016)

11/11

Anne Taylor
Non Executive Director

10/11

Archie Herron
Non Executive Director

Meetings
attended

Name

1/1

Jazz Thind
Acting Director of Finance
(from September 2015)
Director of Finance
(from August 2016)
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Code of governance disclosures
Name

Meetings
attended

Ben Travis
Acting Chief Executive
(from September 2015)
Chief Executive (from June 2016)

10/11

Andrew Trotter
Chair

11/11

Jane Wells
Director of Nursing

11/11

The Audit Committee provides the Board
of Directors with an independent review of
financial and corporate risk management
and governance. With a membership of non
executive directors, the committee uses
independent external and internal audit to
provide assurance to the Board. The committee
monitors the integrity of our financial
statements and ensures we have the right
policies and procedures in place to make sure
our organisation is run effectively and legally.
The committee has oversight of our Board
Assurance Framework linking with other Board
sub-committees to ensure that key risks are
identified and plans actioned in response.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee developed during the
year and became the Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee from January 2017 and adopted
new terms of reference. The members of the
committees during the year were:

KPMG provide internal audit and counter fraud
services to Oxleas while Deloitte LLP provide
external audit services. Deloitte were reappointed by our Council of Governors as our
external auditors in March 2016 for a period
of two years. This followed a performance
review by the Audit Committee and a cost
comparison exercise. Our external audit contract
will be retendered in 2018. The appointment
will be made by our Council of Governors and
will involve an extensive evaluation process.
Both attended our audit meetings as well as
relevant trust staff. At these meetings, progress
on internal and external audits and actions
taken as a result were reviewed. Also financial
controls, the level of debt owed to Oxleas and
action to reduce fraud were regularly reviewed.

Archie Herron – Non Executive Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee (until October
2016)
Stephen Dilworth – Non Executive Director and
Chair from November 2016
Stephen James – Non Executive Director
Jo Stimpson – Non Executive Director
There were 5 meetings between 1 April 2016
and 31 March 2017
Attendance
Archie Herron

2/2

Steve Dilworth

5/5

Steve James

4/5

Jo Stimpson

4/5
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Our internal audit and counter fraud plan
includes a number of projects that are designed
to review processes and controls where we
believe there to be risk and to give appropriate
assurance to the Board via the Audit Committee
that these risks are being addressed. The plan is
discussed by the Executive Team and approved
by the Audit Committee. KPMG present the work
they have carried out and provide an update of
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Code of governance disclosures
actions completed. Details of the internal audit
report work carried out this year are included in
our annual governance statement.

The principal issues addressed included:

appropriate recognition of revenue
• The
from NHS commissioners and other sources

At our Audit Committees, Deloitte, our external
auditor, present updates regarding accounting
and business matters that are relevant to our
organisation; including their audit plans and
reports, for discussion by the committee. As part
of this, the committee considers our accounting
policies, the implications of new accounting
guidance, and whether our financial statements
are compliant with the relevant financial
reporting standards.

including for deferred income and provisions,
and the adequacy of provisions related to
outstanding income and bad debt.

• Valuation of property assets
for capital expenditure at Queen
• Accounting
Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup
• Management override of controls.

All these matters were resolved to the
satisfaction of the Audit Committee and of our
external auditors without requiring adjustments
to the draft annual accounts. Where
adjustments are proposed by the auditors, the
Audit Committee considers both their nature
and their materiality to the accounts in deciding
whether to record them.

Deloitte are required to make the case to the
committee that they are objective and comply
with the technical and ethical standards that
apply to them as auditors. Part of the audit cycle
includes an assessment by the committee of the
effectiveness of the audit process.
We incurred audit fees of £66k (excluding VAT)
for the accounting period. This was a fee for an
audit in accordance with the Audit Code issued
by Monitor in 2007. The quality accounts fees,
excluding VAT, was £14k (2015/16 £14k) and
the charitable independent examination fee,
excluding VAT was £4k (2015/16 £5k).

Nominations Committee
We established two Nominations Committees
in 2016/17 as we had both executive and nonexecutive appointments to the Board.
Non-Executive Nominations Committee
Membership

The Committee engages regularly with the
external auditor over the course of the financial
year, including private sessions, at which
executive management is not represented.
The subjects covered include consideration of
the external audit plan, matters arising from
the audit of the trust financial statements, the
review of the trust quality accounts and any
recommendations on control and accounting
matters proposed by the auditor.

• Andy Trotter, Chair
• Steve Dilworth, Vice Chair
• Chris Purnell, elected governor, User/Carer
• Irene Badejo, elected governor, User/Carer
Sheehy, appointed governor and
• Raymond
vice chair of governors
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The committee met twice during 2016/2017
and all members of the committee attended
both meetings. The work of the committee
was focused on the recruitment of a non
executive director to replace Colleen Harris
who stood down in July 2016. Following
interviews on 31 August 2016, the Nominations
Committee recommended the appointment
of Yemisi Gibbons to the Council of Governors
on 8 December 2016 who fully endorsed this
recommendation.

Executive Nominations Committee

Business Committee

Membership

Name

Code of governance disclosures

• Andy Trotter (chair)
• Archie Herron, (Vice Chair)
• Raymond Sheehy (Vice Chair of Governors)
• Steve James, Non Executive Director
• James Kellock, Non Executive Director
• Jo Stimpson, Non Executive Director
• Stephen Dilworth, Non Executive Director
• Colleen Harris, Board Advisor

When vacancies do arise, the Board of Directors
informs the Nominations Committee of the
skills and experience required for non executive
directors and may work with an external
organisation to do this. The Nominations
Committee then develops role descriptions,
the process for appointment and approves
candidates for presentation to the Council
of Governors.

The Executive Nominations Committee met
four times in 2016. It agreed and managed the
appointments process for the Chief Executive
and the Finance Director. Following external
advertisement and a range of stakeholder
engagement, the executive nominations
committee was pleased to appoint Ben Travis
to the post of Chief Executive in June 2016
following approval by the Council of Governors.
Jazz Thind was appointed to the post of
Finance Director in July 2016. This post was also
externally advertised and subject to a range
of stakeholder engagement before the panel
made its final appointment. In both cases the
panel included the Vice Chair of Governors and
an external panel member from a neighbouring
organisation.

The Nominations Committee also monitors the
Chairman’s reappointment of non executive
directors and provides assurance to the Council
of Governors that due process has taken place.
In 2011, the membership of Oxleas voted to
extend the maximum timescale that a Non
Executive Director could hold office to three
terms of three years. This was ratified at the
Annual Members meeting in 2011. The ability
of all non executive directors to be sufficiently
independent to effectively challenge the board
is a key part of the annual appraisal by the
Chairman which constitutes the basis of his
recommendations for reappointment.
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Committee attendance
The non executive directors sit on the Board
sub-committees and their attendance is detailed
below (as the board membership changed
during the year, the number of meetings
attended differs).
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Workforce Committee
Name

Attendance

Attendance

Jo Stimpson (Chair)

9/11

James Kellock (Chair)

7/7

Archie Herron

6/6

Yemisi Gibbons

1/3

James Kellock

11/11

Jo Stimpson

7/7

Steve Dilworth

11/11

Andy Trotter

10/11

Infrastructure Committee
Name

Quality Committee
Name

Attendance

Steve James (Chair)

10/12

Seyi Clement

9/12

Yemisi Gibbons

2/2

Anne Taylor

1/1

Seyi Clement (Chair)

1/1

Steve Dilworth

1/1

Yemisi Gibbons

1/1

Members of the Council of Governance
The Council of Governors has 42 governors.
They represent:

public governors (four each for Bexley,
• 13Bromley
and Greenwich boroughs, and one

Risk Committee (to Dec 2016)
Name

Attendance

for Rest of England borough)

• 13 service user/carer governors
• 9 appointed governors
• 7 staff governors

Attendance

Archie Herron

3/3

Steve Dilworth

3/3

James Kellock

4/4

Jo Stimpson

3/4

Andy Trotter

3/4

The following tables list the names of the
governors, the constituency or organisation
they represent and their term of office.
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Service user / carer constituency

Public constituency

Current Governors

Current Governors

Code of governance disclosures

Name

Term start

Term end

Irene Badejo

24 September 2014

Hannah Chamberlain

Code of governance disclosures

Name

Borough

Term Start

September 2017

Frazer Rendell

Bromley

24 September 2014

September 2017

24 September 2014

September 2017

Amanda Finlay

Greenwich

Re-elected 24 September 2014

September 2017

Chris Purnell

Re-elected 24 September 2014

September 2017

Stephen Brooks

Bexley

Re-elected 30 September 2015

September 2018

Renuka Abeysinghe

15 October 2014

September 2017

Richard Diment

Bexley

Re-elected 30 September 2015

September 2018

Mary Stirling

15 October 2014

September 2017

Elizabeth Anderson

Bexley

30 September 2015

September 2018

Ken Thomas

Re-elected 15 October 2014

September 2017

Phoebe Nwobiri

Rest of England

30 September 2015

September 2018

Jacqueline Ashby-Thompson

30 September 2015

September 2018

Ben Spencer

Bromley

5 February 2016

September 2018

Raja Rajendran *

17 September 2016

September 2018

John Crowley

Greenwich

5 February 2016

September 2018

Fola Balogun

Re-elected 17 September 2016

September 2019

Stuart Dixon

Bromley

17 September 2016

September 2018

Katherine Copley

Re-elected 17 September 2016

September 2019

Yens Marsen-Luther

Greenwich

17 September 2016

September 2017

Lesley Smith

Re-elected 17 September 2016

September 2019

Gabrielle Wain

Greenwich

17 September 2016

September 2019

Arthur Mars

17 September 2016

September 2019

Sonia Mars

17 September 2016

September 2019

* Raja Rajendran initially took up the role on 26/2/16 as the second highest in the vote when the person elected withdrew
from taking up the role. Raja was subsequently re-elected in September 2016.

Governors whose term has ended in year
Name

Term start

Term end

Alan Ingram*

20 April 2016

Jenny Kay

Re-elected 11 September 2013

17 September 2016

Baeti Mothobi

11 September 2013

17 September 2016

28 April 2016

Term Ends

Governors whose term has ended in year
Name

Borough

Term Start

Eimear Mallen

Greenwich

Re-elected 11 September 2013

Carole Wilson

Bexley

24 September 2014

10 March 2017

Rob Imeson

Greenwich

24 September 2014

30 June 2016

Alison Spence

Bromley

30 September 2015

6 April 2016

Term Ends
17 September 2016

There is one vacant seat in the Public Bromley constituency and one vacant seat in the
Public Bexley constituency.

* withdrew from taking up the role
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Staff constituency

Appointed governors

Current Governors

Current Governors

Code of governance disclosures

Name

Constituency

Term starts

Joe Nhemachena

Corporate and Partner

24 September 2014

September 2017

Kaye Jones

Learning Disability

Re-elected 24
September 2014

September 2017

Jacqui Pointon

Children’s Services

30 September 2015

September 2018

Sue Read

Adult Community Health
Services (previously elected
to Bexley Community Health
Services but constituency
changed following vote at 2015
annual members’ meeting)
30 September 2015

September 2018

Surajsing Persand

Forensic and Prison
Health Services

20 April 2016

September 2018

Anna Dube

Older People Mental
Health Services

17 September 2016

September 2019

17 September 2016

September 2019

Grace Umoren

Working Age Mental
Health Services

Term ends

Governors whose term has ended in year
Name

Constituency

Term starts

Barbara Cawdron

Working Age Mental Health

11 September 2013

17 September 2016

Mary Titchener

Adult Community Health
Services (previously elected to
Greenwich Community Health
Services but constituency
changed following vote at 2015
annual members’ meeting).
11 September 2013

17 September 2016

Older Adult Mental Health

17 September 2016

Steve Francis

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

19 September 2013

64

Code of governance disclosures

Name

Organisation

Cafer Munur

Bexley Council – Local Authority

Judi Ellis

Bromley Council – Local Authority

David Gardner

Greenwich Council – Local Authority

Raymond Sheehy

Bridge – Forensic (Lead Governor)

Mark Ellison

Age UK – Older Adult

Carl Krauhaus

Charlton Athletic Community Trust – Young People

David Palmer

Mind – Adult Mental Health

Steve Davies

Mencap – Learning Disabilities

Brian Sladen

Headway – Adult Community

Governors whose term has ended in year
Name

Organisation

Malcolm Wood

Mencap – Learning Disabilities

Maureen Falloon

Age UK – Older Adult

Term ends
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Public, staff and user/carer governors are elected by members of their own constituency using the
single transferable vote system. Governors are appointed for a fixed term of three years.

Summer Elections

Code of governance disclosures

For appointed governors, our partner organisations as defined in our constitution were asked to
nominate a representative. Appointed governors are appointed for a fixed term of three years.

Code of governance disclosures

Public
Number of
nominations
at deadline
of 22/7/17

During 2016/17, two elections were held. The details are outlined below.
By-election
As there were vacancies in both the Public: Bromley and the Staff: Forensic and Prison Health
Services constituencies, a by-election was held prior to the main summer elections.
Public
Number of
nominations
at deadline
of 8/3/16

Outcome
of voting
(30/3/16 to
19/4/16)

2

1 elected
(on 28/4/16
withdrew from
taking up the role)

Bromley
1 vacancy

When announced

When took
up position

20 April 2016

Number of
nominations
at deadline
of 8/3/16

Outcome
of voting
(30/3/16 to
19/4/16)

When
announced

2

1 elected

20 April 2016
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Bromley
2 vacancies

1

Unopposed
1 elected

Greenwich
2 vacancies

3

2 elected

When
announced

When took
up position

9 September 2016 17 September 2017
9 September 2016

5 October 2017

When
announced

When took
up position

Service User/Carer
Number of
nominations
at deadline
of 22/7/17

Outcome
of voting
(15/8/16 to 8/9/16)

Working Age
Adult Mental
Health Services
1 vacancy

6

1 elected

9 September 2016 17 September 2017

Adult Community
Health Services
1 vacancy

1

Unopposed
1 elected

9 September 2016 17 September 2017

Older People
Mental Health
Services
2 vacancies

2

Unopposed
2 elected

9 September 2016 17 September 2017

Children’s Services
1 vacancy

1

Unopposed
1 elected

9 September 2016 17 September 2017

Learning Disability
Services
1 vacancy

1

Unopposed
1 elected

9 September 2016 17 September 2017

-

Staff

Forensic and
Prison Health
Services
1 vacancy

Outcome
of voting
(15/8/16 to 8/9/16)

When took
up position

9 May 2016
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Staff

Public

Code of governance disclosures

Number of
nominations
at deadline
of 22/7/16
Older People
Mental Health
Services
1 vacancy
Working Age
Adult Mental
Health Services
1 vacancy

Outcome
of voting
(15/8/16 to 8/9/16)

2

1

1 elected

Unopposed
1 elected

When
announced

9 September 2016

9 September 2016

When took
up position

17 September 2017

17 September 2017

Attendance at Council of Governors’ meetings
The table below shows the number of meetings
attended out of a maximum of four. Several
governors changed mid-year, so did not have
the opportunity to attend all meetings.
Service user carer
Name

Attendance

Name

Attendance

Code of governance disclosures

Name

Staff
Name

Attendance

Attendance

Eimear Mallen

1/2

Barbara Cawdron

2/2

Carole Wilson

3/3

Mary Titchener

1/2

Frazer Rendell

2/4

Steve Francis

2/2

Rob Imeson

1/2

Joe Nhemachena

3/4

Amanda Finlay

3/4

Kaye Jones

3/4

Stephen Brooks

4/4

Jacqui Pointon

1/4

Richard Diment

4/4

Sue Read

3/4

Elizabeth Anderson

1/4

Surajsing Persand

2/4

Phoebe Nwobiri

1/4

Anna Dube

1/2

Alison Spence

0/0

Grace Umoren

0/2

Ben Spencer

3/4

John Crowley

3/4

Stuart Dixon

2/2

Yens Marsen-Luther

2/2

Gabrielle Wain

2/2

Appointed
Name

Attendance

Cafer Munur

2/4

Judi Ellis

1/4

Fola Balogun

4/4

Ken Thomas

2/4

David Gardner

3/4

Katherine Copley

2/4

Jacqueline Ashby-Thompson

4/4

Raymond Sheehy

3/4

Jenny Kay

2/2

Raja Rajendran

4/4

Maureen Falloon

0/2

Baeti Mothobi

2/2

Arthur Mars

1/2

Karl Krauhaus

2/4

Lesley Smith

1/4

Sonia Mars

1/2

David Palmer

0/4

Irene Badejo

3/4

Malcolm Wood

0/1

Hannah Chamberlain

3/4

Brian Sladen

3/4

Chris Purnell

3/4

Mark Ellison

0/2

Renuka Abeysinghe

2/4

Steve Davies

3/3

Mary Stirling

4/4
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Code of governance disclosures
Unfortunately due to work commitments, our
partnership governors are not always able to
attend Council of Governor meetings but do
receive all papers for the meetings.

Name

The table below shows attendance by Directors
at Council of Governors meetings. Directors
attend the Council of Governors in response to
the topics under discussion. There have also
been several changes mid-year, so not all Board
members had the opportunity to attend all
meetings.
Name

Attendance

Helen Smith
Deputy Chief Executive and
Director of Service Delivery

3/4

Jo Stimpson
Non Executive Director

1/4

Anne Taylor
Non Executive Director

0/0

Jazz Thind
Acting Director of Finance
( from September 2015)

Attendance

3/4

Director of Finance (from
August 2016)

Seyi Clement
Non Executive Director

2/4

Steve Dilworth
Non Executive Director

2/4

Yemisi Gibbons
Non Executive Director

1/1

Chief Executive
(from June 2016)

Colleen Harris
Board Advisor

0/1

Andrew Trotter
Chair

4/4
4/4

Ben Travis
Acting Chief Executive
(from September 2015)

4/4

Simon Hart
Director of Human
Resources and Organisational
Development

3/4

Jane Wells
Director of Nursing

Archie Herron
Non Executive Director

2/2

Oxleas maintains a register of directors’ and
governors’ interests. To view this register, please
contact the Trust Secretary.

Steve James
Non Executive Director

4/4

James Kellock
Non Executive Director

2/4

Dr Ify Okocha
Medical Director

3/4
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Code of governance disclosures
Staff: this is open to individuals who are
employed by us. Staff working in services
contracted by us are also eligible to join.
Constituency

31/03/17

31/03/16

Staff

4176

4150

Public

4652

3630

Service user/carer

1498

1421

Totals

10326

9201

work they have been doing to represent their
constituency.
We also delivered a Members’ Health Event in
September in conjunction with our 2016 Annual
Members Meeting.
During 2016/17, we increased our overall
membership, successfully growing both
our public and service user/carer member
constituencies. We aim to ensure that our
membership is representative of the local
populations we serve. We have achieved this
through member campaigns and engagement
across Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich, held
within a range of facilities including our own
sites and public libraries.

Membership Strategy
This was our second year of our three year
Membership Strategy. Areas of focus in the
strategy are:

The A-Z of associate members on the staff
intranet continues to be a helpful resource
for signposting support available within the
community.

our Council of Governors, including
• Supporting
raising their profile
• Supporting our Membership Committee
our membership, with particular
• Promoting
emphasis on staff engagement to raise

During the past year, we have engaged with
members in a number of ways, including:

Members’ Meeting and Health Event.
• Annual
The formal Annual Members’ Meeting was

awareness, increasing our service user/
carer membership, increasing our younger
membership and raising the profile of our
associate members

attended by over 80 people and many more
enjoyed the Health Event. Governors were
actively involved in the planning of the event
and on the day engaged with their members,
discussing any issues or ideas members had.

and involving our members through
• Engaging
improved communications and developing
member health events.

Membership
Our membership constituencies are:

We have made significant progress in achieving
the goals of the Strategy.

Service users/carers: this is open to people aged
14 years and over, who are current service users
or carers, or who have been service users or
carers within the past five years.

We have again published a who’s who chart
for our Council of Governors and a governor
review and continued to provide profiles for
all governors on our website. The dedicated
governor email has been used by members
and the governors’ quarterly activity return
continues to enable governors to report on the

Public: this is open to people aged 14 years and
over, living in England.
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105 people attend our Members’ Focus
• Over
Groups in February 2017. These were an

opportunity for members to have their say
about the trust’s performance with Oxleas’
Board members and governors, and comment
on our priorities for the coming year. At each
event a governor also talked about their
role in more depth and other governors
engaged with members during the table-top
discussions.
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including Oxleas Exchange and
• Publications
the governor review which reflects the work

You can contact a governor to ask a question
or raise an issue by writing to:

of our Council of Governors throughout the
year and raises their profile.

Freepost Plus RTTR – GBLX – ASJZ
Membership Office
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG

information including www.
• Web-based
oxleas.nhs.uk
media such as Facebook and Twitter,
• Social
emails and online polls.
and governor nomination
• Voting
opportunities.
events, public and targeted such
• Community
as University of Greenwich Campus, Great

Telephone
0300 123 1541
Email
oxl-tr.governors@nhs.net

Get Together in Greenwich, Lark in the Park in
Sidcup and Bexley Library Open Day, Bexley
Clinical Commissioning Group Health and
Education Fayre.

Staff governors can be contacted at:
oxl-tr.staffgovernors@nhs.net

promotion at trust events
• Membership
for Learning Disability Awareness Day,

Volunteers, Bexley Adult Community Services
Carers, Greenwich Memory Service, Greenwich
Adult Community Services Carers and Come
and meet us in Bromley.

Section two - Accountability report

NHS Improvement’s Single
Oversight Framework
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework
provides the framework for overseeing providers
and identifying potential support needs. The
framework looks at five themes:

different. This is in line with NHS Improvement’s
guidance for annual reports.
Segmentation
Oxleas NHS Foundation has been placed by NHS
Improvement in segment 2. Segment 2 means
that providers are offered targeted support
which they are not obliged to take up.

• Quality of care
• Finance and use of resources
• Operational performance
• Strategic change
eadership and improvement capability
•	L(well-led)

This segmentation information is the
trust’s position as at 25 May 2017. Current
segmentation information for NHS trusts and
foundation trusts is published on the NHS
Improvement website.

Based on information from these themes,
providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where ‘4’
reflects providers receiving the most support,
and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum
autonomy. A foundation trust will only be in
segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be
in breach or suspected breach of its licence.

Finance and use of resources
The finance and use of resources theme is based
on the scoring of five measures from ‘1’ to ‘4’,
where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance.
These scores are then weighted to give an
overall score. Given that finance and use of
resources is only one of the five themes feeding
into the Single Oversight Framework, the
segmentation of the trust disclosed above
might not be the same as the overall finance
score here.

The Single Oversight Framework applied from
Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this, Monitor’s
Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in
place. Information for the prior year and first
two quarters relating to the RAF has not been
presented as the basis of accountability was

promotion careers events
• Membership
within schools.

Our associate membership for third sector
organisations, patient support groups and local
organisations continues to grow. We have over
119 associate members, representing a broad
spectrum of health and social issues across the
three boroughs and further afield. A number
of associate members took part in the Annual
Members’ Meeting/Members’ Health Event and
other trust events.

Area

Metric

2016/17 Q3 score

2016/17 Q4 score

2

2

Liquidity

1

1

Financial efficiency

Income and
expenditure margin

2

1

Financial controls

Distance from
financial plan

1

1

Agency spend

3

3

2

2

Financial sustainability Capital service capacity

Overall scoring
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Statement of accounting officer’s
responsibilities
Statement of the chief executive’s
responsibilities as the accounting officer of
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust

and explain any material departures in the
financial statements

that the use of public funds complies
• ensure
with the relevant legislation, delegated

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive
is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation
trust. The relevant responsibilities of the
accounting officer, including their responsibility
for the propriety and regularity of public
finances for which they are answerable, and
for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.

authorities and guidance and

the financial statements on a going
• prepare
concern basis.
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the NHS foundation trust and to
enable him/her to ensure that the accounts
comply with requirements outlined in the
above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer
is also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the NHS foundation trust and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers
conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006,
has given Accounts Directions which require
Oxleas NHS foundation trust to prepare for
each financial year a statement of accounts
in the form and on the basis required by those
Directions. The accounts are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of Oxleas NHS foundation
trust and of its income and expenditure, total
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the financial year.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer.

emorandum.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting
Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:

Signed by

Ben Travis
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

the Accounts Direction issued by
• observe
NHS Improvement, including the relevant

25 May 2017

accounting and disclosure requirements,
and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis make judgements and
estimates on a reasonable basis

Annual governance statement
2016/17

Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of
the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public
funds and departmental assets for which
I am personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am
also responsible for ensuring that the NHS
foundation trust is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum.

representation from Internal Audit. Clinical
leadership was provided by the Medical Director,
Director of Nursing and Director of Therapies.
From January 2017, the Risk Committee was
combined with the Audit Committee to form the
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, so as to
streamline these two key control and assurance
oversight functions. This Committee has primary
responsibility for monitoring the integrity of
the financial statements, assisting the Board
in its oversight of risk management and the
effectiveness of internal control, oversight
of compliance with corporate governance
standards and matters relating to the external
and internal audit functions.
Membership of the Committee comprises
of three non-executive directors only. In
attendance at the Committee are the Chief
Executive, Director of Finance, Director of HR and
OD, Associate Director of Corporate Affairs and
Trust Secretary, Associate Director of Quality
and Governance and the Risk and Governance
Manager. Clinical representation is provided by
the Director of Therapies and a service director.
Representatives from internal and external
auditors also attend the meeting.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
of effectiveness. The system of internal control
is based on an on-going process designed
to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives
of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control has been in place
in Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for the year
ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and accounts.

The executive lead for risk management is
the Chief Executive.
The responsibilities of all staff in relation to
risk management are outlined in the Risk
Management Framework. Our Mandatory
and Essential Skills Programme covers risk
management training appropriate to the
grade, role and location of staff. Examples
include safeguarding adults, safeguarding
children, resuscitation skills and prevention and
management of violence and aggression. All
staff are required to complete health and safety,
fire safety, infection control and information
governance training. The uptake of training is

Capacity to handle risk
From April 2016 to December 2016, oversight
of risk management was remitted to the
Risk Committee. This was chaired by a nonexecutive director and membership included
Board Directors including our Chair, the Chair
of the Audit Committee, the Risk Manager and

whether applicable accounting
• state
standards as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (and the
Department of Health Group Accounting
Manual) have been followed, and disclose
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monitored centrally and reviewed through the
workforce update to the Board of Directors.
Training compliance is also monitored at team
level on an on-going basis through live reports
on NHS Learn.

on risks to be escalated or de-escalated from
the Board Assurance Framework. A report
from the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee,
including an overview of the Board Assurance
Framework is a standing item on the Board of
Directors’ agenda.

We aim to ensure learning from the
recommendations of incidents, complaints and
claims. This is achieved through the following
mechanisms: trustwide embedding learning
events; our Quality Committee; trustwide and
local Patient Safety Groups; trustwide and local
Patient Experience Groups. Reflective practice
is encouraged at team level and though clinical
supervision. The uptake of supervision is
monitored regularly by the Board of Directors.
The Internal Audit Programme and Clinical Audit
Programme are used to evidence that changes
in practice have been implemented.

Each of the trust Board sub-committees and
governance sub-committee holds its own risk
register and these are reviewed regularly at these
meetings, where new and emerging risks are also
discussed. Each of our service directorates also
has its own risk register and has developed local
arrangement for the identification and review of
risks. Support is provided centrally by the Risk and
Governance Manager.
In response to a recommendation from the CQC,
the trust embedded a process for risk register
items to be raised by individual teams within the
trust. Teams are asked to use the Team Quality
Meeting to discuss risk issues for inclusion
on their directorate risk register. These are
escalated to the directorate senior management
team for approval, with feedback given directly
from the responsible service manager.

The risk and control framework
Our Risk Management Framework sets out
the process for how risk and change in risk is
identified, evaluated and controlled. It sets
out the responsibilities for individuals and
key sub-committees in terms of how risks are
reported and escalated through the governance
structure. This is regularly reviewed and
updated in line with changes to the governance
and operational structures. In October 2016,
the Framework was updated to include the
local risk register process, in line with the CQC
requirement notice.

In response to a recommendation in the Wellled Review in 2015, the trust has now fully
embedded a single automated system for the
management of all risks registers across the
trust. Thematic analysis of risk using information
from this system is now a standing item on the
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee agenda.

We may decide to tolerate certain risks. Patient
and staff safety and availability of resources will
inform the decision of when to tolerate a risk.

Our Quality Committee has a key role in
monitoring performance across the three
domains of patient safety, patient experience
and clinical effectiveness. The Quality
Committee is chaired by a non-executive
director and includes the Medical Director,
Director of Nursing, Director of Therapies,
clinical directors and quality leads from all
services. Each service directorate within Oxleas
has a quality structure which replicates the

As the committee with delegated responsibility
for clinical and non-clinical risk, the Audit and
Risk Assurance Committee receives a Board
Assurance Framework update as a standing item
at every meeting. This includes an overview of
new and emerging risks and recommendations

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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trustwide structure, ie a local Quality Committee
overseeing the three workstreams of safety,
experience and effectiveness.

rating of “good” in 10 out of 14 core services, a
rating of “requires improvement” in three and a
rating of “inadequate” in one. The overall rating
at that time was “requires improvement” and an
action plan was put into place to ensure that all
requirement notices were addressed. The CQC
visited the trust in February/March 2017 for a
focused re-inspection of our acute adult, crisis
and children’s community services. They found
that all actions had been implemented and the
trusts overall rating was increased to “good”.
The detail of the inspection and our response is
covered elsewhere in this report.

The quality of performance information is
assessed in a variety of ways. The Integrated
Dashboard Report is a standing item on Board
of Directors’ agenda, with key exceptions and
mitigation plans discussed in detail at the
meeting. Any data quality issues, including
plans to resolve these, are also discussed as
part of this item. Performance against our six
quality objectives is reported to every Board of
Directors meeting as part of the Quality Report.
The quality of our performance information
is also assessed through our Internal Audit
Plan; the Data Quality and Performance Audit
for 2016/17 achieved an overall outcome of
significant assurance with minor improvement
opportunities. Further information on the quality
of our services and how we monitor this is
included in our Annual Quality Accounts and the
processes to ensure accuracy of data are laid
out later in this statement.

Our Short Breaks Service at Bluebell House is
registered with both CQC and Ofsted. The service
maintained its Ofsted rating of ‘good’ in November
2016 and no significant concerns were raised. An
interim inspection was held in March 2017 and
again, no significant concerns were raised.
Oxleas has robust information governance
systems. It is a mandatory requirement that
all staff complete information governance
training and there are established processes
for identifying and managing breaches in
data security. All portable storage devices
are encrypted and data security has been
enhanced. There have been no serious lapses
of data security.

During 2016/17, we continued to use the
programme of Board visits as a means of
assessing quality at local level. Visits are
conducted to several teams each month to
speak with patients, carers and staff about
their experience of using the service. Feedback
from these visits is reported to Board at every
meeting. Progress against actions followed up
with the relevant service director and monitored
by the Board of Directors and the Executive Team.

The key new risks identified in year included the
following:

access to therapeutic sharps:
• Controlling
In response to the incident at the Bracton

Centre, the trust has implemented a number
of controls. A therapeutic sharps policy has
been produced which limits utensils allowed
on wards and documents how they must be
managed. Any changes to this list must be
agreed through the Kitchen Steering Group
and Therapeutic Review Group.

The quality impact of savings plans are regularly
reviewed through meetings with the Director
of Nursing, Medical Director and Director of
Therapies who are required to provide assurance
to the Board of Directors that saving plans do
not impact on the quality of services.
In April 2016, the CQC visited the trust for an
inspection of all services. The trust received a
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and aggression risk assessments:
• Violence
In response to the incident at the Bracton

Existing longer-term risks include:

management – to ensure demand for
• Bed
inpatient mental health beds is managed

Centre, the trust reviewed the process for
undertaking violence and aggression risk
assessments. These have been completed
and Safe Systems of Work put in place for all
high risk areas These will be reviewed on an
annual basis. A programme is in place to roll
out to all trust areas by October 2017.

effectively: In response to high demand on
our inpatient beds we have introduced new
procedures to manage our bed capacity
to clear standards and revised our bed
management escalation policy to give clear
guidance to all staff.

action from the Health and Safety
• Legal
Executive (HSE) following the incident at

sufficient workforce: we have a
• Ensuring
sustained focus on recruiting and retaining

the Bracton Centre in July 2016: This is being
mitigated through ensuring that learning
from the incident is regularly monitored
by the Board and the Executive team, with
detailed evidence of implementation retained.
The trust is also taking legal advice on our
response.

staff to deliver our services and to reduce the
need for agency staff. We continue to explore
innovative solutions to achieve this, including
weekend recruitment events and targeting
student nurses.

sustainability: across our services
• Financial
we are reviewing where we can make

effective e-roster practice to
• Ensuring
maximise effective use of staffing resources

efficiencies and are working with partners
across South London to support financial
viability in the health and social care system.

and reduce reliance on temporary staff: This
risk is mitigated through ensuring there is
focused support on using e-roster, training for
manager using e-roster and senior oversight
of rosters. Compliance is monitored through
a KPI reported to the Board through the
Integrated Dashboard.

In the Performance Report, we have described
the principal risks to achieving our strategic
priorities and the actions we have in place
to mitigate these. The Directors Report,
taken in conjunction with the risk leadership
arrangements and risk control framework
described above outlines the structures that
enable the trust to comply with the NHS
Foundation Trust condition 4 (FT Governance).
We have effective systems in place to ensure the
timely and accurate collection of information to
provide assurance that we are complying with
our licence. Our Integrated Dashboard Report
monitors performance targets against key
indicators and targets at every Board meeting.

sufficient support for coroner
• Ensuring
inquest management: The trust has

experienced a significant increase in inquests,
in particularly deaths in custody as we
are now working in more prison settings.
Nurse led inquest coordination has been
established, led by the Head of Patient Safety,
in conjunction with a dedicated Inquests
Manager Post.

We are able to assure ourselves of the validity of
our Corporate Governance Statement through
the systems of oversight and scrutiny described
in this statement.
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Risk management is well embedded into
the activities of the organisation. The Safety
Committee reviews all serious incidents,
monitors progress against actions plans and
ensures that learning takes place through
regular trustwide events. The trust openly
encourages incident reporting and continues
to achieve an increase in reporting low level
incidents, this is a widely recognised indicator
of a positive safety culture. In April 2016, the
trust established a Mortality Surveillance Group
so as to ensure that there are robust systems in
place to identify, clinically review and learn from
all deaths, not just those reported as serious
incidents. This group is chaired by the Director of
Nursing. Membership includes a non-executive
director and clinical leaders from all service
directorates.

actions from the CQC visit and other quality
actions are being sustained.
We actively engage with our governors,
membership and key stakeholders in reporting
on our performance and planning for the future
including managing risks. A key way we do this
is through our annual focus groups which look
at the quality of our services and agree priorities
for the coming year. We are also involved in
regular meetings with local partners in health
and social care including Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, HealthWatch and the wider
voluntary sector.
Our quality improvement goals are agreed with
our local commissioners and our members
to focus on areas of clinical risk. Our progress
against these is covered in more detail in our
Quality Accounts.

Safety risks are also identified and managed
though the programme of environmental risk
assessments overseen by the Health and Safety
Team. All services are required to complete risk
assessments in key areas including ligature
risk management, security, falls and manual
handing and completion of these is routinely
monitored by the Health and Safety Committee
and the Executive Team On-going training is
offered to ensure managers have the expertise
to undertake risk assessments appropriately and
the Health and Safety Team is being enhanced
to provide additional support.

The foundation trust is fully compliant with the
registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission.
As an employer with staff entitled to
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme,
control measures are in place to ensure all
employer obligations contained within the
Scheme regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into
the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records
are accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the Regulations.

The trust also organises regular emergency
planning exercises to ensure that services are
prepared to respond in the event of a major
incident.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all
the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are
complied with.

Earlier in the statement, we have described how
the programme of Board visits is used to provide
further assurance on the quality of our services.
The Director of Therapies also undertakes
regular quality assurance visits to test that

The foundation trust has undertaken risk
assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery
Plans are in place in accordance with
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Incidents - Significant assurance with
• Serious
minor improvement opportunities
Quality (Part One) - Significant assurance
• Data
with minor improvement opportunities
Quality (Part Two) – Significant
• Data
assurance with minor improvement

emergency preparedness and civil contingency
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s
obligations under the Climate Change Act and
the Adaptation Reporting requirements are
complied with.
Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources

opportunities

Working - Partial assurance with
• Lone
improvements required
Financial Systems - Significant assurance
• Core
with minor improvement opportunities
- Partial assurance with
• eRostering
improvements required

Service directorate performance is monitored
at Board of Directors meetings through the
Operational Performance Report. This identifies
the top issues of concern that will be the focus
of each directorate management team on a
month by month basis. Quarterly annual plan
review meetings are held with each directorate
to monitor progress and discuss any risks to
achieving goals. These meetings are chaired
by the Chief Executive and are attended by
operational managers, clinical leaders and
the executive team. Financial performance is
monitored through the Business Committee
and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and
reported to the Board of Directors.

Monitoring progress against recommendations
made in these reports is overseen by the Audit
and Risk Assurance Committee.
We also have a contract with counter-fraud
services for the proactive prevention and
detection, and reactive investigation of fraud.
This includes a focus on increasing staff
awareness of fraud matters.

The Director of Nursing, Therapies Director and
Medical Director formally review proposals for
cost reducing efficiencies to ensure that saving
plans do not adversely impact on quality and
safety. Service directors are asked to review
plans where concerns are identified.

The Business Committee, a formal
subcommittee of the Board of Directors, is
responsible for the consideration of financial and
investment risk, the review and approval of the
marketing strategy, the review of the Annual
Plan in advance of formal approval by the Board
of Directors. The Business Committee is chaired
by a non-executive director and membership
includes non-executive and executive directors.
Significant investment decisions are agreed by
the Board of Directors and Council of Governors.

Internal Audits are undertaken throughout the
year on our core financial systems and also on
areas where we believe improvements can be
made. The Internal Audit Plan is risk based and
focuses on the areas where the most benefit is
to be gained from Internal Audit input. Over the
past year, the key areas covered by our internal
audit activity were:

The governance framework of the trust,
including committee structures, attendance
records and the coverage of their work are
discussed elsewhere in this report.

Continuity and Disaster Recovery • Business
Partial assurance with improvements required
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Information governance
There have been no serious incidents relating to
information governance including data loss or
confidentiality breaches.

report present a balanced view of the quality
of the services provided. Our local clinical
directorates also review local clinical quality
measures and provide assurance to the trust
Quality Committee.

Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
NHS Improvement (in exercise of the powers
conferred on Monitor) has issued guidance
to NHS foundation trust boards on the form
and content of annual Quality Reports which
incorporate the above legal requirements in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

2)	Policies
There is comprehensive guidance for staff
on data quality, translating the corporate
commitment into practice; these are available
as policies or guidance or operational
procedures, covering data collection,
recording, analysis and reporting and are
available to staff on the trust intranet. Where
new guidance is required such as meeting
our CQUIN targets (Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation), the trust Quality and
Governance team provide implementation
guidance and process pathways to ensure all
staff are aware of the accurate process for
recording and reporting.

During the year, the Trust has undertaken a
programme of reviews through Internal Audit
to provide assurance over its key metrics and
action plans are being implemented to address
issues identified, including increasing the level of
automation of reporting of metrics. The external
auditor has issued a qualified opinion in respect
of the Trust’s gatekeeping performance measure
due to issues in a manual reporting process.
Actions are in place to address the issues
identified

3)	Systems and Processes
There are systems and processes in place
to ensure collection, recording, analysis
and reporting of data is accurate, valid
and reliable. Mechanisms and processes
have been put in place to ensure inputs are
reported back to staff responsible as well
as their supervisors where required to allow
for consistent reviews of the quality of the
data collected. Mechanisms include reviews
by the trust Business Managers, Quality and
Governance Managers and the Informatics
team to ensure the validity of the data and
reports being reviewed. All areas of business
development, the annual plan, the quality
objectives and management of services are
underpinned where possible by information
reports provided on a monthly or quarterly
basis at team, directorate and at trust level.
When new areas of improvement are agreed
a robust monitoring method is also agreed to
enable us to utilise appropriate information

The following steps have been taken to assure
the Board that the Quality Report presents a
balanced view and that there are appropriate
controls in place to ensure the accuracy of the
data:
1)	Governance and Leadership
The trust has clear governance and
leadership arrangements in place. One of our
Non-Executive Directors chairs the Quality
Committee where all quality indicators are
assessed and reviewed, and the quality of
our performance is reported back to the
Board of Directors. The Quality Committee
ensures the indicators used within our quality
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Annual governance statement

to monitor progress on a regular basis either
within a team or throughout the trust.

Reporting of Quality data is achieved via
various methods:

(Information for Oxleas)– This is our
• IfOX
Business Intelligence system which provides

4)	People and skills
Roles and responsibilities in relation to
quality are clearly defined and documented,
and incorporated where appropriate into
job descriptions and is integrated to staff
appraisal. When new ways of collecting,
monitoring or reporting data are agreed
within Oxleas, this is circulated to all staff
and logged within guidance with essential
training provided to ensure that staff have the
necessary capacity and skills to implement
new ways of working that will improve the
quality of our services

all staff access to reports on quality,
performance and activity tailored to their
way of working. It also gives clinicians access
to key data items in the patient records that
require updating in a timely fashion.

dashboards and Quality reports that
• Quality
report on our quality metrics are provided on

a monthly basis to the Executive Team, trust
and directorate Quality sub-groups, the Board
of Directors and the Quality Committee.

also have in place a data assurance
• We
framework which provides us assurance on

5)	Data use and reporting
We ensure that all quality indicators
chosen internally by the Board, and those
agreed with our commissioners, are linked
clearly back to the trust’s Annual Plan
priority objectives, national requirements
and areas of business development. Data
used for reporting to NHS Improvement,
commissioning groups and used to populate
the Quality Report is taken through an
approval process with the Board and
Executive before it is submitted. Clear
information about the source of information,
data quality and analysis is undertaken. Data
used to specifically monitor improvements to
the quality of our business is agreed within
the Quality Committee led by the NonExecutive Director for Quality. We also take
part in national clinical audits which utilises
verified data collection tools. These reports
are presented to the Clinical Effectiveness
Group for approval.
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data quality issues. In addition, a clinical data
information group meets monthly, chaired
by the Clinical Director for Informatics, this
provides a forum to discuss issues related to
data, associated risks, accuracy and efficacy
of the data provided and reported on.

times is an area closely monitored by
• Waiting
our Board of Directors. We assure the quality
and accuracy of elective waiting time data
(which in our case relates to specialist foot
surgery) by reviewing and validating the data
regularly.

These steps that we have put in place give us an
assurance that the Quality Report for 2016/17
presents a balanced view.
Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical
audit and the executive managers and clinical
leads within the NHS foundation trust who
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Annual governance statement
Clinical Effectiveness Group’s review of
• The
the trust’s annual clinical audit programme

have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework.
I have drawn on the content of the quality
report attached to this Annual report and other
performance information available to me.
My review is also informed by comments made
by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports. I have been advised on
the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control
by the board, the Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses
and ensure continuous improvement of the
system is in place.

which reflects compliance with national,
CQUIN, trust and local audits. This review
encompasses agreement of action plans and
ensures implementation of recommendations
across the trust’s various services.

Business Committee’s review of
• The
new business opportunities and capital

developments, contract performance and
business planning.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2016/17
A programme of internal audit has been
undertaken over the year focusing on our core
financial systems and also on areas where we
believe improvements can be made. This has
been overseen by the Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee. Our internal auditors, KPMG, have
given an opinion of ‘significant assurance
with minor improvements’ on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of our framework of
governance risk management and control.

The process that has been applied in
maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control has been
supported by:
review of economy, efficiency,
• Regular
effectiveness, strategic risks and the
Assurance Framework by the Board
of Directors

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
• The
completing its audit plan
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
• The
and other Board sub-committees evaluation

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues were
identified at year end and up to the date of the
signing of the final accounts.

and monitoring of the organisation’s risks
and mitigation plans including regular review
of the operational risk registers from each
service directorate.

emorandum.

to verify compliance with the
• Evidence
Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated

Signed by

Ben Travis
Chief Executive

Activities) Regulations 2010, and the Care
Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations
2009.

25 May 2017

Quality Committee’s regular assessment
• The
and monitoring of the quality of services
provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
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Part 1

During this year, the Board of Directors
discussed our long term vision for providing care
to our diverse patient groups and how we can
ensure the following:

1.0 Chief Executive’s
Statement on Quality

•
the delivery of seamless, integrated
• Promote
health and social care with our local

Promote the delivery of ‘whole person’ health
and physical care to our patients

I am delighted to share with you our annual
Quality Account for 2016/17. Our first and
foremost priority as a trust is to enhance
quality and ensure that we are committed to
improving lives. I hope the following pages will
demonstrate our commitment to providing high
quality care to everyone who accesses
our services.

authorities

the identification of pioneering and
• Support
innovative ways to deliver care and meet the
changing needs of our patients

the delivery of care pathways with
• Facilitate
primary care and offers GPs the support they

In April 2016, we were inspected by the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) and we were
rated as ‘requires improvement’ which was
disappointing for us as a trust however over the
last year, we have had a strong focus on making
improvements in services as required by CQC.
This led to quality improvement programmes
in our inpatient mental health and our forensic
mental health services. We were re-inspected by
CQC in February and March this year and I am
delighted that the hard work and focus of all our
staff has been recognised. CQC have changed
our overall rating to ‘good’ and this is for the
trust overall and across all five domains – safe,
effective, caring, responsive and well-led.

require for their changing role

closer working with our local acute
• Facilitate
trusts, particularly in the management of
emergency demand.

As a result of the review we have reviewed our
directorate structure and have created 3 new
borough specific directorates in Bexley, Bromley
and Greenwich. This will help us deliver more
integrated care specific to our patients – care
that is person centred, effective and seamless.
During the year, we saw a spike in serious
incidents in one of our acute inpatient units
and we responded to this by having an external
review of these incidents. We have taken on
board the clear learning recommendations
and put in place actions to ensure safe and
effective practice. Furthermore, we have also
put in place a robust process at all levels of the
trust to ensure there is sharing of good practice
and embedded learning. In addition, following
a serious incident on one of our forensic mental
health wards where two members of staff were
injured we have implemented a safety review
and changed how we manage our kitchens and

This has been a year of transformation and
partnership. We have worked in partnership
with other NHS organisations to open up a new
kidney and cancer treatment centres on the
Queen Mary’s Hospital site in Sidcup. We have
created a new community rehabilitation services
in our mental health services to reduce inpatient care and support people closer to home.
In addition, we were pleased to open Acorns,
a new children’s centre of excellence that
showcases integration between physical and
mental health service provision for children.
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improved our security procedures across our
services to prevent a similar incident occurring.
Both colleagues are recovering well.

new CQC results. I want to thank staff for all
their hard work and support in 2016/17 and their
dedication in keeping quality at the centre of
everything that we do despite the challenges.
I look forward to us doing even more in 2017/18.

Each year we participate in the annual Care
Quality Commission’s national staff survey and
our composite score for staff engagement in
2016 rated Oxleas as above average compared
to the national position. We continue to engage
with our staff and we have gathered views and
ideas from nearly 500 members of staff and
have launched the ‘Let’s Talk’ staff engagement
programme to provide colleagues with a variety
of means to share their views with senior
members of staff.

In preparing our Quality Accounts, we have
endeavoured to ensure that the information and
data presented within is accurate and provides a
fair and balanced reflection of our performance
this year. However there are a number of
inherent limitations in the preparation of
the Quality Accounts which may impact the
reliability or accuracy of the data reported.
Our Board and Executive Team have sought
to take all reasonable steps and exercise
appropriate due diligence to ensure the
accuracy of the data reported. To my knowledge,
the information in the document is accurate
with the exception of the matters identified in
respect of the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment
Team gatekeeping indicator described in Annex
3 of the report.

Research has shown that there is a high
correlation between engaged staff and the
provision of good quality care to patients and
we want to maintain a focus on this. One of
the highlights for me over the past year was
our Recognition Awards where we had the
opportunity to acknowledge the tremendous
work of colleagues across the whole
organisation. This recognised how our staff
day in and day out put our values into action
and make a difference to our patients and their
families. For the first time, we also recognised
the 18 colleagues who have worked at Oxleas
for 30 years or more and the significant
contribution they have made.

emorandum.
Signed by

Ben Travis
Chief Executive

Looking forward to the coming year we are
determined to focus on continuous quality
improvement and we are embarking on
an organisational-wide scale of Quality
Improvement. Over the years we have had great
examples of quality improvement across various
services of the Trust but we want to enable
every service and team to embed this as culture
and make it the way we do things in Oxleas.

25 May 2017

I am delighted that we have ended the year on
a positive note and this is acknowledged in our

85

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Quality Accounts 2015/16
Quality Accounts
Section three

Part 2

Last year, we listened to our members, staff
and the public and took on board feedback to
simplify our quality goals and ensure that they
were clear and easy to understand.

2.0 Quality Priorities for
Improvement

Quality objective 1
Ensure we meet our patient promise

In this section of our Quality accounts, we
provide an update on our priorities for improvement
and statements of assurance from our Trust board.

Quality objective 2
Ensure we involve families, carers and people
important to our patients

We are committed to delivering good quality
care and have worked in partnership with our
staff, patients, carers, members, commissioners,
GPs and others to identify areas for
improvement. Our Quality Account gives us an
opportunity to share our performance against
our priority areas for 2016/17, describe our
priority areas for 2017/18 and showcase notable
and innovative practice that has taken place
across our services this year.

Quality objective 3
Ensure we involve patients in planning
their care and they have a care plan that is
personal to them
Quality objective 4
Ensure we put the safety of our patients first
Quality objective 5
Ensure we provide care in line with national
best practice and guidelines

2.1 Review of our how
we did: Progress against
2016/17 priorities

Quality objective 6
Ensure we routinely measure clinical
outcomes so that we know that our care
makes a difference to patients

We have highlighted below our performance
against last year’s goals which cover the three
quality domains of patient experience, patient
safety and clinical effectiveness. We determine
our quality goals through a variety of processes:

Where available, we have included data from
previous years’ quality reports for comparison
and to evidence progress. However based on
changes made to our quality goals last year
this would be the first year of reporting on
some indicators. With the exception of national
surveys or audits, we use information from our
electronic patient record, RiO, our staff training
database and local audits or surveys to measure
achievement of our priorities. We have also
included what performance data is determined
by local or national definitions.

•
Our regular quality review meetings with our
• commissioners
Feedback from patients who have used our
• services
Regular review by clinical staff at our Quality
• Committee
and associated quality sub-groups
Our annual borough based focus groups
across Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich
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Section three

Quality Accounts
2.2 Our performance against
our Quality Objectives

Our local performance has not been compared
to other Trusts. Comparable data for national
priorities are presented in Table 10, section 2.5.
For ease of reference, a glossary of all terms
and acronyms used is provided at the end of the
report. We also aim to show our performance in
comparison to the last 5 years where this data is
available.

2.2.1 Quality Objective
1 – Meeting our patient
promise

We have used the following colours to denote
how well we performed against the quality
priorities:

Meeting our patient promise forms the
foundation of our patient experience goals and
is in line with the trust’s 4 ‘must do priorities.
Our performance for 2016/17 is shown below
(the data source is from the results of our
internal patient experience surveys):

Green/Achieved
This means the target set has been
achieved
	Amber/Mostly Achieved
This means our 2016/17 performance
is 5% or less below the set target
	
Red/Not achieved
This means our 2016/17 performance
is 6% or more below the set target
Our trust quality objectives for 2016/17 cover
23 quality goals; the table below summarises
our achievement for this year:
Table 1
Achieved

21 (91%)

Mostly Achieved)

2 (9%)

Not achieved

0 (0%)

Total

23
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ACS

CYP

Adult Community
Health Services

Children &
Young People

To ensure 90% of patients surveyed are
reporting they have been provided with
enough information about care and
treatment?

96%

94%

98% 90% 99% 97%

97% 98%

97%

To ensure 90% of patients surveyed are
reporting that they been involved in
decisions about their care and treatment?

95%

97%

96% 88% 98% 95%

96% 97%

97%

99% 99%

98%

Patient Experience
Quality Improvement Goal for 2016/17

To ensure 90% of patients surveyed are
reporting that staff have treated them with 98%
dignity and respect?

99% 99%

95%

99% 99%

Trust-wide Position
2016/17

Trust-wide position
2014/15

F&P

Trust-wide Position
2015/16

OPMH
(Older People
Mental Health)

ALD

Comparison over
the last 3 years

Adult Learning
Disabilities

AMH

Forensic & Prisons

Service Directorate Summary
for 2015/16

Quality Accounts

AMH (Adult
Mental Health)

Table 2

Section three

To ensure 90% of patients surveyed are
reporting that they have been helped as a
result of the care and treatment they have
received

92%

97%

89%

82%

96% 96%

94% 97%

95%

To ensure 90% of patients surveyed are
reporting that their carer/family have been
supported

84% 98%

87%

91%

93% 98%

91% 96%

91%

*New indicator: To ensure 90% of patients
who reported that they wanted friends/
relatives involved in their care/treatment
did feel that they were involved

91% 100% 98% 100% 97% 96%

Friends and Family Test - To ensure 90%
of patients surveyed are reporting that
they would recommend our service to
friends and family if they need similar care
or treatment
FFT (% recommend & % not recommend)

Total number of responses

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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96%

Recommended

85%

78% 90% 72%

97% 90%

91%

95%

95%

5%

3%

1%

3%

1%

0%

3%

16%

2%

Not recommend

2,503 254
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709

399 4,559 1,597 10,021 9745

Our 2016/17 overall trust performance shows
that we have achieved over 90% of patients who
respond to our surveys reporting that they have
been provided with enough information about
their care and treatment, have been involved in
decisions about their care and treatment, staff
have treated them with dignity and respect,
that they have been helped as a result of the
care and treatment they have received, friends/
relatives involved in their care/treatment feel
that they were involved; and that they would
recommend our service to friends and family if
they need similar care or treatment . However
exceptions can be seen in Forensic & Prison
services for the FFT question, involvement in
decisions about care and treatment or being
helped as a result of care that they have
received. Some exceptions are also seen in Adult
Learning Disability and Adult Mental Health for
the FFT question.

engage with families, carers and the support
network of patients.
Year on year, we have seen a steady increase
in the number of patients responding to our
patient experience surveys however this only
accounts for approximately 6.5% of patients
who are on the Oxleas caseload (we have on
average 154,500 patients open to Oxleas at any
one time). We want to focus on this in 2017/18
and engage more patients to tell us how they
have experienced the services received. This
will be a priority area for the Trust Patient
Experience Group.

2.2.2 Quality Objective
2 – Involving families, carers
and people important to our
patients

We continue to review performance against
these goals in the Trust and local directorate
patient experience groups, ensuring we focus
on what we can do to positively engage and
work with patients and those important to
them. Identified services also have plans in
place to improve on the areas that have been
highlighted.

In 2016/17, we launched a new carers and
support network strategy which took into
account our wider range of services; helping
us to identify and meet the needs of carers
in our community health services as well as
in our mental health and learning disability
services. We also had an additional focus of
identifying young carers and ensuring we can
adequately provide useful information around
local young carers support services and signpost
to where they can get additional help. We had
two goals under this quality objective and our
performance against these are provided below

Following a review of feedback to our internal
patient experience survey, we adapted the
family/carer indicator from ‘patients reporting
whether their carer/family had been supported’
to ‘patients reporting that, if they had wanted
their friends/relatives involved in their care/
treatment, were they involved’. Our view was
that the previous version of the question was
not easily answered by service users who might
not necessarily have knowledge of the support
that their carer/family had received. The revised
version of the question is consistent with the
purpose of our strategy to ensure our staff
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Quality Objective 2 –
Involving families, carers
and people important to
our patients

Oxleas 2016/17 achievement

To ensure 80% of patients
have their support
network identified and
noted within their care
record (Data source - RiO)

86% of patients seen by Oxleas have details of their
support network or carer noted within their care
record

We will develop
a Children and Young
Carers’ Resource Pack

In response to one of the goals in our carers and
support network strategy, we have had a big push
to identify young carers and we have worked with a
focus group of secondary school aged young people
and consulted with various young carers projects to
develop a resource pack.

Section three

Quality Accounts
Status

Agreement on actions and support to achieve
• good
outcomes and also enable effective risk

of information and guidance
• toProvision
the patient, in a language/format that

Encouragement and support to empower
• individuals
to self-manage wherever possible.
Developing a plan and where possible
• agreeing
the goals, outcomes and review

management.

supporting care planning

Based on feedback, we have developed this resource
as an online young carer information website, which
acts as a valuable resource for signposting young
people -www.oxleasyoungcarers.co.uk.

Achieved

they understand and adhere to accessible
information standards where applicable.

Agreement on treatment options, including
• medication
and other interventions.

dates of the treatment options and the care
being delivered.

In terms of the indicators chosen for this 2016/17 objective, we have detailed
our performance below:
Table 4
Achieved

We are also currently working to have information on
local young carer’s projects to be added to our School
Nurses app.

2.2.3 Quality Objective
3 – Involving patients in
planning their care and that
they have a care plan that is
personal to them

understand and resolve issues identified
with RiO (our clinical records system), provide
essential training that creates confidence and
assurance on how to engage patients effectively
and worked in partnership with service users
to understand the best way to improve
engagement.

Ensuring that patients are involved in
discussions and decisions about their care
and have a plan that is personal to them
remains a key quality priority for Oxleas. We
have implemented over the last few years
a transforming personalised care planning
programme, working with clinicians to

As part of our personalising care planning
strategy, we have agreed 7 principles that all our
staff should abide by:
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the family support networks
• ofIdentifying
patients in order to involve them in

Recognition of the individual’s strengths
• and
goals, taking into account their personal

Clinical
Effectiveness
Quality Goal for
2016/17

Services
Applicable to

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

Data
source

To ensure 95%
of our patients
will have a
recorded care
plan on RiO

All Oxleas
Services

96.2%

95%

98.70%

98.60%

99.30%

RiO – local
definition

To ensure 95%
of our patients
on CPA will
receive a 6
monthly review

Mental Health
(AMH, OPMH,
CAMHS & ALD,
Forensic and
Prisons)

94.3%

95.10%

97.20%

96.40%

96%

RiO – local
definition

As noted in the above table, our overall performance for the quality indicator ‘ensuring patients
on CPA have a 6 monthly review is 0.7% under the 95% target. We have set ourselves the internal
target of CPA reviews being completed every 6 months as a means to meet the national target of
CPA reviews being completed every 12 months. We have met the 12 month CPA review national
target and our performance is 99.7% for 2016/17.

wishes.
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2.2.4 Quality Objective
4 – Ensure we put the safety
of our patients first

Section three

Quality Accounts

We have also included the following additional areas
for improvement focus in 2017/18:

• Suicide prevention
• Restrictive practice*
• Ligature management

We remain committed to improving the safety
of health care and continue with our sign up to
safety 5 areas of focus:

These areas will be monitored by Improvement groups
which will report to the Trust Safety Committee on
progress and measures of success.

•
• Pressure ulcers
the physical deterioration of
• Preventing
people with enduring mental illness
risk and harm of violence in our
• Reducing
mental health settings (safer wards initiative)
an open and honest culture
• Support
throughout the Trust (duty of candour)
Falls

* Restrictive practice is defined as deliberate acts on the part of other
person(s) that restrict an individual’s movement, liberty and / or freedom
to act independently in order to:
	• take immediate control of a dangerous situation where there is a real
possibility of harm to the person or others if no action is undertaken;
and
	• end or reduce significantly the danger to the person or others; and
• contain or limit the person’s freedom for no longer than is necessary
Department of Health, April 2014

In terms of the indicators chosen for this 2016/17
objective, we have detailed our performance below:

Quality Objective 4 – Ensure
we put the safety of our
patients first

Services
2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 Data source
Applicable to

To ensure 80% of staff
are trained in level 1
safeguarding children

All Oxleas
93.10% 98.30% 97.30% 94.80% 95.50%
Services

Local Oxleas
Training
database

To ensure 80% staff
are trained in level 2
safeguarding children

All Oxleas
95.90% 95.10% 90.30% 88.90% 87.80%
Services

Local Oxleas
Training
database

To ensure 80% of staff
are trained in level 3
safeguarding children

All Oxleas
89.10% 89.80% 86.90% 84.30% 87.00%
Services

Local Oxleas
Training
database

To ensure 80% of staff are
trained in safeguarding
adults

All Oxleas
92.30% 98.10% 95.60% 95.80%
Services

Local Oxleas
Training
database

* 48 Hour Follow up – additional detail

Table 5 - Our performance against patient safety quality improvement goals
Quality Objective 4 – Ensure
we put the safety of our
patients first

Services
2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 Data source
Applicable to

To ensure 95% of patients
on CPA are followed up
within 7 days of discharge
from hospital

Mental
Health
Services

97.00% 97.40% 97.30% 98.60% 99.60%

To ensure 100% of patients
admitted to hospital
following an episode of selfharm are followed up within
48 hours of discharge *

Mental
Health
Services

97.50% 95.70% 96.80% 95.90%

To maintain no incidences
of MRSA

All Oxleas
Services

Maintain no more than
6 incidents of Clostridium
Difficile reportable
infections

All Oxleas
Services
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0

0

1

4
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0

2

0

3

RiO - National
definition (NHS
Improvement)

100%

RiO – Local
definition

0

Datix - National
definition (NHS
Improvement)

0

Datix - National
definition (NHS
Improvement)

48 hour follow up is a local indicator that has
been monitored by the Trust for approximately
10 years. It is seen as an important factor in
helping to further reduce the risk of suicide after
discharge from hospital. The aim is for our Crisis
& Home Treatment teams (CHTT) to follow up
all patients admitted to hospital following an
attempt at suicide within 48 hours of discharge
to ensure they are safe in the immediate
period following their discharge. For 2016/17
performance, we are under our 100% target by
2.5%; however the last 2 months performance
has been at 100%. The reported breaches are as
a result of human error where a member of staff
has not made a referral to CHTT to undertake

the follow up within 48 hours. Our review of the
data shows that these patients are eventually
followed up but outside of the 48 hour target,
with majority of patients being seen within 72
to 96 hours. In order to overcome the human
error factor, we have worked with Servelec who
provide RiO (our electronic care record) to help
design a prompt on the electronic system. This
will create a flag for patients who do not yet
have a 48 hour follow up booked on the system
and have been coded as admitted for selfharm. The prompt will act as a reminder to the
discharging clinician to refer the patient to CHTT
and book a follow-up appointment.
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2.2.5 Quality Objective
5 – Providing care in line with
national best practice and
guidelines

we have provided the numbers of national audits
that we have participated, however we would
like to highlight below a summary of one the
national POMH (Prescribing Observatory for
Mental Health) audits that we have participated
in:

This objective is in line with one of our trust
values which is to ensure excellence in
everything that we do and provision of services
and delivering care in line with national best
practice and guidelines is essential to us
achieving this.

Re-audit of prescribing for substance misuse –
alcohol detoxification
Some patients admitted to our wards have
problems with alcohol dependence. Acute
alcohol withdrawal, if untreated or suboptimally managed, can be a life threatening
condition with a risk of seizures, delirium
tremens, and in extreme cases, preventable
deaths. If parenteral (injectable) thiamine
is not administered, there is a risk of the
rare but serious complication of Wernicke’s
encephalopathy, which can lead to permanent
brain damage. NICE guidelines set out a series of
recommendations for best practice in diagnosis,
assessment and management of alcohol
dependence and related complications. One of
these recommendations is that all patients who
receive medically assisted withdrawal in hospital
should receive parenteral thiamine.

There are 3 quality goals under objective 5:

in national audits that permit
• Engaging
benchmarking such as POMH UK and the NHS
Benchmarking network in 2016/17

using NICE guidelines & quality
• Routinely
standards and audit our practice and services
against these standards

in the national programme of
• Participating
improving the physical health of patients

with serious mental illness (SMI) and achieve
the set targets of comprehensive cardiometabolic risk assessment using the Lester
Tool and interventions in patients at high risk.

The aims of this re-audit were to compare
prescribing practice locally in absolute terms
with the recommendations made by NICE,
compare practice in relative terms with that
other mental health Trusts, and to determine
if there have been any changes in practice
since the baseline audit conducted 18 months
previously. The standards for the audit included
(1) The decision to undertake acute alcohol
detoxification of an inpatient should be informed
by a documented assessment of drinking history
and current daily alcohol intake and a physical
examination, carried out on admission; (2). Blood
tests relevant to the identification of alcoholrelated physical health problems should be
carried out during the admission. (3). Thiamine

2.2.5.1 Engaging in
national audits that permit
benchmarking such as
POMH UK and the NHS
Benchmarking network in
2016/17
As an organisation we have made every effort to
participate in national audits as soon as we are
aware and that they are applicable to the
services we provide to patients. In section 2.4.1
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should be prescribed parenterally for inpatients
in acute alcohol withdrawal.

having to remember to prescribe this
treatment, the doctor would have to
consciously cross out this prescription. This
should make it easier to do the right thing.

Our results from the baseline audit indicated
that, although we ensured parenteral
(injectable) thiamine was administered to
most eligible patients, there was scope for
improvement. We therefore changed our
inpatient prescription template for alcohol
detoxification to include parenteral thiamine
as a standard treatment; instead of a doctor

We are pleased to report that at re-audit, all
thiamine was prescribed parenterally and a
higher proportion of our patients received
this treatment.

Figure 7: Performance in the national sample and you Trust against audit standard 5 during
admission for alcohol detoxification at basline and re-audit.
For the total national sample (TNS), the sample size was n=1,143 and for your Trust it was n=56.

100%

Proportion of patients

Quality Accounts 2015/16
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90%

Not Prescribed

80%

Prescribed only

70%

Prescribed parenterally

60%

Trust 027 Prescribed
parenterally

50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Baseline

Re- audit

Prescription of thlamine
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– guidance for conditions which are
• Relevant
directly applicable to a directorate or service,

2.2.5.3 Participation in the
national programme of
improving the physical health
of patients with serious
mental illness (SMI)

and of which all practitioners should have
regard when planning or delivering a service

information only - guidance that provides
• For
supplemental, auxiliary information to a

•

directorate or service, but that is not directly
applicable

Over the last 3 years, Oxleas has participated
in the national programme of improving
the physical health of patients with SMI,
and prior to that we were involved in the
local quality programme. Patients with SMI
like schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and
schizoaffective disorder die about 15-20 years

Not relevant – guidance that is not applicable
to any directorate or service.

We have also developed and implemented a
“NICE Quality Standards and Guidance Cabinet”
for mental health, learning disability and

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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50

1

98%
(49/50)

42

3

93%
(39/42)

(47/50)

Community
Mental
Health
Services

100

19

81%
(81/100)

87

15

83%
(72/87)

71%
(71/100)

65%

Early
Intervention
in Psychosis

75

2

97%
(73/75)

66

4

94%
(62/66)

92%
(69/75)

90%

225

22

90%
(203/225)

195

22

Total

97

94%

National target 2016/17

Inpatient
services

% Overall Compliance

% Interventions
Compliance

Each year, the Trust CEG chooses a range of
audits specific to NICE guidance which are
audited as part of our annual Clinical audit
programme. This helps us check our practice
against national guidance. We have provided
some examples in section 2.4.1

No. of clients with
one or more missing
interventions

The Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness Group (CEG)
is the corporate committee tasked with
ensuring that there is trust wide discussion
and implementation of clinically effective
and evidence based practice. At each Trust
CEG meeting we monitor and grade all
newly published/reviewed NICE guidance by
directorate CEGs for relevance to services.
Guidance is graded as being “Relevant”, “For
information only” or “Not relevant” to services:

In terms of our 2016/17 goal, we took part in
the national audit and have submitted our audit
results to the national programme but await
the results from the national team. However
we have undertaken a local assessment of our
achievement on the national indicators, our
results of this assessment are shown below:

No of clients with one
or more interventions
needed

One of the requirements of the Care Quality
Commission is for all healthcare organisations
to take into account nationally agreed guidance
when planning and delivering treatment and
care. Implementing NICE guidance helps to
ensure consistent improvements in people’s
health and equal access to health care it also
helps us ensure that patients receive effective
treatment and care that conforms to nationally
agreed best practice.

and in the instances where patients have not
engaged or attended annual physical health
checks with their GPs in primary care, we have
put in place physical health clinics.

% Screening Compliance

The Cabinet lists, by directorate, all relevant NICE
Quality Standards and NICE guidance types, and
also lists separately all NICE Quality Standards
and NICE guidance relating to integrated
physical and mental health care. Listing
guidance in this way means that staff only
see guidance which is relevant to their clinical
practice, whilst also collecting all integrated
healthcare guidance in one place. The Cabinet
provides access to Positive Practice Prompts/Key
Priorities for Implementation Summaries (PPPs/
KPIS) and a range of learning resources, as well
as the full-text versions of guidance. PPPs/KPIS
provide a “clinical bottom line”, summarising the
main points of a guideline and their implications
for practice.

earlier than the general population due to
an increased risk of treatable physical health
conditions such as diabetes and coronary
heart disease. Our aim is to improve the
physical health care of our patients with SMI
by ensuring that they have a comprehensive
cardio-metabolic risk assessment, have access
to the necessary treatments/interventions and
the results are recorded in their care record
and shared appropriately with the patient, the
treating clinical teams and the GP. In order to
ensure that all patients have ease of access

No. of clients not
screened for one or
more of the
7 indicators

community health services which are available
to all members of staff via a shortcut placed on
trust PC desktops.

Quality Accounts

Total no of clients in
national sample

2.2.5.2 Using NICE guidelines
& quality standards and audit
our practice and services
against these standards

Section three

Oxleas Services

Quality Accounts 2015/16
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90%

89%
83%
(173/195) (187/225)
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participation to as many clinical
• Extend
teams as possible (i.e. those that can collect

2.2.6 Quality Objective
6 – Ensure we routinely
measure clinical outcomes
(how our care makes a
difference to patients)

paired outcomes)

this work to the Trust’s overarching
• Link
agenda for Quality Improvement
Building on the experience of the participating
teams thus far, we will extend outcomes
measurement to other eligible teams in each
directorate. The intention is to have all teams
that can collect paired outcomes to be doing
so by the end of the year. Where necessary, we
will also support teams to increase their data
acquisition rates to statistically meaningful
levels.

This year, our goal was to roll out the clinical
outcomes project to all of our clinical service
directorates. The main aim was for each
directorate to agree and implement at least
one set of paired outcomes measurement as a
normal way of practice, to help ascertain how
our care had made a difference to patients.
Each directorate had to agree which teams
would participate and what outcome measures
they would use. The teams worked closely with
the informatics department to develop data
capture processes that could then be displayed
in electronic dashboards, so the data could be
analysed and reported in a more timely and
accessible format. This is a definite improvement
from manual analysis, and is an additional
incentive for staff to get involved.

Accessible and relevant outcomes data is an
important foundation to delivering high quality
services. In addition to data capture and
reporting therefore, the next phase is to engage
with frontline teams to develop their quality
improvement capability. This work will include
identifying:

• Who gets better (and who does not)
• Why are they getting better (or why not)
• What is helping or missing from services?
• How do we use the data to improve services?

The initial phase has achieved its main aim
across all our services - Adult Mental Health
(AMH), Older People’s Mental Health (OPMH),
Adult Learning Disability (ALD), Children and
Young People (CYP), Adult Community (ACS) and
Forensic Services (F&P). The pace on roll-out is
set to increase in 2017/18, with the goal that
every single clinical team across all services
will be able to visualise and discuss their paired
outcome data on our electronic systems.

We will identify and develop the necessary
skills in our clinical teams and managers to
enable them to make best use of their data
for improving their service. This will be done
through a program of discovery and coaching,
with the aim of understanding local service and
patient issues in order to support professional
development and service design.

Having developed outcome data collection
processes across the first wave of teams,
together with the supporting informatics
infrastructure, the next phase is twofold:

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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The longer-term vision is for outcomes data to
be a core consideration throughout the Trust
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Through the realisation of this programme,
clinical outcomes will be routinely used at every
level of the organisation to inform professional
standards and clinical pathways. More generally,
data measurement, reporting and analysis will
be a core capability across clinical teams as
part of their portfolio of Quality Improvement
initiatives.

There has been overwhelming support
for Oxleas to continue with the 6 quality
objectives as stated below. Our Quality
objectives come under the 3 quality domains
of patient experience, patient safety and
clinical effectiveness. Our priority areas have
been influenced by our public forums, our
engagement with our local and national
commissioners, through our quality meetings,
our council of governors, patient groups such as
Healthwatch, feedback from patient experience
surveys and lessons learned from incidents.
We also engage with staff at away days, staff
meetings and annual planning events.

2.3 Our Quality improvement
priorities for 2017/18
Our purpose is to improve lives by providing the
best quality health and social care for service
users and their carers. Each year we work in
partnership with our service users’, carers,
members, staff and commissioners to identify
what our quality priorities should be. This year
we consulted with our members and the public
at the annual Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich
focus groups held in February 2017. At these
groups, we gave an update on our achievement
so far, if we should continue with our 6 Quality
Objectives and if there were other areas they
would like us to consider. This same process was
carried out with staff at our Quality Governance
Groups.
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Table 7

Table 7 continued
Service Area
applicable to

Quality Objective

Quality Indicator

Quality Objective 1:
Ensure we meet our patient
promise

To ensure 90% of patients
surveyed are reporting they
have been provided with enough
information about care and
treatment

All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 90% of patients
surveyed are reporting that they
have been involved in decisions
about their care and treatment

All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 90% of patients
surveyed are reporting that staff
have treated them with dignity
and respect

All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 90% of patients
surveyed are reporting that they
would recommend our service to
friends and family if they need
similar care or treatment

Quality Objective 2:
Ensure we involve families,
carers and people important
to our patients

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Quality
Domain

Patient
Experience

Quality Objective

Quality Indicator

Quality objective 3:
Ensure we involve patients
in planning their care and
they have a care plan that is
personal to them

To ensure 95% of our patients will
have a recorded care plan on RiO

Quality objective 4:
Ensure we put the safety
of our patients first

We will continue our improvement
focus on our sign up to safety
plan and the identified additional
areas for 2017/18

To ensure 95% of our patients
on CPA will receive a 12 monthly
review

Service Area
applicable to

Quality
Domain

All Oxleas
Services
Mental
Health (AMH,
OPMH,CAMHS
& LD)
Forensic &
Prisons

Clinical
Effectiveness

• Falls
All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 90% of patients
surveyed are reporting that their
quality of life has improved as a
result of the care and treatment
that they have received

All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 90% of patients who
reported that they wanted
friends/relatives involved in their
care/treatment did feel that they
were involved

All Oxleas
Services

To ensure 80% of patients have
their support network identified
and noted within their care record

All Oxleas
Services
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• Pressure ulcers
•	Preventing the physical
deterioration of people with
enduring mental illness
•	Reducing risk and harm of
violence in our mental health
settings (safer wards initiative)
•	Support an open and honest
culture throughout the Trust
(duty of candour)
Patient
Experience

• Suicide prevention

All Oxleas
Services

Patient
Safety

Patient
Safety

• Restrictive practice
• Ligature management
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Table 7 continued

2.4 Statements of Assurance
from the Board

2.4.1 Participation in Clinical
Audits

This section includes a number of nationally
mandated statements of assurances from our
trust board

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust uses participation
in national clinical audit programmes and
confidential enquiries as a driver for improvements
in quality. Initiatives like these not only provide
opportunities for comparing practice nationally,
they play an important role in providing
assurances about the quality of our services.
We are committed to ensuring that all clinical
professional groups participate in clinical audit.

Quality Objective

Quality Indicator

Quality objective 5:
Ensure we provide care in
line with national best
practice and guidelines

We will continue to engage
in national audits that permit
benchmarking such as POMH
UK and the NHS Benchmarking
network in 2017/18

• We will participate in the

national programme of
improving the physical health
of patients with SMI

• We will achieve the set targets
of comprehensive cardiometabolic risk assessment
using the Lester Tool and
interventions in patients at
high risk.

Quality objective 6:
Ensure we routinely measure
clinical outcomes so that we
know that our care makes
a difference to patients

Each Oxleas directorate will
continue to implement clinical
outcomes measurement as a
normal way of practice. We will do
this by extending participation to
the clinical teams that can collect
paired outcomes and achieve the
trajectory set by the Trust

Service Area
applicable to

Quality Accounts

Quality
Domain

All Oxleas
Services

During 2016/17, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
provided and/or sub-contracted seven relevant
health services covering the following service lines:

Clinical
Mental Health Effectiveness
Services:
Inpatients, EIP
and Community
Mental Health
Teams

All Oxleas
Services

Clinical
Effectiveness

• Adult Mental Health (inpatient and community)
Peoples Mental Health (inpatient and
• Older
community)
Learning Disabilities (inpatient and
• Adult
community)
and Young people (mental health,
• Children
community and specialist children)
Community Health (inpatient and
• Adult
community)
Forensic Mental Health (inpatient
• Specialist
and community)
• Prison health care (Kent and Greenwich)

During 2016/17, 14 national clinical audits and
24 national confidential enquiry covered NHS
services that Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
provides.
During this period, Oxleas participated in 100%
of the national clinical audits and 92% of
national confidential enquiries of the national
clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Oxleas was eligible
to participate in during 2016/17 are as follows in
tables 8 and 9 below.

Mental health and adult learning disability
services are provided across the London
boroughs of Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich;
in addition to this, our specialist forensic
services also take referrals from any area
nationally if clinically appropriate. Community
health services are provided across Bexley and
Greenwich and we provide health services to
prisons across Greenwich and Kent.

The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust participated in during 2016/17
are as follows in table 8 and 9 below
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Oxleas participated
in, and for which data collection was completed
during 2016/17, are listed below alongside
the number of cases submitted to each audit
or enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that
audit or enquiry.

Oxleas has reviewed all the data available to
them on the quality of care in all seven of these
relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health
services reviewed in 2016/17 represents 100% of
the total income generated from the provision of
relevant health services by Oxleas for 2016/17.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Table 8

Table 9

No.

National clinical audit title 2016/17

1

Quality Accounts

Participation
(yes/no)

Number
of cases
submitted

% of cases
submitted

Topic 15a - Prescribing valproate for bipolar disorder
(POMH)

Yes

182

N/A

2

Topic 14b - Prescribing for substance misuse:
alcohol detoxification (POMH)

Yes

56

N/A

3

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)

Yes

231

4

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(COPD) Audit Programme

Yes

34

N/A

5

Topic 11c - Prescribing antipsychotic medication for
people with dementia (POMH)

Yes

333

N/A

6

Topic 7e - Monitoring of patients prescribed Lithium
(POMH)

Yes

150

N/A

7

Topic 16a - Rapid Tranquilisation audit (POMH)

Yes

60

N/A

8

Topic 1g & 3d - Prescribing high dose and combined
antipsychotics (POMH)

Yes

258

N/A

9

Early Intervention in Psychosis (Pilot)

Yes

49

N/A

10

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation (NACR)

Yes

7793

N/A

11

Early Intervention in Psychosis (Full Audit)

Yes

325

100%

12

Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme
(LeDeR)

Yes

04

100%

13

Maternal, Newborn & Infant Clinical Outcome
Review Programme (MBRRACE)

Yes

0

100%

14

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme

Yes

39

N/A

2

As of date of writing 23 cases have been submitted to this program. This is expected to increase substantially before
the annual deadline for this program in May 2017.
2
This is the count of cases that are eligible, and consented to inclusion in the audit, however final submission is not until
July 2017, and therefore this number is subject to change.
3
For this financial year we are only providing summary data, not complete patient level data. Required adjustments have
been made, and in future years we will be making a complete submission.
4
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust started participating in LeDeR on 20th March 2017. There were no reportable deaths
between this date, and the end of the 2016/17 financial year.
1

Additional Notes to table 8:
POMH – Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health
N/A means that the organising body did not stipulate how many cases must be submitted to meet the audit requirements
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No.

National Enquiries (2016/17)

1

Mental health clinical outcome review
programme (National Confidential Inquiry into
Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental
Illness)

Participation
(yes/no)

Number
of cases
submitted

% of cases
submitted

Yes

24

100%

of people referred with suspected
• Percentage
first episode in psychosis (FEP) in the last 3

The reports of eight national clinical audits were
reviewed by Oxleas in 2016/17 and we intend
to take the following actions to improve the
quality of healthcare provided. All national and
trust wide priority audits are reviewed at the
Trust Clinical Effectiveness Group ( a sub-group
of the Trust Quality Committee) where results
are presented and action plans are agreed
for each applicable service. We undertake
a review of actions to ensure that these are
completed in a timely manner and have met
the recommendations set; furthermore we
participate in re-audits to check compliance
with standards. We have provided one example
of a national audit reviewed by the Trust Clinical
Effectiveness Group.

months that were allocated and engaged
with an EIP care coordinator within 2 weeks
of referral

• Uptake of CBT for psychosis
• Uptake of family interventions
• Uptake of supported employment programmes
• Completion of physical health assessments

The one standard where Oxleas fell short of the
national average was:
of service users on the caseload
• Percentage
for whom two or more outcome measures

(from HONOS/ HONOSCa, DIALOG and QPR)
were recorded at least twice (assessment and
one other time point)

2.4.1.1 Early Intervention in
Psychosis (EIP) National Audit

Building on this work Oxleas’ EIP teams have
a clear plan for further improvement including
such actions as:

Following updated guidance for EIP services
in April 2016 a national audit was performed
to assess EIP services’ adherence to this new
guidance. All cases open to EIP were audited
(N=325).The three adult EIP teams within Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust exceeded the national
average in 11 out of the 12 standards for
which national data is available including such
standards as:

1.	Joint working protocols to be developed
between adult and child and adolescent teams.
2.	Adjustments to be made to the outcome
measures regime and bring this in line with
new requirements.
3.	Further training in CBT in psychosis and relevant
family intervention training to be given.
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matrons are recommended to
• Modern
complete spot checks twice monthly on ward

2.4.2 Trustwide Clinical
Audit Programme

round entries to ensure that consent is being
sought for on- going observation levels.

The reports of 28 local clinical audits were
reviewed by Oxleas in 2016/17 and we intend to
take the following actions to improve the quality
of healthcare provided. Recommendations and
action plans to improve the quality of healthcare
provided have been agreed across each of our
directorates. We continue to maintain a focus
on improving clinical practice in accordance with
national and local guidance. We have provided
a summary below on one of our local priority
clinical audits.

are encouraged to include as a
• Managers
matter of routine the principles of the MCA
within their supervision sessions.

MCA lead to explore creation of a
• Trust
system whereby MCA related incidents are

subject of reflective practice sessions and
subject to embedded learning events across
the Trust.

e-learning to be made a regular
• MCA
requirement for clinical staff.

2.4.2.1 Mental Capacity
Act (MCA) Audit

Copies of completed audit reports (inclusive
of recommendations and action plans) can be
requested from:

In January 2016 an audit based on the contents
of the MCA was conducted in inpatient areas
in Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. Following the
results of this audit various actions took place to
improve staff adherence to the MCA including:

Quality & Governance Department
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG

• Face to face MCA workshops
round templates designed to prompt
• Ward
staff in relation to the MCA
leaflets written to advise
• Information
staff, patients and relatives of the various

Tel: 01322 625770

2.4.3 Participation in Clinical
Research

provisions of the MCA

have also been updated and
• Policies
protocols designed and put in place to ensure

The number of patients receiving relevant health
services provided or sub-contracted by Oxleas
in 2016/17 that were recruited during that
period to participate in national research studies
approved by a research ethics committee was
154. We have also hosted 52 locally initiated
service evaluations and 6 locally initiated formal
research studies across our services.

compliance with MCA principles

A further audit was conducted in December
2016 which showed an improvement of staff
adherence to the principles of the MCA. This
audit was expanded to include community areas
within Oxleas. Further actions were provided to
ensure additional improvements including:

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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2.4.5 Registration with the
Care Quality Commission
(CQC)

Our on-going participation in clinical research
both national and local demonstrates our
commitment to improving the quality of care
we offer and our contribution to wider health
improvement. It allows our service users and
carers access novel treatments that are not
available as routine NHS care and also provides
an opportunity for our clinical staff to be trained
in providing them.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is required to
register with the Care Quality Commission and
its current registration status is ‘Registered with
no conditions applied’.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken
enforcement action against Oxleas during
2016/17.

2.4.4 Quality Improvement
and Innovation Goals agreed
with Commissioners

Oxleas has not participated in any special
reviews or investigations by the CQC during the
reporting period. However we have participated
in a comprehensive inspection and the outcome
and further detail is provided in section 3.

A proportion of Oxleas income in 2016/17 was
conditional upon achieving quality improvement
and innovation goals agreed between Oxleas
and any person or body we have entered into
a contract, agreement or arrangement with for
the provision of relevant health services, through
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
payment framework. Further details of the
agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following
12 month period are available electronically
from our Quality and Governance Department
(oxl-tr.quality@nhs.net)

2.4.6 Data Quality
Oxleas submitted records during 2016/17 to
the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the
Hospital Episode Statistics, which are included in
the latest published data.
The percentage of records in the published data
that included the patient’s valid NHS Number
was:

Our total 2016/17 CQUIN income conditional
on achieving all the quality improvement and
innovation goals was £3.74m. The assumed
provisional payment dependant on confirmation
from our associated commissioners on achieving
the goals set by the end of March 2017 is
£3.71m. Our total CQUIN income for the previous
year 2015/16 was £3.85m.

• 98.3% for admitted patient care
• 99.8% for outpatient care
for accident and emergency care. (This
• 0%
is not applicable, as Oxleas does not submit
data in relation to accident and emergency
care. This is an acute trust indicator)
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One of our requirements as an NHS Foundation
Trust is to report our performance against a
core set of indicators, which is published by NHS
Digital (an arms-length body of the Department
of Health and are the national provider of
information and data)

2.4.7 Information Governance
Toolkit
Oxleas Information Governance Assessment
Report overall score for 2016/17 was 90% and
was graded ‘green’.

There are 5 indicators, which are relevant to
the services we provide, and our performance
against these indicators are shown below. This is
the latest information published by NHS Digital:

2.4.8 Clinical Coding error rate
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust was not subject
to the Payment by Results clinical coding
audit during the reporting period by the Audit
Commission.

2.4.9 Improving Data Quality
Oxleas will be taking the following actions to
improve data quality:

1 The percentage of
patients on CPA who
were followed up within
7 days after discharge
from psychiatric inpatient care during the
reporting period

Lowest Trust
Performance

2.5 Performance against
National Core Indicators

submit data in relation to accident and
emergency care. This is an acute trust
indicator)

Highest Trust
Performance

*Ifox – This is the Oxleas Business Information System.

National
Average

National
Quality
Indicator

Oxleas
2016/17

an ongoing programme of audit
• Continue
through our Clinical Data Governance Group

Oxleas
2015/16

Table 10

OxleaS
2014/15

data provided to teams and
• Validate
directorates on a monthly basis to ensure
accuracy.

• 100% for admitted patient care
• 100% for outpatient care
for accident and emergency care.
• 0%
(This is not applicable, as Oxleas does not

Quality Accounts

Oxleas
2013/14

The percentage of records in the published
data that included the patient’s valid general
practitioner registration code was:

Section three

Oxleas
2012/13
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97.6%

98.0%

97.5%

99.5%

97.6%

96.7%

100.0%

73.3%

2 The percentage of
admissions to acute
wards for which the
Crisis Resolution Home
Treatment Team acted
as a gatekeeper during
the reporting period.

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

3 Percentage of staff
employed by, or under
contract to, the trust
during the reporting
period who would
recommend the trust
as a provider of care to
their family or friends.

70.0%

4 The trust’s ‘patient
experience of community
mental health services’
indicator score with
8.4/10
regard to a patient’s
experience of contact
with a health or social
care worker during the
reporting period.

to ensure all our clinicians are
• Continue
trained to record effectively on RiO (our
patient electronic clinical system)

our clinician tasklist on Ifox (Information
• Use
for Oxleas)* to check completeness of
recording information on RiO

74%

74%

100%

99.2%

98.7%

100.0%

88.3%

66.5%

75%

55%

75%

(agree +
Str agree)

(agree +
Str agree)

(agree +
Str agree)

65.4%

8.1/10

7.8/10

7.2/10

7.5/10

(combined (combined (combined
MH Trusts) MH Trusts) MH Trusts)

Not
8.1/10
provided

6.9/10

Table continued overleaf
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Lowest Trust
Performance

Highest Trust
Performance

National
Average

Oxleas
2016/17

Oxleas
2015/16

OxleaS
2014/15

Oxleas
2013/14

National
Quality
Indicator

Oxleas
2012/13

Table 10 continued

Comparison with Mental
5 The number
Rate per
Health Trusts
Not
and where
1000
27.6
51.9
50.4
50.4
Rate per 1000 days
available
available, the
days
= not provided nationally
rate of patients
safety incidents
reported within
the trust during
the reporting
period, and the
Severe
number and
12
32
27
27
45
harm
0.30%
0%
4.45%
percentage of
or
(0.08%) (0.32%) (0.36%) (0.36%) (0.59%)
such patient
Death
safety incidents
that resulted in
severe harm or
death

Please note: The information published above are taken from differing reporting periods by the NHS
Digital, NHS England or the Care Quality Commission
Q1: N
 HS England: Mental Health Community Teams Activity. October – December 2016.
Published 7 February 2017
Q1: N
 HS England: Mental Health Community Teams Activity. October – December 2016.
Published 7 February 2017
Q3: National NHS Staff Survey 2016: NHS England and Picker Institute Europe
Q4: Care Quality Commission: Patient experience of community mental health services.
Published 26 October 2016 http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/community-mental-health-survey
Q5: NHS National Reporting and Learning System, Organisation Patient Safety Incident workbook.
Published November 2016 Data for incidents 1 October 2016 and 31st March 2017

•

For indicators 1 and 2 relevant to the services
we provide shown in table 10 above:
Oxleas considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

data for these indicators are recorded on
• The
RiO and submitted to NHS Digital and NHSI

are NHS Improvement (NHSI) targets
• These
that we report on monthly

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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It meets the NHS Outcomes Framework
domains of preventing people from dying
prematurely and enhances the quality of life
for people with long term conditions
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Staff Survey - Our 2016 staff survey
• National
continues to place us above average and

Oxleas intends to take the following actions to
improve the percentage of 97.6%, and so the
qualities of its services by continuing our focus
of following up patients within 7 days after
discharge from psychiatric in-patient care. Our
aim is to improve this to 100% although we
recognise that there may be occasions when our
staff cannot meet this goal for reasons outside
their control. In terms of ensuring that all of our
admissions to acute wards are gate kept by our
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Teams, we
maintain our focus and improve our position
from 99.2% to 100%.

a high performer compared with other
organisations, however when compared with
previous years there has been a decline from
what is expected. We have engaged with staff
to enquire what we can do better and have
put in place action plans for the identified
areas that require further improvement. Our
Workforce Committee will monitor these and
report to the Board of Directors.

For indicator 5 relevant to the services we
provide shown in table 10 above:

For indicators 3 and 4 relevant to the services
we provide shown in table 10 above:

Oxleas considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

is patient safety information we report to
• This
the National Reporting and Learning System

Oxleas considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

These are based on our involvement in the
• National
Patient and National Staff Surveys
It meets the NHS Outcomes Framework
• domains
of enhancing the quality of life

(NRLS)

meets the NHS Outcomes Framework
• Itdomains
of treating and caring for people in a
safe environment and protecting them from
avoidable harm

for people with long term conditions and
ensuring people have a positive experience of
care

data for this indicator is recorded on
• The
Datixweb (our local incident reporting

data for these indicators are provided by
• The
the CQC and Department of Health
intends to take the following actions
• toOxleas
improve the percentage of 65.4% and

database)

Oxleas intends to take the following actions to
improve the patient safety incidents that result
in severe harm or death and so the quality of its
services, by continuing our focus by reviewing
trends and themes, learning from events and
embedding learning across the Trust. We will
also review all reported deaths at our Mortality
Surveillance Group on a monthly basis.

rate of 7.5 respectively and so the quality of
its services, by continuing our focus on the
following:

Patient Survey - we have put a
• National
robust plan in place to tackle areas that

require further improvement as identified by
the results of the 2016 survey; this is overseen
by our Trust Patient Experience Group.
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Part 3 - Other
Information

3.1 Performance against the
Risk Assessment and Single
Oversight Frameworks (NHS
Improvement)

3. Other Quality Performance
Information

In accordance with NHS Foundation Trusts
requirements from NHS Improvement (NHSI),
we have detailed below our performance
against the NHSI indicators that appear in both
the risk assessment framework (RAF - April
to September 2016) and the single oversight
framework – (SOF - October 2016 to March 2017).
There are 7 indicators applicable to the services
that we provide and our performances against
these are provided below:

In this section of the Quality Accounts we
present other information relevant to the quality
of the services provided in 2016/17
In the earlier part of our report (please see
section 2.2), we have presented how we have
performed against the 2016/17 quality priorities
with reference to our performance in previous
years where available. Please do note that one
change was made to the indicators published
in the 2015/16 report. This is the indicator
under Quality Objective 1 – meeting our patient
promise. (Please refer to section 2.2.1 for
further detail)

Quality Accounts
Table 11
Target or Indicator that appear in both
the RAF and SOF

Threshold

2016/17
Performance

1

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral
to treatment (RTT) in aggregate – patients on an
incomplete pathway

92%

97.0%

2

Care Programme Approach (CPA) follow up within 7
days of discharge

95%

97.0%

3

Care Programme Approach (CPA) formal review within
12 months

95%

99.7%

4

Admissions had access to crisis resolution
/ home treatment teams*

95%

99.2%

5

Meeting commitment to serve new psychosis
cases by early intervention teams:
50%

59.0%

75%

99.0%

95%

100.0%

Early intervention in psychosis (EIP): people
experiencing a first episode of psychosis treated with
a NICE-approved care package within two weeks of
referral
6

We have provided statements of assurance
on our national priorities and how we have
performed against the relevant indicators.
We have also looked forward to 2017/18 and
highlighted our quality goals that have been
agreed by our Quality Committee taking into
account the views of our stakeholders to
improve the quality of our services. Not all
areas of focus have been included in our quality
improvement goals as some are aligned to our
service development strategy and our internal
quality improvement initiatives in the Trust.
Progress on these will be reviewed through our
Quality Committee and quality sub-groups:
Patient Experience, Patient Safety and Clinical
Effectiveness.
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Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT):
People with common mental health conditions referred
to the IAPT programme will be treated within 6 weeks
of referral

7

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT):
People with common mental health conditions referred
to the IAPT programme will be treated within 18 weeks
of referral

* Please note that following external audit assurance this figure based on extrapolated sample audit data is 99.2%.
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3.2 Quality Highlights and
Case Studies

children on our caseload, while ensuring we
were meeting the current recommendations on
clinical effectiveness in treatment and long term
management of chronic conditions. These were
children who accessed physiotherapy regularly:

Over the course of the year, we are delighted to
see evidence of good practice and teams going
the extra mile for the benefit of the patient,
making sure we make a difference and improve
lives. These examples are seen and shared as
part of the Board to floor visits or by teams
highlighting what they are proud of. In this
section of our Quality accounts, we would like to
showcase a few examples of good practice from
our services which align to our trust values of
having a user focus, excellence, learning, being
responsive, partnership and safety.

• Children with cerebral palsy (CP), and
• Children with hypermobility syndrome.

As a community service supporting both these
groups of children on a long term basis, it felt
appropriate to develop a forum for children to
continue to access opportunities for tailored
exercise programmes.
What we did
We designed a physiotherapy exercise group, for
children aged 6-16. Whilst the main participants
were children with CP and hypermobility,
the group was open to all children who were
deemed to benefit from inclusion in the group.
The main emphasis of the group was to work
on specific muscle strengthening, through both
targeted and functional exercises, as well as
exercises to improve cardiovascular fitness,
and balance.

3.2.1 ‘Shooting stars’:
Developing an exercise
group for children accessing
children’s physiotherapy
Case for change
It has been well documented over the last decade
that specific strength training can have a positive
impact on function and mobility in children with
mild to moderate cerebral palsy. NICE guidelines
recommend the use of muscle strengthening
therapies as part of a tailored physical therapy
programme for children with spastic cerebral palsy
(CP). Such programmes should be tailored to meet
the individual’s specific goals around enhancing
function and ability.

Each group was run in 6 weekly blocks, and
alternated between a group for Primary school
aged children (named Shooting Stars), and a
group for Secondary school children (named
Fit Beats).
The group was held at Willow Dene Primary
school, facilitated by a Physiotherapist and a
therapy technician. Set in a large hall, the format
saw the space set up into exercise ‘stations’,
with each area designated to a different type of
exercise (e.g. focussing on lower limb strength,
or balance exercises). Children would each have
a personalised exercise programme prescribed
by their referring therapist, and over the session
they would work through their programme at
the various stations, with guidance from the
group therapists as required.

In the case of hypermobility, it has been
demonstrated that children experiencing
pain and fatigue have improved function
and symptoms after carrying out a specific
strengthening exercise programme.
We wanted to explore how we could efficiently
meet the on-going therapy needs of the
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Results of the pilot project
The pilot project was very successful. As a result
of good attendance, excellent feedback, and its
role in effectively managing the clinical demand
on the service, the group has continued as a
rolling programme, forming an integral part
of the Mainstream Core physiotherapy service
within Children’s Therapies. Subjectively, children
reported enjoying the groups and parents
found they were very helpful in improving
the children’s participation in an exercise
programme, with carryover from the group
setting into the home, where this continued.
In line with one of the trust’s quality objectives
of measuring clinical outcomes, we were
able to use select clinical outcomes pre- and
post- group in order to assess the progress of
the children attending and in areas that were
important to them and their families. As an
example, we collected data that showed an
improvement in reported pain scores, exercise
tolerance, functional mobility and balance
in a large number of participants. One of the
biggest successes for us was achieving better
compliance with their programmes, and more
accuracy with how they were carrying out their
exercises, thanks to the regular supervision
provided at the groups by the therapists. Many
of the families who participated requested to
continue attending even after their block had
finished.

A common barrier faced in our intervention
is achieving on-going adherence with
physiotherapy programmes at home. It was
widely recognised from previous user-feedback
that parents can often find it difficult to achieve
good on-going compliance from their children
with physiotherapy programmes. Another
commonly encountered problem is for exercises
to be carried out incorrectly, Due to this we
wanted to design a group that involved the
parent and the child working together, creating
an environment where therapy exercises could
be corrected and monitored by a qualified
physiotherapist, and where parents could
approach the therapist with any questions they
may have. The format was adjusted slightly
for older children, so that, whilst parents were
still present, the programmes were designed to
allow the teenagers to take more independence
in their programmes.
To monitor the child’s progress in their
programme, each child documented their
progress in the exercises during the group.
As a motivating factor for the younger children,
at the end of the 6 week block, every child was
presented with a certificate, outlining their
progress in the programme. Using a responsive
yet simple ‘medal’ system, each child was able
to achieve ‘success’ in this way. The information
gained from this record of progress was
also a simple way of informing the referring
physiotherapist each child’s success in the
programme.
During the very first pilot group, we held
a competition asking for participants to design
a logo and club name for the group. A successful
entry by one of our 9 year old participants
has now made its way onto all our official
documentation for the group, and he was
presented with a club t-shirt featuring the
logo as a thank you.
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What participants of the programme have said:

Child Feedback Younger Group

Child Feedback Teenage Group

Parent Feedback Younger Group

Parent Feedback Teenage Group

Next steps
We are working on feedback from the pilot groups, and are
aiming to develop an illustrated exercise hand-out to accompany
the groups, so that families have a resource to take away once
they have finished at the group, and continue once they have
been discharged from the service.
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3.2.2 Emotional Well-being
Mentor Scheme at HMP
Swaleside

the courses say they are very informative and
help to bring about change in their lives.
Over 170 men have completed these voluntary
courses so far. The mentors now run regular
clinics on the wings to raise awareness of
mental health and offer a place for people to
gain information and sign up for courses.

Case for change
HMP Swaleside is a Category B Training Prison.
It accepts category B prisoners who are serving
4 years or more or have at least 18 months left
to serve. It is a main centre prison for prisoners
in the first stage of their life sentence but also
accepts prisoners in the second stage of their
life sentence.

Results of the mentoring scheme
Feedback from current prisoners who are being
supported by the Emotional Well-being Mentors
(EWB) has shown a reduction in self-harm. From
a sample of 60 mentees, 63% had self-harmed
in the past and 24% were currently using selfharm as a way of coping; of these men 57%
stopped or reduced their self-harming behaviour
since working with the EWB mentors.

The findings of an unexpected inspection by the
HM Chief Inspector of Prisons highlighted areas
where prisoners do not feel safe and the effect
this was having on their well-being and safety.

78% of the same sample of mentees stated
that they had thought of, or attempted suicide
recently (within the past 12 months). Since
receiving support from the EWB mentors, 66%
of these mentees had reduced or stopped
both thoughts and attempts at suicide. Recent
research into the pattern of deliberate self-harm
(DSH) and suicide in prisons supports this (Slade
et al, 2012: Slade & Edelmann, 2013).

What we did
The response to these findings was to roll
out the emotional and well-being mentor
scheme. This scheme is made up of a team of
three full time paid mentors and six voluntary
mentors. Mentors are chosen based on
their desire to help others as well as having
had personal experience of positive mental
health interventions. Each mentor is security
checked and receives training from the Inreach
team surrounding mental health awareness,
understanding Personality disorders and active
listening skills. The team provide support for
prisoners and facilitate psycho educational
courses based on self-help information,
including Anger Management, CBT- low mood
and depression and Facing up to Conflict.

Mentees also say that due to support and
engagement with the EWB Mentors they have
been encouraged to participate in other positive
aspects of the prison or to ask for support from
services they would previously been too anxious
to approach. Furthermore, disruptive behaviour
has decreased with fewer negative entries and
general alarms.

They regularly work over 25 hours a week
giving up their association time to support and
help others that are struggling. The mentors
undertake 1:1 support work for over 300 men.
These courses have proved to be very popular
particularly because they are voluntary and not
on a sentence plan. Men who have completed
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“The EWB mentors have helped
me a lot emotionally, I have
stopped self-harming and I would
like to keep on speaking to the
EWB mentors. Without them I
would probably seriously disfigure
myself or kill myself”.

“They are very good
at stopping a problem
before it’s a crisis. I
wouldn’t be here if it
wasn’t for my EWB”.

“It meant a lot to meI felt so alone, now
know others feel
like me”.

‘‘My mental health has been
a big problem since being
convicted. Having someone
to talk to who understands
as they have been through
the same makes a huge
difference”.

3.2.3 Working in Partnership
to improve social inclusion for
young people with psychosis

non -mental health settings and EI staff attend
and are expected to participate which breaks
down potential barriers between staff & service
users.

Due to stigma & social exclusion, young people
with psychosis can be at risk of losing out on
crucial peer relationships and social interactions
which are a building block of later social
functioning such as work, family relationships
and friendships.

The aim of the project are:

To provide opportunities to develop
• confidence
& build social connections.
• To try out new activities & interests.
To reduce stigma around mental health
• problems.
To provide a structured programme which
• can
be part of a person’s routine.
• To develop new roles & skills.

What we did
Our overall aim was to tackle social exclusion
and support service users who receive a service
from the Early Intervention in Psychosis Team
(EI). The EI team partnered with Charlton
Athletic Community Trust (CACT) to deliver
an exciting and varied programme of weekly
activities including sports, trips, music, film &
drama workshops and lots more. Crucially the
activities are delivered by CACT approved staff in
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Results and Benefits of the programme
Now in its fourth year, the programme has
become integral to the treatment approach
offered to new EI clients. Over 100 service users
have attended in the last year, trying out over
40 different activities. Following each year, a
DVD is released which captures the uniqueness
and fun of the programme:
https://www.youtube.com/atch?v=duDYgITsHU4

Carers have also praised the value of the project
and the impact of seeing family members
engaging in something positive.
What Next?
Currently the project is being evaluated in
partnership with Greenwich University. We are
encouraging involvement as part of people’s
social recovery and also promoting the project
to carers in order to increase participation at
an earlier stage. We are also working closely
with attendees to focus on their individual
goals related, to develop social confidence and
recording these in their care plans. In addition,
we are also using clinical outcome measures
to measure improvements in wellbeing. We are
trying to ensure the continuity of the project
through promotion, evaluation and continued
commitment of the Trust, staff, service users &
carers.

Many of the attendees have gone on to
education, voluntary and paid work and describe
Charlton as giving them the confidence to take
this step. Friendships have been established and
most importantly informal discussions which
help de-stigmatise the experience of psychosis
and reduce social isolation. This peer support
element is something unique to bringing people
together in this way. The project has given
people the chance to develop new skills such as
encouraging others or being assertive which can
be transferred to other situations in life.

Section three
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Patient and Family Feedback

“A chance to make
new friends.”

“Charlton gives me
something to get
up for, something to
look forward to”

“The Charlton project
helps me think more freely
about my illness and not
worry about stigma’..”

“The Charlton Activities
have been a vital part of my
recovery from Psychosis.
The regular sessions gave me
a sense of purpose and really
helped with my mental and
physical well-being”

3.3 Care Quality Commission
(CQC) Inspection

areas found to be good or better and very many
areas of good practice were identified However
it was disappointing that we had been given an
overall trust rating of ‘requires improvement’.
The CQC had assessed three of our services as
requiring improvement - children’s community
services, forensic inpatient wards, mental
health crisis and our adult inpatient mental
health services as inadequate (please see table
12 below). This reflects the huge pressure this
inpatient service operated under and that we
were not always able to provide care as quickly
as we or our patients would like. The report
recognised that we had been seeking solutions,
and we had an opportunity as a result of the
findings to engage our commissioners and the
wider health and social care community in a
serious dialogue about how to improve the
situation.

Oxleas was inspected by the CQC as part of their
comprehensive inspections during the week of
25th to 29th April 2016. As part of their review,
they looked at the following key domains across
all 14 core services:

• Are our services safe?
• Are our services effective?
• Are our services caring?
• Are our services responsive?
• Are our services well-led?

The results of the inspection were published
on the 13th of September 2016. 10 out of our 14
services were rated as good, with 58 out of 70
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“Charlton gave my
son a real confidence
boost. I think it’s an
integral part of what
Early Intervention has
to offer their clients”
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Following our CQC Quality Summit in September
2016, we have put SMART action plans in place
to improve services for our patients and worked
with our partners to make changes to the
system. Some examples of what we have done
to improve is to create additional bed capacity
and stop sleepovers, we have stopped mixed sex
breaches by creating gender specific wards at
one of our inpatients units and we have ensured
that patients no longer wait for a bed on the
wards. In addition, we have carried out ligature
risk assessments in all areas of our wards,
this includes communal areas. We have also
adopted a consistent approach to recording risk
information and raised awareness and training
on personalising care plans in areas identified.

We are delighted that the dedication of our staff
to provide excellent care for our patients and to
improve services has been recognised. CQC have
now rated Oxleas as ‘good’ we have displayed
the updated CQC ratings in table 13 below.

Quality Accounts
Table 12 - Oxleas CQC Ratings Dashboard September 2016
Safe

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

1 Community
health services
for adults

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

2 Community
health inpatient
services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

4 Community
services for
children, young
people and
families

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

5 Community
mental health
services for
children, young
people and
families

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

6 Community
mental health
services for
working age
adults

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Good

Inadequate

Good

Good

3 End of life care

Throughout this time, we maintained contact
with the CQC to update them on our progress
and our CQC action plans were monitored
monthly by our CCGs and every two weeks by
the Trust Senior Executive team.
We were pleased to have CQC back in the
organisation week commencing 27th of February
2017, and they re-inspected our adult mental
health inpatient wards, the mental health crisis
service and the community services for children
and young people. The CQC were impressed
with the progress we had made since their initial
inspection in April last year, when we received
an overall rating of ‘needs improvement’. With
this re-inspection, the inspectors found that
there had been significant improvements and
all previous concerns had been addressed.
Patients and staff were very positive about
improvements in the safety and quality of care
being delivered and the inspection also found
that the trust is well led. These results were
published on the 2nd of May 2017.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Section three

7 Mental health
crisis services
8 Mental health
wards for adults
of working age
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Requires
Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement Improvement

Inadequate

Inadequate

Inadequate
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Table 12 continued

Table 13 Oxleas CQC Ratings Dashboard May 2017
Safe

9 Rehabilitation
mental health
wards for working
age adults
10 Forensic
inpatient wards

Good

Effective

Caring

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Responsive

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Quality Accounts

Well-led

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Good

Good

Good

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

4 Community
services for
children, young
people and
families

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

5 Community
mental health
services for
children, young
people and
families

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

6 Community
mental health
services for
working age
adults

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

1 Community
health services
for adults
2 Community
health inpatient
services

Good

12 Community
services for
people with a
learning disability

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

13 Wards for older
people with
mental health
problems

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

14 Community
mental health
services for older
people

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Overall
Community
Health Services
Overall Trust
Rating

Effective

3 End of life care

11 Wards for people
with a learning
disability

Overall Mental
Health Services

Safe

Overall
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Good

Good

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
Improvement Improvement

7 Mental health
crisis services
8 Mental health
wards for adults
of working age
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Table 13 continued

Our Forensic services underwent a comprehensive
CQC inspection week commencing 24th April 2017.
At the point of writing, we are yet to receive the
final results of their findings however we will
provide our CQC rating and our plans to address
any areas for improvement in our 2017/18
Quality Report.

9 Rehabilitation
mental health
wards for working
age adults
10 Forensic
inpatient wards

Safe

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

11 Wards for people
with a learning
disability
12 Community
services for
people with a
learning disability
13 Wards for older
people with
mental health
problems
14 Community
mental health
services for
older people
Mental Health
Services
Community
Health Services
Overall Trust
Rating
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Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

We have a supporting an open and honest
culture intranet page, a duty of candour policy
and a being open, honest and transparent –
duty of candour information leaflet for staff,
outlining what duty of candour is, when duty of
candour applies and what staff need to do and
when.

Duty of candour is about being open, honest and
transparent when providing care and treatment
at all times. It is also a statutory requirement for
all health organisations that are registered with
the Care Quality Commission.

All Duty of candour incidents are documented
on our Datix system. The patient safety team
carry out a weekly audit of incidents where
duty of candour has applied to check that
all requirements and processes have been
complied with. Duty of candour audits are also
presented to the Trust Patient Safety Group for
additional assurance.

It is our legal duty to inform a patient and their
family if we have made a mistake in their care or
treatment that has led to harm and to provide
an apology.

3.5 Oxleas Suicide Prevention
Strategy

3.4 Duty of Candour

On the 17th of February 2017 we launched our
suicide prevention strategy, Suicide: let’s talk
about it. Bereavement by suicide is a complex
bereavement. Our suicide prevention strategy
includes films of families and friends who have
been bereaved through suicide; and films of Dr
Ify Okocha (Medical Director) and Jane Wells
(Director of Nursing) talking about why this work
is important to us. We are proud that these
families and friends have helped us create our
strategy.

Duty of candour applies when there is:
Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

harm - non-permanent, serious injury
• orModerate
prolonged psychological harm, e.g. medication
errors or patient to patient aggression

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good
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Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

harm - permanent serious injury as
• Severe
a result of care provided
• Incidents involving the death of a patient

In Oxleas, we have ensured our compliance with
this requirement by raising awareness about
duty of candour and provided information to
all staff as well as establishing systems and
processes to ensure duty of candour happens at
all times.

The strategy is in the form of an electronic
flipping book, and can be viewed at:
http://www.oxleasstrategies.com/. The strategy
includes our key messages and our aim is for
zero suicides.

Our patient safety officer is our duty of candour
champion. She has led on creating a culture of
openness, as a core Sign Up to Safety pledge,
by raising the awareness through visiting all
teams and producing resource materials,
including guidelines, videos and leaflets.

We have had positive experience of electronic
strategies and an example is when we launched
our first electronic strategy, our Nursing Care
Strategy, in May 2016. In the first three months
the Nursing Care Strategy was viewed almost
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3.6 Our National Staff
Survey 2016

4,000 times, and the strategy was also viewed
internationally. Electronic flipping books are easy
to create and update, cheaper than printing, and
can be viewed on PCs, laptops and smart devices.
The suicide prevention strategy can be downloaded,
minus the films, and it can be printed.

We take part in the Care Quality Commission’s
(CQC) annual national NHS staff survey. The
staff survey is an important piece of evidence
which demonstrates our compliance with CQC’s
national standards and targets. The overall
response rate to the 2016 survey was 44% (1509
staff). The response rate was average when
compared with other combined mental health/
learning disability and community trusts. Whilst
the response rate was higher in 2015 (49%) that
only represented 461 actual responses

The launch event on the 17th of February
was attended by staff from Oxleas and partner
organisations. The event was also attended by the
families and friends who appeared in the films.
Two of the parents who appeared in the films
spoke at the event, alongside a guest speaker, Dr
Linda Gask. Dr Gask is a psychiatrist and academic
who was involved in creating the STORM suicide
prevention training package, and who has lived
experience of feeling suicidal. (STORM is a selfharm mitigation model of training)

The Care Quality Commission report groups
the responses of all the questions into 32 key
findings with an additional composite finding
around staff engagement. When compared with
similar organisations, our comparative scores
are as follows:

Our strategy is being monitored by our Suicide
Prevention Group and is part of our sign up to
safety improvement plan. A plan of action has
been approved by the group and includes
the following:

• 15 key findings were above average
• 8 key findings were average
• 9 key findings were below average

Delivering STORM training to clinical staff in
• Adult
Mental Health Services. This work is

underway, and has involved an investment in
train the trainers and releasing clinical staff to
attend training.

The composite score for staff engagement rated
Oxleas as above average.
NHS England have requested that Trusts include
in the Quality Account Report their results for
the following two indicators of the national
staff survey:

In partnership with the parents from the films,
the Children and Young People’s directorate
have piloted and are delivering suicide
prevention training to pupils in schools.

Percentage of staff believing that the trust
• provides
equal opportunities for career

Older Adults Mental Health Services held a
suicide prevention embedded learning event,
which included presentation of the findings of
an audit of older adult suicides.

progression or promotion (KF21)

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment,
• bullying
or abuse from staff in the last 12

To create further awareness, this year’s trustwide Nursing and Healthcare Support Worker
conferences will also include presentations
regarding our suicide prevention strategy.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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We have provided our results for 2016, in
comparison to the national 2015 average for
combined mental health and learning disability
and community trusts.
Table 14
Oxleas 2016 Results

National 2016 average
for combined MH/LD and
community trusts

Percentage of staff believing that the
trust provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion (KF21)
(the higher the score, the better)

86%

88%

Percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or abuse from
staff in the last 12 months (KF26)
(the lower the score, the better)

20%

21%

Key Finding Indicator

emphasis on health and well-being
• Increased
for staff including mental health. We will also

Whilst the trust has remained a high performer
compared with other organisations the results
when compared with previous years have
deteriorated from the standard that the trust
has come to expect. The results reflect the
challenging year that the trust has had and the
pressures that staff have had to deal with.

be reviewing our Occupational Health and
Employee Assistance programme contracts
in partnership with other South East London
Trusts

communication, visibility and
• Regular
accessibility of senior managers
assessment of demands placed on
• Careful
staff and managers to manage the overall

The trust has put in place actions focussing on
the following areas:

more qualitative information as to
• Aathering
why staff have scored the trust as they have
with staff key actions the trust
• Identifying
can take
with staff and clinical leaders to
• Working
ensure a robust no tolerance approach to

organisational capacity of what we expect
staff to realistically be able to achieve

abuse of staff by patients
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3.7 Oxleas Complaints
Report 2016/17

Of the 282 complaints received:

% upheld

upheld

partly

Upheld/

Table 15

Investigated

Our review of the concerns raised has identified
3 significant themes:

The Trust reports on all complaints received
in writing both formally and informally. We
record any complaint that is made in writing
to any member of the Trust, CQC or CCG staff,
or is originally made orally and subsequently
recorded in writing. Once this is recorded,
we treat it as though it was made in writing
from the outset. Complaints and comments/
suggestions that do not require investigation are
not included in complaints reporting.

Clinical Care

179

75

42%

Attitude of staff

140

36

26%

Communication

96

51

53%

Complaints handling
In line with the Trust’s Complaints Policy the
aim is to respond to complaints received within
30 working days and agree extensions with the
complainant when it is not possible to complete
the investigation within this time frame. Of the
282 complaints, 263 complaints have concluded
their investigations (19 were not due to be
concluded as at time of writing). Of those 263,
168 (64%) were completed within the agreed
timescales a 10% improvement on last year.

143 (50%) relate to Adult Mental Health and
Learning Disabilities (35 Bexley, 47 Bromley,
60 Greenwich)

relate to Adult Community Health
• 65(41(23%)
Bexley, 24 Greenwich)
relate to Children and Young Persons
• 38(17(14%)
Bexley, 5 Bromley, 16 Greenwich)
(5%) relate to Older Persons (3 Bexley, 7
• 13Bromley,
3 Greenwich)
• 23 (8%) relate to Forensic and Prison Services
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Complaints investigated
Within the 282 complaints, 742 concerns were
raised. Of these 742 concerns raised, 88 are still
under investigation. Of the 654 concluded, 111
(17%) were upheld, 121 (19%) partly upheld,
388 (59%) not upheld, and 34 (5%) were
indeterminate.

Complaints received
In 2016/17 there were approximately 980,000
patient contacts with our services; in the same
period of April 2016 to March 2017 we received a
total of 200 formal complaints (0.02% of overall
patient contacts) and 82 informal complaints
(0.01% of overall patient contacts).

•

Section three

Robust procedures are in place for following up
with the Directorates both those complaints
that are overdue and those that are due with
the complaints team; this is done on a weekly
basis. It is hoped this will show a continued
improvement in achieving the target against
timescales.
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we provide care and treatment. The active
participation of our Council of Governors has
ensured that social inclusion and challenging
discrimination are addressed across the Trust.

This year a programme of visits to services by
the Complaints Service and PALS has taken place
with the aim of raising awareness in handling
complaints and concerns raised by service
users, their family or advocates. Work continues
to embed and disseminate lessons from
complaints across all our services, in addition
we have a library of case studies for services to
use in embedded learning events and to share
at team meetings to encourage discussion and
promote good practice. A significant piece of
work has taken place during the year to ensure
the completion of outstanding actions identified
following the investigation of a complaint. Of
the 250 actions identified for 2016/17, 234 were
due to have been completed at the time of this
writing this report and 191 (82%) have been
completed. We will continue our focus in these
areas in 2017/18 to improve the quality of the
services we provide.

We have a range of groups, events and services
to promote inclusion and employment, these
include our Volunteer to Work scheme, which
is currently supporting around 160 people in
volunteer positions in the trust. The scheme has
supported over 55 volunteers into employment
or education in its 6 year lifetime. We also
support SEEC; a social enterprise set up by the
trust and run in partnership with Twining. The
overall aim is to provide support for service users
to obtain employment; the scheme is open to
service users from all parts of the trust. We have
Patient Experience Volunteers, who conduct
semi-structured interviews to gain feedback
about our services – the volunteers are service
users, carers, governors and non-executive
directors. We also support Researchnet, a group
for people with lived experience of mental
ill health who have used Oxleas services.
Researchnet has expanded to cover community
health services, children’s and young people
services, adults with learning disabilities and
families and carers. Researchnet members work
in partnership with Oxleas services to research,
audit, evaluate and give feedback to make
improvements to services. Each borough now
has a Researchnet alongside directorate specific
ones e.g. Older people’s mental health and Adult
learning Disability Directorates. Researchnet
members publish articles and undertake
research to support improving care in mental
health services. Members also organise an
annual patient experience conference.

Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman (PHSO)
Complainants who are dissatisfied with the
Trust response have the right to ask that the
PHSO reconsider their complaint. Since April
2016, three complainants asked for their case
to be reviewed by the Ombudsman’s Office. One
investigation was partly upheld with regards
to breach of confidentiality, this is currently
being contested. One was not upheld and one
investigation is currently on-going.

3.8 Equalities and Diversity
We recognise that discrimination and barriers
to social inclusion exist, and people may
experience inequalities in accessing services
or as members of staff. One of our objectives
in Oxleas is to deliver high quality, responsive
services that meet the needs of the diverse
local populations in all the boroughs where

131

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Quality Accounts 2015/16
Quality Accounts
Section three

We also have a Lived Experience Co-ordinator
and paid and voluntary Peer Support posts,
these are posts where people with lived
experience of mental ill health are recruited to
provide experience and expertise, and to work
with service users in their recovery.

been highly commended by Stonewall for its
effectiveness in making improvements for LGBT
employees and service users. The trust also has
a Disability Action Group, which is a forum where
disabled staff, health and safety, occupational
health, staff side and HR staff all meet together
to make improvements for disabled staff in the
trust. Furthermore, we now have 24 trained
Bullying and harassment advisers, some of
which are also members of the staff networks.

In our Children and Adult Mental Health Service
(CAMHS), we have set up a gender identity group
for young people and their families. In our Adult
Mental Health services, we have community
development worker (CDW) posts, making links
with local communities and supporting groups
for BME service users in the community and in
forensic services. In our Adult Learning Disability
services, we have set up a ‘Can I understand
this? group, where service users with learning
disabilities review leaflets and information, and
make recommendations on how to present
information in the best way for people with
learning disabilities. Working in partnership
with a local community resource, Tramshed
Fridays provide local space for people with
learning disabilities to meet, with activities and
discussion groups to support wellbeing and
social inclusion. This has now been extended to
Tramtastic Fridays, where members engage in
a social evening. The group is supported by the
Learning Disability teams and is run by service
users on the Volunteer to Work scheme.
Oxleas was the top performing NHS trust in the
Stonewall Workplace Equality Index 2016, which
assesses private and public employers on their
positive attitudes and the structures they have
in place for lesbian, gay and bisexual employees.
Oxleas has 3 active staff networks, LGBT,
BME and LEN (for staff with lived experience
of mental ill health). Each network has an
elected Chair and Executive team, who lead on
initiatives and actions and provide advice and
support to members. The LGBT Network has

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Glossary of Abbreviations
ACS

Adult Community Services

AMH

Adult Mental Health Services

ALD

Adult Learning Disability Services

BME

Black and Minority Ethnic

CACT

Charlton Athletic Community Trust

CAMHS

 hildren And Adolescent Mental
C
Health Services

CBT

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

CDW

Community Development Worker

CEG

Clinical Effectiveness Group

CHTT

Crisis and Home Treatment Team

COPD

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CPA

Care Programme Approach

CP

Cerebral Palsy

CQC

Care Quality Commission

CQUIN

Commissioning For Quality And Innovation

CYP

Children and Young People Services

Datix

Incident Reporting System

DIALOG

 service user rated outcome measure which
A
focuses on the quality of life, treatment
satisfaction and care needs

EIP

Early Intervention in Psychosis

EWB

Emotional Well-Being Mentors

F&P

Forensic and Prisons

FFT

Friends And Family Test

HMP

Her Majesty’s Prison

HONOS

Health of the National Outcome Scales

HONOSC

 ealth of the Nation Outcome Scales Child
H
and Adolescent Mental Health
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HQIP

Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership

IAPT

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

LD

Learning Disabilities

LEN

Lived Experience Network

LGBT

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender

NACR

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation

NICE

 ational Institute for Health And Care
N
Excellence

NHSE

NHS England

NHSI

NHS Improvement

NRLS

National Reporting and Learning System

MCA

Mental Capacity Act

MDT

Multi Disciplinary Team

MH

Mental Health

MH & LD

Mental Health & Learning Disability

MRSA

Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus

QPR

A questionnaire about the process of recovery

RiO

Electronic Clinical System

OPMH

Older People Mental Health Services

PHSO

 arliamentary and Health Service
P
Ombudsman

POMH

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health

RAG

Red, Amber, Green rating

RCA

Root Cause Analysis

SMI

Serious Mental Illness

STORM

 self-harm mitigation skills based training in
A
risk assessment and safety planning
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Annex 1:
Feedback from our Stakeholders
Annex 1.1 Statement from
Bromley Commissioning Groups

followed-up within this window, are followed up
within 72 hours, we welcome the Trust’s plan for
improvement in this area

Quality Accounts

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Draft
2016/17 Quality Accounts Bromley Clinical
Commissioning Group Comments

Care Quality Commission Inspection:
Of note this year was the publication of the CQC
Inspection of Oxleas NHS FT which gave the
Trust an overall rating of ‘requires improvement’.
The CQC assessed three of the services as
requiring improvement: children’s community
services, forensic inpatient wards, mental
health crisis and the adult inpatient mental
health services as inadequate. Whilst this
was very disappointing, the CCG recognise the
considerable effort that the Trust have put into
the response to the CQC findings to include an
immediate and robust improvement plan which
has resulted in the Trust now being rated as
‘Good’ in all areas.

1. Background
Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group
welcomes the opportunity to comment on this
document.
The annual Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Quality Account has previously been reviewed
by Governance Leads from Bromley, Bexley
and Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Groups
with coordination of feedback being jointly
undertaken. However, due to Governance
staffing changes within 2 of the 3 CCGs and, in
line with the borough-based Oxleas restructure,
the CCGs have decided to comment separately
on the draft Quality Accounts for 2016/17:
Bromley CCG will therefore focus on Mental
Health Services only.

Progress against Quality Objectives:
We welcome the considerable effort to ensure
inclusion of patients, families and carers in
the setting of quality objectives and note that
Oxleas NHS FT has achieved 91% of the quality
objectives for 2016/17.

There is a robust and established process
for review of quality issues with Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust via monthly Clinical Quality
Review Groups (CQRGs) in addition to a number
of other quality review mechanisms. Bromley
CCG has taken over the chairing of the CQRG
for 2016/17 and has worked closely with Oxleas
and Bexley and Greenwich CCGs to agree a
work programme to include thematic service
reviews; audit presentations and receipt of
quality monitoring reports.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Whilst the target of patients on CPAs receiving
a 6 month review remains challenging we note
that this is a stretch target for the Trust and that
the organisation meets the national target of 12
month reviews.
Another area of challenge is the 48 hour
follow-up target that is an important factor
in helping to further reduce the risk of suicide
after discharge from hospital. Whilst the data
shows the majority of patients, that are not
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organisations we note from the accounts that
the results, when compared with previous
years, which reflect the challenging year and
the pressures on staff. We therefore welcome
the actions outlined by the Trust to improve
staff satisfaction.

With regards to patient safety, Oxleas’
continued commitment to focus on their Sign
Up to Safety priorities is highlighted and we note
the addition of Suicide Prevention; Restrictive
Practice and Ligature Management as a focus
for improvement in 2017/18. Progress in these
areas will be monitored via CQRGs.

CCG notes Oxleas’ Programme
• Bromley
on Outcomes Data with the goal for each

directorate to agree and implement
outcomes measurements as a normal way
of practice. We note the progress to date but
welcome the roll out of the next phase of this
vital project in 2017/18.

Achievements and Challenges:
The Quality Accounts showcase a number of
areas where improvements are significant
and that the Trust is justifiably proud of, these
include:

The restructure into borough-based teams and
the closer understanding that this will provide
for each borough on local issues is commended,
however, the challenge for both the organisation
and the CCGs to ensure that the organisationwide learning and sharing of intelligence across
Bromley, Bexley and Greenwich is not lost.

• Early Intervention in Psychosis
• Personality Disorder Pathway
the Physical Health of Patients with
• Improving
Serious Mental Illness
working with Charlton Athletic
• Partnership
on social inclusion of Young People with

The CCG continues to see Oxleas drive forwards
Quality Improvement goals and looks forward
to progress reports on the overarching and
ambitious Oxleas Quality Improvement
Programme.

Psychosis

Oxleas NHS FT has had a challenging year,
particularly in relation to the CQC inspection
ratings but is to be commended for its openness
and willingness to drive forward quality
improvement. Of note:
Prevention: The Trust worked with
• Suicide
Bromley CCG to review a number of in-patient
suicides in 2015/16. As a result the Trust has
an extensive improvement and education
plan that is being monitored via CQRG and
has launched the Suicide Prevention Strategy
with an ambitious aim of zero suicides.

Survey: Whilst the trust has remained
• Staff
a high performer compared with other
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Annex 1.1 Statement from
Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Groups

Annex 1.1 Statement from Bexley
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Draft 2016/17 Quality Accounts
NHS Greenwich Commissioning Group
Comments

Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group.
Response To Quality Accounts

Quality Accounts

adult training this year. Consequently this is a
key priority area the CCG is keen to see focussed
improvement on in 2017-18.
Oxleas was inspected by the Care Quality
Commission in April 2016 and received an overall
rating of “requires improvement”. The CCG
acknowledges the hard work and focus that has
been undertaken by staff at the Trust to improve
on this position. The CCG also commends the
dedication and commitment of staff to always
striving to provide excellent and high quality
care for patients. This was reflected in the rating
of ‘outstanding’ for community services for
people with a learning disability.

NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) welcomes the opportunity to comment on
the Oxleas Foundation NHS Trust (Oxleas) draft
2016/17 Quality Account Report. We found the
report to be written well and the lay out readerfriendly.
The CCG acknowledges that Oxleas has worked
hard to improve the “Friends and Family” test
and is pleased to note that this is also a priority
area for further focus in 2017-18 for the Trust
Patient Experience Group.

NHS Greenwich CCG is committed to continuing
to support Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust in
2017-18 to ensure the on-going delivery of high
quality services for the residents of Greenwich.

It is noted that Oxleas has dropped below the
national average (66.5%) for the percentage
of staff employed by, or under contract to, the
Trust during the reporting period who would
recommend the Trust as a provider of care to
their friends or family. The CCG recommends
that Oxleas continues to improve in this area.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust draft Quality
Accounts document was sent to Bexley Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) for consultation
and comment.
The report is clear and easily understood
with a well-structured approach maintained
throughout the document. The trust priorities
involve six quality objectives which are clear
and in addition it is positive to see that the
same objectives are remaining for next year
to ensure that the work streams become fully
embedded. It is also particularly positive to see
that both service users and staff are involved
in agreeing the Quality priorities for 2017/2018.
Good progress has been made against the
priorities which the CCG look forward to seeing
further developed over the forthcoming year.
In relation to complaints the areas of clinical
care, attitude of staff and communication
continue to be significant themes which the CCG
would like to see addressed. It is positive to note
that the percentage of complaints investigations
completed in time has improved but more work
is required to improve this further.

Oxleas reported 92.3% compliance with level
1 safeguarding adult training in 2016-17. This
is an area of mandatory and statutory training
for NHS Trusts. The CCG is aware however that
there have been challenges with accessing
and reporting on levels 2 and 3 safeguarding
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With regard to the staff survey it would be
helpful to see previous year’s data, rather than
just the National data, in order to see the trend.
Staff wellbeing and the impact on the patient
experience is well documented and therefore
staff wellbeing remains a central concern for
the NHS.
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The trust was recently revisited by the CQC
and the CCG welcome the reassessed rating,
and would like to acknowledge the hard work
and dedication of all staff in moving the trust
to a rating of good. This is only achieved and
supported by an effective and committed
workforce
The report contains good examples of case
studies where really positive outcomes have
been achieved for children, young people and
adults. This clearly demonstrates the innovation
of staff in improving services for these groups of
clients.
Further innovation is outlined in the work
undertaken with regard to suicide. The trust has
worked closely with parents who have experienced
suicide and created a powerful video. This has
been included in the new suicide strategy which
has been launched as a ‘flipping’ book.
In conclusion, the report identifies that the
trust is working hard to improve quality across
all service areas. The CCG thanks the Trust for
providing the opportunity to comment on the
Quality Accounts and looks forward to further
strengthening the relationship with the Trust
through closer joint working in the future. We
look forward to the Trust demonstrating the
improvements in patient care they will be
applying over the coming year
Michael Boyce
Director of Quality, Governance and Performance.
Bexley CCG
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Annex 1.2: Statement from Local Healthwatch Organisations

are pleased to see the improvement
• We
in CQC ratings for community services for

Quality Accounts

Quality Accounts
acknowledges the result of
• Healthwatch
human error on the “48 hour Follow Up”

children and young people and mental
health wards for working age adults and look
forward to similar improvements taking place
for forensic inpatients wards.

target and suggests that whilst an electronic
prompt has now been established, further
staff training may be beneficial.

in line with national average, the
• Whilst
percentage of staff experiencing harassment,

Areas for improvement and development
or clarification

•

Joint Healthwatch Response to Oxleas Quality
Accounts Report 2016/17
Healthwatch Bexley, Healthwatch Bromley,
Healthwatch Lewisham and Healthwatch
Greenwich

Healthwatch welcomes the improvement in
the number of Clostridium Difficile reportable
infections.

welcomes the work done for
• Healthwatch
improving Equalities and Diversity, including
the ‘Can I understand this group?’ and the
‘Gender identity group’.

This report is a joint response from Healthwatch
Bexley, Healthwatch Bromley, Healthwatch
Lewisham and Healthwatch Greenwich,
reflecting on the work and achievements of
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. We have an
established relationship with the Trust and
meet on a regular basis, which allows us to
give feedback from our engagement with local
people and contribute to the best possible
outcomes for service users.

is pleased to see that additional
• Healthwatch
priorities around suicide prevention, restrictive
practice and ligature management have been
included for 2017/18.

is pleased that Oxleas are
• Healthwatch
participating in national programme of

improving physical health of patients with
serious mental illness, including the physical
health clinics.

Healthwatch found the description of the
methods of establishing priorities helpful for the
purpose of this review.

welcomes the improvement in
• Healthwatch
staff adherence to the principles of the Mental

Areas of success

bullying or abuse from staff is worrying.

feel that the target of 80%
• Healthwatch
of patients to have their support network

•

would like a review of the
• Healthwatch
targets for safeguarding training, for all areas,

identified and noted within their care record
is too low and would like to see this target
increased.

to mirror current achievements and to further
increase uptake.

notes that one of the most
• Healthwatch
common themes with regards to complaints

We are disappointed to note that only 65.4%
of staff would recommend the Trust as a
provider to family or friends, a significant
drop from previous years. Some clarification
around this decline may be helpful.

is staff attitude and communication. Whilst
this is concerning, this seems an area that
could be addressed through staff training and
should be a priority moving forward.

patient experience survey includes
welcome the development for outcomes
• The
• We
number of responses but it would be useful to
data collection and would like further
include the numbers of users of the services
to see the percentage of responses gathered.

information around reporting and details
around a structured learning programme.

Guidance Cabinet for mental health, learning
disability and community health services
would be of interest.

is essential. The figures show if a patient
has a recorded care plan and if a 6 monthly
review is completed. Can these figures only be
recorded after the care plan has been signed
off by the individual patient with agreement?
Or is patient experience captured separately?

around staff uptake and interest
patients in planning their care and
• Information
• Involving
with regards to NICE Quality Standards and
having a care plan that is personal to them

Capacity Act.

welcome the addition of quality
welcomes the introduction of a
• Healthwatch
• Healthwatch
highlights and case studies as these brings
new family and carer question, as a Patient

the Trust’s achievements to life and are
an important factor for staff morale and
motivation. The Emotional Well-being Mentor
Scheme, with clear positive results and
improvements, is a notable achievement.

Experience Quality Improvement goal,
including the revised approach in their review,
especially amongst Adult Mental Health as
the score was considerably lower at 84%.

are pleased to see the additional focus of
• We
identifying young carers and ensuring they
have access to appropriate support services.
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Annex 2: Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the Quality Report


the 2016 national patient survey
the 2016 national staff survey
the Head of Internal Audit’s annual
opinion of the trust’s control

The directors are required under the Health Act
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality
Accounts for each financial year.

the internal complaints reports for
2016/17

NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS
foundation trust boards on the form and content
of annual quality reports (which incorporate
the above legal requirements) and on the
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards
should put in place to support the data quality
for the preparation of the quality report.

environment dated 25/05/2017



reporting manual and supporting guidance
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts
regulations) as well as the standards to
support data quality for the preparation of
the Quality Report.

The directors confirm to the best of their
knowledge and belief they have complied with
the above requirements in preparing the Quality
Report.
By order of the Board.

CQC inspection reports dated
13/09/2016 and 02/05/2017

Quality Report presents a balanced
• the
picture of the NHS foundation trust’s

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are
required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:

•

Quality Report has been prepared in
• the
accordance with NHS Improvement’s annual

performance over the period covered

the content of the Quality Report meets the
requirements set out in the NHS foundation
trust annual reporting manual 2016/17 and
supporting guidance

performance information reported in
• the
the Quality Report is reliable and accurate
are proper internal controls over the
• there
collection and reporting of the measures

content of the Quality Report is not
• the
inconsistent with internal and external

Signed by

Signed by		

25 May 2017

25 May 2017

Andrew Trotter
Chairman

Ben Travis
Chief Executive

of performance included in the Quality
Report, and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are working
effectively in practice

sources of information including:


p
apers relating to quality reported to the
board
over the period April 2016 to May
board minutes and papers for the period
April 2016 to May 2017

data underpinning the measures
• the
of performance reported in the Quality

Report is robust and reliable, conforms
to specified data quality standards
and prescribed definitions, is subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review and

2017


feedback from local Healthwatch
organisations dated 24/05/2017
the trust’s complaints report published
under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
feedback from commissioners dated
24/05/2017

Social Services and NHS Complaints
Regulations 2009, dated 2015/16
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Annex 3: Criteria applied to mandated indicators
As part of the annual quality report requirements,
our external auditors, Deloitte LLP have
undertaken work on two mandated and one
local indicator below as described below:

An admission has been gatekept by a CRHT if it
has assessed the service user before admission
and was involved in the decision-making process
which resulted in an admission. An assessment
should be recorded if there is direct contact
between a member of the CRHT team and the
referred patient, irrespective of the setting, and
an assessment is made. The assessment may be
made via a phone conversation or by any faceto-face contact with the patient.

1. Care Programme Approach (CPA) patients
receiving follow-up contact within seven days of
discharge from hospital (mandated) – 95%
2.	Admissions to inpatients services had access
to crisis resolution home treatment teams
(CRHT) – 95%

Exemptions include:

recalled on community treatment
• Patients
order
transferred from another NHS
• Patients
hospital for psychiatric treatment
transfers of service users between
• Internal
wards in the trust for psychiatry treatment
on leave under Section 17 of the
• Patients
Mental Health Act
admissions for psychiatric care from
• Planned
specialist units such as eating disorder units
exemptions admissions from out of
• Partial
the trust area where the patient was seen by

3.	80% of patients have their support network
identified and noted within their care record
– local indicator chosen by the Council of
Governors
The aim of the review is to sample test
the 3 indicators and check for accuracy,
validity, reliability, timeliness, relevance and
completeness. There was 1 indicator where
significant improvement is required on the
accuracy of the data.
Admissions to inpatients services had access to
crisis resolution home treatment teams
National guidance states that to prevent
hospital admission and give support to informal
carers, CRHT is required to gatekeep all
admission to psychiatric inpatient wards and
facilitate early discharge of service users.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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The external testing by Deloitte showed that due
to a manual process of monitoring, there was no
consistent approach to excluding exemptions in
one borough of the Trust (Bromley). The sample
audit results showed that most of the cases
removed from the list as exempt should not have
been excluded. A sample of 14 exclusions found
that only 2 cases were valid exemptions and 10
cases had actually been gatekept. The extrapolated
data means that our reported achievement of
100% is reduced to 99.9%.
We have now implemented an automated process
where gatekeeping can be effectively recorded on
RiO and thus eliminate the human error factor. We
are also going to issue clear guidance to all staff
on the national definitions and the record-keeping
processes.

the local crisis team (out of area) and only
admitted to this trust because they had no
available beds in the local area. The CRHT
should assure itself that gatekeeping was
carried out.
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Annex 4: Independent auditor’s report to the council of
governors of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust on the quality report
percentage of admissions to acute
• The
wards for which the Crisis Resolution

We have been engaged by the council of
governors of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust to
perform an independent assurance engagement
in respect of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust’s
quality report for the year ended 31 March 2017
(the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance
indicators contained therein.

Home Treatment Team (CRHT) acted as a
gatekeeper during the reporting period (CRHT
Gatekeeping).

We refer to these national priority indicators
collectively as the ‘indicators’.

This report, including the conclusion, has been
prepared solely for the council of governors of
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist
the council of governors in reporting Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance
and activities. We permit the disclosure of
this report within the Annual Report for the
year ended 31 March 2017, to enable the
council of governors to demonstrate they have
discharged their governance responsibilities
by commissioning an independent assurance
report in connection with the indicators. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Council of Governors as a body and
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this
report, except where terms are expressly agreed
and with our prior consent in writing.

Respective responsibilities of the directors and
auditors
The directors are responsible for the content
and the preparation of the quality report in
accordance with the criteria set out in the ‘NHS
foundation trust annual reporting manual’
and supporting guidance issued by NHS
Improvement.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based
on limited assurance procedures, on whether
anything has come to our attention that causes
us to believe that:
quality report is not prepared in all
• the
material respects in line with the criteria

set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual
reporting manual’ and supporting guidance;

quality report is not consistent in all
• the
material respects with the sources specified

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March
2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the
national priority indicators as mandated by NHS
Improvement:

in section 2.1 of the NHS Improvement
2016/17 Detailed guidance for external
assurance on quality reports; and

indicators in the quality report identified
• the
as having been the subject of limited

of patients on Care Programme
• Percentage
Approach (“CPA”) who were followed up

assurance in the quality report are not
reasonably stated in all material respects in
accordance with the ‘NHS foundation trust

within seven days after discharge from
psychiatric inpatient care during the reporting
period; and
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annual reporting manual’ and supporting
guidance and the six dimensions of data
quality set out in the ‘Detailed guidance for
external assurance on quality reports’.

We consider the implications for our report
if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with
those documents (collectively the ‘documents’).
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.

We read the quality report and consider whether
it addresses the content requirements of the
‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’
and supporting guidance, and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware
of any material omissions.

We are in compliance with the applicable
independence and competency requirements
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics.
Ourteam comprised assurance practitioners and
relevant subject matter experts.

We read the other information contained in
the quality report and consider whether it is
materially inconsistent with:

Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance
engagement in accordance with International
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) - ’Assurance Engagements other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ issued by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE
3000’). Our limited assurance procedures
included:

minutes for the period April 2016 to
• board
May 2017;
relating to quality reported to the
• papers
board over the period April 2016 to 26 May
2017;

from the Commissioners dated
• feedback
24 May 2017;
from local Healthwatch
evaluating the design and implementation of
• feedback
• the
organisations, dated 24 May 2017;
key processes and controls for managing
and reporting the indicators;
trust’s complaints report published under
• the
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social
• making enquiries of management;
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations
2009, dated 2015/16;
• testing key management controls;
limited testing, on a selective basis, of the
• the latest national patient survey dated 2016; • data
used to calculate the indicator back to
latest national staff survey dated 7 March
supporting documentation;
• the
2017;
comparing the content requirements of
•
the
latest
Care
Quality
Commission
inspection
the
‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting
• report; and
manual’ and supporting guidance to the
categories reported in the quality report; and
Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion
• the
over the trust’s control environment dated
• reading the documents.
25 May 2017.
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Basis for qualified conclusion
National guidance states that an admission
should be recorded as “Gatekept” if a service
user was assessed before admission and the
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team was
involved in the decisionmaking process which
resulted in an admission. Admissions can be
excluded from the indicator if they meet specific
exemption criteria.

A limited assurance engagement is smaller
in scope than a reasonable assurance
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of
procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate
evidence are deliberately limited relative to a
reasonable assurance engagement.
Limitations
Non-financial performance information is
subject to more inherent limitations than.
financial information, given the characteristics
of the subject matter and the methods used for
determining such information.

We found that due to an error in the data
collection process, valid admissions had been
excluded from the reported indicator, including
instances where the service user had not been
gatekept. The incorrectly excluded items affect
the calculation of the published indicator.

The absence of a significant body of
established practice on which to draw allows
for the selection of different, but acceptable
measurement techniques which can result in
materially different measurements and can
affect comparability. The precision of different
measurement techniques may also vary.

As a result, we have concluded that the
indicator has not been prepared in accordance
with the national guidance for reporting CRHT
Gatekeeping. We are unable to quantify the
effect of this matter on the reported indicator
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Furthermore, the nature and methods used
to determine such information, as well as the
measurement criteria and the precision of these
criteria, may change over time. It is important
to read the quality report in the context of the
criteria set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust
annual reporting manual’ and supporting
guidance.

Qualified conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, except
for the effects of matters described in the ‘Basis
for qualified conclusion’ section above, nothing
has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2017:
he quality report is not prepared in all
•	tmaterial
respects in line with the criteria

set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual
reporting manual’ and supporting guidance;

quality report is not consistent in
•	tallhematerial
respects with the sources

specified in 2.1 of the NHS Improvement
Detailed requirements for quality reports for
Foundation Trusts 2016/17; and

he indicators in the quality report subject to
•	tlimited
assurance have not been reasonably
stated in all material respects in accordance
with the ‘NHS foundation trust annual
reporting manual’ and supporting guidance.

Annex 3 on page 142 of the Trust’s Quality
Report summarises the actions the Trust is
taking post year end to address the issue
identified.
Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
St Albans
26 May 2017

The scope of our assurance work has not
included testing of indicators other than the two
selected mandated indicators, or consideration
of quality governance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of Governors
and Board of Directors of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust

Summary of our audit approach

Independent Auditor’s report

Opinion on financial statements of Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust

Independent Auditor’s report

Key risks

The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and the accounting policies directed by NHS
Improvement – Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts.

In our opinion the financial statements:

a true and fair view of the state of the
• give
Group and Trust’s affairs as at 31 March

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the
audit of the accounts in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code
of Audit Practice.

2017 and of the Group and Trust’s income
and expenditure for the year then ended;

been properly prepared in accordance
• have
with the accounting policies directed by NHS
Improvement – Independent Regulator of
NHS Foundation Trusts; and

been prepared in accordance with the
• have
requirements of the National Health Service

Group and Trust Statements of
• the
Comprehensive Income;
Group and Trust Statements of Financial
• the
Position;
Group and Trust Statements of Changes in
• the
Taxpayers’ Equity;
Group and Trust Statements of Cash
• the
Flows;
Accounting Policies and other information;
• the
and
• the related notes 1 to 24.
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• NHS revenue recognition and provisioning
• Property valuations
ccounting for redevelopment costs at Queen Mary’s
• AHospital,
Sidcup (“QMS”)
• Management override of controls

 MS redevelopment costs have been identified as a key risk in
Q
2016/17 due to the increased level of expenditure as the project
has progressed.
 e have refined our assessment of the risk of NHS revenue
W
recognition and provisioning to focus upon accounting for
deferred income and provisions, reflecting our assessment of risk
in the current year.
Materiality

The materiality that we used in the current year was £3,700,000
which was determined on the basis of the Trust’s operating
income recognised in 2016/17.

Scoping

 he scope of our audit was focussed upon Oxleas NHS Foundation
T
Trust. The Trust makes up 100.6% of the Group’s total revenue
(due to eliminations), and 99.6% of net assets.

Act 2006.

The financial statements that we have audited
comprise:

The key risks that we identified in the current year were:

Analytic procedures at a group level were performed on Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund and Oxleas Prison Services
Limited, which are exempt from requirements for audit of their
statutory financial statements.
Significant changes in our
approach

148

Other than the changes to key risks as described above, there
have been no significant changes in our approach to the audit in
2016/17 compared to 2015/16.
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Going concern
We have reviewed the
Accounting Officer’s statement
contained within the Statement
of the Accounting Officer’s
responsibilities on page 74,
the going concern disclosure
on page 12 of the Performance
Report and the going concern
disclosure in note 1 of the
financial statements that the
Group is a going concern.

Section four

Independent Auditor’s report
NHS revenue recognition and provisioning

We confirm that:

Risk description

financial statements is appropriate; and

In 2016/17, we have identified risks to NHS revenue recognition and
provisioning in respect of the validity and valuation of the overseas and
non-contracted activity (“NCA”) provision and validity and valuation of
deferred income (including deferred QMS transitional funding).

a going concern.

The assessment of the basis and level of the NCA provision and
appropriateness of assumptions driving the calculation of the provision
requires a significant amount of judgement.

have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s use of the
• we
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
have not identified any material uncertainties that may
• we
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as

We have also identified the treatment of deferred income as an area of
key risk, including the treatment of transitional funding for QMS as the
redevelopment of the site progresses.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Details of the Group’s provisions, including £1.6m of NCA provision
(2015/16: £5.1m) is shown in note 14 to the financial statements. Deferred
income of £14.4m (2015/16: £13.1m) is shown in note 13.3 to the financial
statements. The Group’s description of related critical accounting
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty is shown in note
1.20 to the financial statements.

Independence
We are required to comply
with the Code of Audit Practice
and Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standards
for Auditors, and confirm that
we are independent of the
Group and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with those
standards.

We confirm that we are independent of the Group and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with those standards. We also confirm we have not provided
any of the prohibited non-audit services referred to in
those standards.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the risk

We evaluated the design and implementation of key controls around
validity and valuation of the NCA provision and validity and valuation of
deferral of income (including QMS transitional funding).
We reviewed and challenged the validity of assumptions driving the NCA
provision by corroborating the utilisation rate, reviewed management’s
accounting paper on this matter and recalculated the provision.
We reviewed the deferred income balances, including QMS transitional
funding, and tested a sample to supporting documentation including
correspondence with counterparties where available. We reviewed
management’s summary of their accounting rationale for the treatment
of QMS deferred transitional funding as at 31 March 2017.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
 he assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had the greatest
T
effect on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. QMS redevelopment costs have been identified as a key risk in 2016/17 due to
the increased level of expenditure as the project has progressed

Key observations

We consider the estimates made by the Trust to be relatively conservative.
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Property valuations

Property valuations - continued

Independent Auditor’s report

Risk description

The Group held £117.5m of property assets (land and buildings) at 31
March 2017 (31 March 2016: £108.7m). The Group uses a hypothetical
alternative site model. The complexities of this valuation approach mean
that there is a risk over the valuation of the property assets because:

• the valuation of the Group’s property assets is inherently judgemental;
Group holds certain property assets within Property, Plant and
• the
Equipment at a “Modern Equivalent Asset” valuation. The valuations
are by nature significant estimates which are based on specialist
and management assumptions and which can be subject to material
changes in value. This includes assumptions on possible “alternative
sites” for land values; and

Independent Auditor’s report

Key observations

Accounting for redevelopment costs at Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup
Risk description

existing properties are being modernised, the “Modern
• where
Equivalent Asset” valuation rules can lead to a “day one” impairment

The Group has had an independent valuation carried out on its estates
based on assumptions provided by the Group.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the risk

There is a risk that expenditure might be inappropriately accounted for
as capital rather than revenue, or that assets may not be appropriately
classified, affecting valuations.
How the scope of
our audit responded
to the risk

We evaluated the design and implementation of key controls in
place around the property valuation, including controls around the
appropriateness of the alternative site use assumption.
We used our valuation specialists, Deloitte Real Estate, to review and
challenge the appropriateness of the alternative site use assumption
used in the year-end valuation of the Group’s Land and Buildings. We
challenged whether the assumptions made about alternative sites are
consistent with the Group’s clinical strategy and have been considered
and approved at an appropriate level within the Group.

Accounting for the redevelopment costs of the projects at Queen Mary’s
Hospital, Sidcup involves significant judgements on whether expenditure
meets the requirements of IAS 16 for capitalisation, and of the timing of
transfer from Assets under Construction to Land and Buildings.
The Group’s current capital programme is more significant this year,
with total capital expenditure (including other projects) of £30.7m
(2015/16: £15.3m), primarily due to the increased work at QMS including
the development of the kidney treatment centre, the cancer centre, the
Acorns children’s centre, and the ongoing wider redevelopment of the site.

where the accumulated cost of the asset exceeds the cost of a newly
built facility.

The valuation movements on the Group’s estate shown in note 9 are an
impairment charge to operating expenses of £3.3m (2015/16: £5.8m),
impairment charge to the revaluation reserve of £nil (2015/16: £4.8m) and
upward revaluation of £3.0m (2015/16: £7.5m). The Group’s description
of key sources of estimation uncertainty is shown in note 1.20 to the
financial statements.

The valuation of operational assets on a Modern Equivalent Asset basis,
including using an alternative site basis for land valuations, significantly
reduces the carrying value of the Trust’s estate.

We evaluated the design and implementation of key controls in place
around the QMS capital expenditure and determining the correct split of
redevelopment costs between capital and revenue in nature as well as the
timing of transfer.
We tested the appropriateness of a sample of QMS capital spend in the year
and considered whether the expenditure was capital or revenue in nature
by holding meetings with key individuals involved in the project, including
project managers, performing site visits and reviewing detailed plans.
We reviewed minutes of the capital investment committee throughout
the year and corroborated to the audit testing performed.

Key observations

We did not identify any significant findings through our procedures in
respect of this risk.

We considered the presentation of revaluation movements and
impairments, taking into account revaluation reserves for individual
assets, and the disclosures included in the financial statements.
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Management override of controls

Management override of controls - continued

Independent Auditor’s report

Risk description

Manipulation of journal entries
We used data analytic techniques to select journals for testing with
characteristics indicative of potential manipulation of reporting focusing
in particular upon manual journals.

We consider that in the current year there is a heightened risk across the
NHS that management may override controls to fraudulently manipulate
the financial statements or accounting judgments or estimates. This
is due to the increasingly tight financial circumstances of the NHS,
the close scrutiny of the reported financial performance of individual
organisations, and the incentives to meet or exceed control totals to
receive Sustainability and Transformation Funding.
All NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts were requested by NHS
Improvement in 2016 to consider a series of “technical” accounting areas
and assess both whether their current accounting approach meets the
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, and to
remove “excess prudence” to support the overall NHS reported financial
position. The areas of accounting estimate highlighted included accruals,
deferred income, bad debt provisions, property valuations, and useful
economic lives of assets.
The Group’s description of critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty is shown in note 1.20 to the financial
statements. The Group’s £2.2m of Sustainability and Transformation
Funding is shown in note 3.1 to the financial statements.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the risk

Independent Auditor’s report

We evaluated the design and implementation of controls in relation to
journals and key accounting estimates (identified as key risks discussed
above).

We traced the journals to supporting documentation, and evaluated the
accounting rationale for the posting. We evaluated individually and in
aggregate whether the journals tested were indicative of fraud or bias.
Significant transactions
We considered whether any transactions identified in the year were
material unusual transactions outside the normal course of business.
Key observations

We considered the estimates made by the Group to be within the
acceptable range, albeit towards the conservative end.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Our application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it
probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or
influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the
results of our work.

Manipulation of accounting estimates
Our work on accounting estimates included considering each of the
areas of judgement identified by NHS Improvement. In testing each of
the relevant accounting estimates, engagement team members were
directed to consider their findings in the context of the identified fraud
risk. Where relevant, the recognition and valuation criteria used were
compared to the specific requirements of IFRS.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a
whole as follows:

We tested accounting estimates (including in respect of NHS revenue and
provisions, property valuations and accounting for QMS redevelopment
costs discussed above), focussing on the areas of greatest judgment and
value. Our procedures included comparing amounts recorded or inputs to
estimates to relevant supporting information from third party sources.

Materiality

£3.7m (2015/16: £3.7m)

Basis for determining
materiality

Materiality was set at 1.5% (2015/16: 1.5%) of operating income and
represents 2.2% of taxpayer’s equity (2015/16: 2.2%).

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

Operating income was chosen as a benchmark as the Group is a nonprofit organisation, and is a key measure of financial performance for
users of the financial statements.

We evaluated the rationale for recognising or not recognising balances in
the financial statements and the estimates techniques used in calculations,
and considered whether these were in accordance with accounting
standards and were appropriate in the circumstances of the Group.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
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Independent Auditor’s report
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Operating income
Materiality

Operating income
£245m

Materiality
£3.7m

Annual Governance Statement, use of resources, and compilation of financial
statements
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements
• the
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading, or
is inconsistent with information of which we are aware from our audit;

Audit & Risk Assurance
Committee reporting
threshold £0.185m

are exempt from requirements for audit of their
statutory financial statements, to confirm our
conclusion that there were no significant risks
of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information.

We agreed with the Audit & Risk Assurance
Committee that we would report to the
Committee all audit differences in excess
of £185,000 (2016/17: £185,000), as well as
differences below that threshold that, in
our view, warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds. We also report to the Audit & Risk
Assurance Committee on disclosure matters
that we identified when assessing the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

The audit team included integrated Deloitte
specialists bringing specialist skills and
experience in property valuations and
information technology systems. Data analytic
techniques were used as part of the audit
testing, in particular to support profiling of
populations to identify items of audit interest.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an
understanding of the Group and its environment,
including internal control, and assessing the
risks of material misstatement. Audit work was
performed at the Group’s head offices directly by
the audit engagement team, led by the senior
statutory auditor.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the
National Health Service Act 2006
In our opinion:

parts of the Directors’ Remuneration
• the
Report and Staff Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with
the National Health Service Act 2006; and

Our audit testing focussed upon Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust. The Trust makes up 100.6% of
the Group’s total revenue (due to eliminations in
the Group figure), and 99.6% of net assets.

information given in the Performance
• the
Report and the Accountability Report for

the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.

The consolidation process was tested and
analytic procedures were performed at a group
level on Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable
Fund and Oxleas Prison Services Limited, which
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NHS foundation trust has not made proper arrangements for securing
• the
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; or
practices have not been observed in the compilation of the financial
• proper
statements.

We have nothing
to report in
respect of these
matters.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily
addressed by internal controls.
Reports in the public interest or to the regulator
We have
any matters have been reported in the public interest under Schedule 10(3) of the nothing to
report in
National Health Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the end of the audit; or
respect of these
any reports to the regulator have been made under Schedule 10(6) of the
matters.
National Health Service Act 2006 because we have reason to believe that the
Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made,
a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken,
unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency.

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are also required to report to you if:

•
•

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to
report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:

inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements;
• materially
or
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our
• apparently
knowledge of the Trust acquired in the course of performing our audit; or
• otherwise misleading.

We confirm
that we have
not identified
any such
inconsistencies
or misleading
statements.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any
inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit and the directors’
statement that they consider the annual report is fair, balanced and understandable
and whether the annual report appropriately discloses those matters that we
communicated to the audit committee which we consider should have been
disclosed.
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Section four

Independent Auditor’s report
Respective responsibilities of Accounting
Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Accounting
Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the
Accounting Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and
express an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law, the Code
of Audit Practice and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). We also comply
with International Standard on Quality Control
1 (UK and Ireland). Our audit methodology
and tools aim to ensure that our quality
control procedures are effective, understood
and applied. Our quality controls and systems
include our dedicated professional standards
review team.

have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the Accounting
Officer; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements. In addition, we read all
the financial and non-financial information
in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that
is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Ben Sheriff FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
St. Albans, United Kingdom
26 May 2017

This report is made solely to the Board of
Governors and Board of Directors (“the Boards”)
of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, as a body, in
accordance with paragraph 4 of Schedule 10
of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Boards those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and
the Boards as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Group and the Trust’s circumstances and
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Community mental health nurse Edison Phiri - winner of the Governors’ Award at the 2016/17 Recognition Awards

Statement of financial position

Section five

Foreword to financial statement

as at 31 March 2016

These Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust in
accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006.

31 March 2017 31 March 2017
TRUST
£000

NOTE

GROUP
£000

31 March 2016

31 March 2016

TRUST
£000

GROUP
£000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets

8

80

80

91

91

Property, plant and equipment

9

147,794

147,794

122,910

122,910

0

0

279

279

147,874

147,874

123,280

123,280

287

484

278

537

18,458

18,111

16,730

16,442

220

220

220

220

Trade and other receivables
Total non-current assets

Signed by

Ben Travis, Chief Executive, 25 May 2017

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2017
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
NOTE

Trade and other receivables

31 March 2016

31 March 2016

TRUST

GROUP

TRUST

GROUP

£000

£000

£000

£000

3.1

246,979

245,515

246,641

245,511

4.1

(240,251)

(238,924)

(243,326)

(242,338)

6,728

6,591

3,315

3,173

(5,130)

(5,130)

(5,844)

(5,844)

1,598

1,461

(2,529)

(2,671)

4.1

OPERATING SURPLUS AFTER IMPAIRMENTS

11.1

Assets held for sale

9

Cash and cash equivalents

12

62,419

63,191

84,962

86,283

81,384

82,006

102,190

103,482

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Operating Income
OPERATING SURPLUS BEFORE IMPAIRMENTS

10

Total current assets

Operating expenses (excluding impairments)
Impairments

11.1

Finance costs

Trade and other payables

13.1

(31,742)

(31,719)

(27,644)

(28,156)

Borrowings

13.2

(382)

(382)

(358)

(358)

Provisions

14

(4,334)

(4,334)

(6,681)

(6,681)

13.3

(14,427)

(14,427)

(13,145)

(13,145)

Total current liabilities

(50,885)

(50,862)

(47,828)

(48,340)

NET CURRENT ASSETS

30,499

31,144

54,362

55,142

178,373

179,018

177,642

178,422

Other liabilities

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

13.2

(9,713)

(9,713)

(10,094)

(10,094)

Provisions

14

(1,740)

(1,740)

(1,798)

(1,798)

Finance income

6

211

211

353

353

Finance costs - interest expense

7

(1,067)

(1,067)

(1,051)

(1,051)

Total non-current liabilities

(11,453)

(11,453)

(11,892)

(11,892)

166,920

167,565

165,750

166,530

112,118

112,118

112,118

112,118

47,825

47,825

44,855

44,855

Other reserves

1,218

1,218

1,218

1,218

Merger reserve

141

141

141

141

5,618

5,527

7,418

7,416

0

736

0

782

166,920

167,565

165,750

166,530

PDC dividends payable

(3,183)

(3,183)

(2,531)

(2,531)

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED

Net finance costs

(4,039)

(4,039)

(3,229)

(3,229)

FINANCED BY TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Gain from asset disposals

643

643

0

0

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR

(1,798)

(1,935)

(5,758)

(5,900)

2,970
0

2,970
0

7,510
(4,816)

7,510
(4,816)
2,694
(3,206)

Other comprehensive income *
Revaluation gains
Revaluation losses

9

Total Other comprehensive income

2,970

2,970

2,694

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

1,172

1,035

(3,064)

The notes on pages 164 to 200 form part of these accounts.
* There are no part of the other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to income and expenditure.

Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve

Income and expenditure reserve
Charitable fund reserves
TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

The financial statements on pages 160 to 163 were approved by the Board on 25 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:		
		
						Signed by
						Ben Travis, Chief Executive, 25 May 2017					
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Statement of changes
in taxpayers’ equity
Public
Dividend Revaluation
Capital
reserve

NOTE

Other
reserves

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Income
and
Merger expenditure
reserve
reserve

TRUST

Oxleas
Prison
Services
Limited

NHS
Charitable
Funds
Reserves

GROUP

Year ended

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

112,118

44,855

1,218

141

7,418

165,750

(2)

782

166,530

0

0

0

0

(1,800)

(1,800)

(89)

(46)

(1,935)

2016/17
Taxpayers' equity as at 1 April 2016
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation gains

0

Revaluation losses
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/loss for
the year
Transfers between reserves
PDC received
Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2017

2,970

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,970

0

0

0

2,970

0

0

0

0

0

112,118

47,825

Deficit for the year

31 March 2017 31 March 2017
NOTE
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit)/ from continuing operations

31 March 2016

GROUP
£000

TRUST
£000

GROUP
£000

1,598

1,461

(2,533)

(2,671)

Non cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation

4.1

3,330

3,330

2,937

2,937

Impairments
Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and noncash)
Increase in trade and other receivables

4.1

5,130

5,130

5,844

5,844

0

0

(99)

(99)

(1,522)

(1,455)

(1,941)

(1,673)

(9)

53

285

26

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,970

0

0

2,970

0

(1,800)

1,170

(89)

(46)

1,035

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Increase in trade and other payables

2,612

2,077

3,965

4,446

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Increase in other liabilities

1,282

1,282

1,660

1,660

1,218

141

5,618

166,920

(91)

736

167,565

(2,410)

(2,410)

(2,295)

(2,295)

0

(30)

0

(8)

(1)

22

13

13

10,010

9,461

7,836

8,180

211

211

353

353

(29,756)

(29,756)

(15,005)

(15,005)

943

943

0

0

(28,602)

(28,602)

(14,652)

(14,652)

2,970

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Decrease in provisions
NHS Charitable Funds - net adjustments for working capital movements

103,056

42,248

1,218

141

13,089

159,752

0

922

160,674

0

0

0

0

(5,758)

(5,758)

(2)

(140)

(5,900)

0

7,510

0

0

0

7,510

0

0

7,510

Revaluation losses

0

(4,816)

0

0

0

(4,816)

0

0

(4,816)

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/loss for
the year
Transfers between reserves

0

2,694

0

0

0

2,694

0

0

2,694

0

2,694

0

0

(5,758)

(3,064)

(2)

(140)

(3,206)

0

(87)

0

0

87

0

0

0

0

9,062

0

0

0

0

9,062

0

0

9,062

112,118

44,855

1,218

141

7,418

165,750

(2)

782

166,530

Other movements in operating cash flows
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sales of property, plant and equipment
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Capital element of Finance Lease
Capital element of PFI obligations
Interest element of finance leases

7

Interest element of PFI obligations

7

0

9,062

9,062

(66)

(63)

(63)

(292)

(292)

(272)

(272)

(61)

(61)

(64)

(64)

(1,001)

(1,001)

(1,004)

(1,004)

(2,531)

(2,531)

(2,708)

(2,708)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(3,951)

(3,951)

4,951

4,951

(22,543)

(23,093)

(1,865)

(1,521)

86,283
63,191

86,827
84,962

87,804
86,283

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

162

0
(66)

PDC dividend paid

(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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31 March 2016

TRUST
£000

0

Revaluation gains

Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2016

Year ended

0

Other comprehensive income:

PDC received

Year ended

2,970

2015/16
Taxpayers' equity as at 1 April 2015

Year ended

12
12

84,962
62,419
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Notes to the financial statements

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Accounting Policies
NHS Improvement has directed that the financial statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2016/17 Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and HM Treasury’s
Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. The
accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.
Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is under contracts
from commissioners in respect of healthcare services. Where income is received for a specific activity which is to
be delivered in the following financial year, that income is deferred. Income from the sale of non-current assets is
recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale
contract.
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in which the service is received
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the year
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the
following year.

as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March
2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The employer rate of contribution to the NHS Pension Scheme is at 14.3% for 2016/17 (14.3% in 2015/16).
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS
Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking
into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31
March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and
employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only,
and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before
these benefits can be obtained:

Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable
pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the Scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time
the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based
on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the
Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the Government Financial Reporting
Manual (FReM) requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments
in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted
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With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax
free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension
commutation”.

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for
death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

1.5

Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where
it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

Leasehold improvements are not subsequently revalued.
HM Treasury adopts a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations using a modern equivalent asset
basis, and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be
valued.

1.6

Pooled Budgets
The Trust also has pooled budget arrangements with the London Boroughs of Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley.
These arrangements are hosted by the London Boroughs of Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley respectively. Under the
arrangement funds are pooled under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for adult mental health activities.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts are not materially different
from those that would be determined at the statement of financial position date. There is no pre-determined frequency
with which assets must be re-valued. Asset values should be kept up to date and the frequency of revaluation will need
to reflect the volatility of asset values. Where assets are subject to significant volatility, then annual revaluations may be
required. Conversely, where changes in asset values are insignificant then a revaluation may be necessary only every 3
or 5 years.

Payments for services provided by the Trust are accounted for as income from Local Authorities. The Trust accounts for
its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budgets, identified in
accordance with the pooled budget arrangements.
1.7

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
- it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
- the cost of the item can be measured reliably;
- each item individually has a cost of at least £5,000; or
- form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, irrespective
of their individual or collective cost; or
- where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives
e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own
useful economic lives.
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value with the exception of equipment assets which are held at
depreciated replacement cost.
Land and buildings are valued by an independent registered chartered surveyor on a regular basis and in accordance
with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ Valuation Standard as required under IAS16 to reflect fair value. At 31
January 2017 the land and building asets were revalued.
Fair values are determined as follows:
- Land and non-specialised buildings are valued at market value. Non-specialised residential buildings are valued at
market value, Land and buildings are not separately valued.
- Specialised buildings are valued at depreciated replacement cost based on modern equivalent assets.

Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The last valuation was carried out at 31 January 2017.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost, less any impairment loss. Assets are revalued and depreciation
commences when they are brought into use.
Subsequent expenditure
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the Statement Of Comprehensive Income in the year in which it is incurred.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment, and where the
cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a
replacement.
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an
infinite life and is not depreciated.
Where land made available under a finance lease has been capitalised and this land will not revert to the Trust’s
ownership at the expiry of the lease, then this land is depreciated over the term of the lease.
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.
The useful economic lives of buildings are assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers. At 31 January 2017 the useful
economic lives were assessed as between a range of 0.5 - 54 years.
Leasehold property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the primary lease term, leasehold improvements are
depreciated over the remaining lease term.
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset using the following lives:
Furniture and fittings - 5 years
Transport equipment - 3 years
IT equipment - 9 years
Mobile tablets - 3 years
If the residual value of an asset is zero at the Statement of Financial Position date, the asset’s life will be
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the DH Group Acounting Manual, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits
or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the
impairment.
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that,
the circumstances that gave rise to the loss are reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any
remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer
was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation
gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
- the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary
for such sales;
- the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘held for sale’; and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes
made to it.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less
costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have
been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’
and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised
when scrapping or demolition occurs.
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Private finance initiative (PFI) transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are
accounted for as ‘on-statement of financial position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as property,
plant and equipment at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39.
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges
for services. The finance cost is calculated using the effective interest rate for the scheme.
The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance costs in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
1.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.9

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the weighed average cost formula.

1.10

Financial instruments
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.		
Classification and measurement
Financial assets can be categorised as ‘fair value through profit or loss’, ‘loans and receivables’, ‘held to maturity
investments’ and ‘available for sale financial assets’. The only category applicable to the Trust is ‘loans and
receivables’.
Financial liabilities can be classified as ‘fair value through profit or loss’ and ‘other’. The only category applicable to the
Trust is ‘other financial liabilities’.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets.
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Operating leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight line
basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to
operating expenses over the life of the lease.
Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is treated as an operating lease.

The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and other
receivables.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Other Financial Liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is treated as an operating lease.
1.12

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial
Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to finance costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment is not capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets.

Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA, which in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical
negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed in note 14.

Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired. Financial
assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly, or through a provision for impairment of receivables.

Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable
in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
1.13

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
1.11

Leases
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is recorded as
property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the
lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. The implicit rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding
liability.
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost.
The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit rate to the outstanding liability and is charged to finance
costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

170

Provisions
The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the Statement of
Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where
the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using HM
Treasury’s discount rate of 0.24% in real terms for early retirements and injury benefits.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 16, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
- Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or
- Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will
arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.			

1.14

Public Dividend Capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities
at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as public
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average
carrying amount of all assets less all liabilities, except for
(i) Donated assets (including lottery funded assets);
(ii) Charitable funds (before any consolidation adjustments for charitable funds);
(iii)	Average daily cleared balances with the Government Banking Service and National Loans Funds (NLF) deposits,
excluding GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility;
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(iv) PDC dividend balance receivable or payable;
(v) STF incentive and bonus fund receivable.
The dividend payable is based on the actual average relevant net assets for the year per the “pre-audit version”
of the annual accounts.

The Trust has recognised under IFRIC 12 the need to account for its PFI scheme as a service concession arrangement.
The indications of a service concession include the provision of a healthcare service, control over the services and
control over the asset at the end of the lease. The PFI arrangement satisfies these conditions. The details of the PFI
scheme can be found in note 18.

1.15

Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.

1.16

Corporation Tax
The Trust has reviewed its operating activities and determined that it has no liability for corporation tax. Group current
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial Position
date.

1.17

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in note 21 to the accounts in accordance with
the requirements of HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual.		

The Trust recognises deferred income relating to QMH in line with IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts
(expected to be superseded by IRDS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers, with effect from 1 April 2018).
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance/cost occurs. The Trust
prepared a business case for QMH and undertook due diligence of the financials pre October 2013. To minimise risk
the Trust agreed that tenants would pay based on the space that they would require in the future (post redevelopment).
The gap between income, including transitional funding, and expenditure is closely monitored with the balance
held as deferred income being that which is held to support the future costs to closedown, net of delivering a £150k
contribution as per the business case.
		
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
Statement Of Financial Position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

1.18

The Trust’s estate is valued according to appropriate indices as applied by the Trust’s external valuers.
The useful economic lives of buildings are assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers who assume that all buildings
have a maximum life expectancy from new of 60 years, with the buildings depreciated to on a straight line basis from
100% at completion of construction to zero, once their life span has been met.

Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the
relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had NHS foundation trust not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then
being included as normal revenue expenditure).

When undertaking the valuation of land at 31 January 2017 the Trust’s professional valuers have relied on the Trust’s
opinion that a smaller land area could be appropriate for reproviding services at a number of the Trust’s sites. Land has
been valued having regard to prevailing land values across Kent.
The Trust makes additional pension contributions in respect of a number of staff who have retired early from the
service. Provisions have been made for these contributions, based on actuarial assessments of the expected remaining
lives of those concerned.

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
1.19

Other reserves
Other reserves reflect property, plant and equipment written into the accounts on 1 April 2000 resulting from the
revaluation exercise carried out by the District Valuer on 1 April 2000.

1.20

Accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (see below) that management has made
in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.
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The provision for other legal claims is stated subject to uncertainty about the outcome of legal proceedings.
The Trust provides for amounts received for non-contract activity and overseas income, where treatment has been
provided by an Oxleas service (funded by the local CCG) for a patient who is registered outside the local area and
responsibility for funding the treatment lies with the patient’s own CCG. The provision is estimated based on the
amount of cash received from the patient’s own CCG.

1.21

Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted
The following presents a list of recently issued accounting standards and amendments which have not yet been
adopted within the FReM, and are therefore not applicable to DH group accounts in 2016-17.

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but
not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted

• IIFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

- Not yet EU-endorsed. Applies to first time adopters of IFRS after 1 January
2016. Therefore not applicable to DH group bodies.
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• IFRS 15 Revenue for Contracts with Customers

- Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted

• IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

1.22

Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early
No accounting standards have been adopted early.		

1.23

Segmental reporting
IFRS 8 defines the term of Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) as a group or individual whose ‘function is to
allocate resources to and assess the performance of the operating elements of the entity.’ For the Trust the most
appropriate interpretation is that the Trust Board represents the CODM. Operational performance is monitored at the
monthly board meetings and key resource allocation decisions are agreed there.
Information is presented to the Board as six operating segments as detailed in note 2. This information is prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This has been determined to be sufficient as the Board
allocates resources and assesses performance on this basis. This mirrors the information that is submitted to Monitor
and enables the Board to make strategic decisions on the Annual Plan.
A reconciliation between the published accounts and the information presented to the CODM for financial years
2016/17 and 2015/16 is shown in note 2 of the accounts.
The Trust generates the majority of its income from healthcare and related services. The information as displayed in the
accounts reflects that which is submitted to the Board.
The Trust’s major commissioners during the year 2016/17 were as follows:
NHS Greenwich CCG 29%, NHS England 20%, NHS Bexley CCG 18%, and NHS Bromley CCG 14% (2015/16 NHS
Greenwich CCG 30%, NHS England 22%, NHS Bexley CCG 17%, and NHS Bromley CCG 13% .)

1.24

Interests in other entities
In January 2012 the Trust entered into a joint venture (SARD JV Limited) with Mango Swiss Limited. The Trust owns 51%
of the shares in the joint venture and Mango Swiss Limited own 49% of the shares. The Trust holds 51 ordinary shares
of £1 each. Joint ventures are separate entities over which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties. The
meaning of control is where the Trust has the power to exercise control or a dominant influence so as to gain economic
or other benefits. The Trust provided an initial loan to the joint venture of £40,000 in 2012/13 and provided additional
funding in 2012/13 of £60,000 which is shown within non NHS receivables within these accounts. Turnover in the joint
venture in the year ended 31 March 2017 was £518,167 (Year ended 31 March 2016 £355,144). As this is not a material
item in the accounts it has not been accounted for as a joint venture.
On 5 March 2015, Oxleas Prison Services Limited (OPS Ltd) was set up by the trust as a wholly-owned subsidiary
company to provide pharmacy services to prisons in Kent and Greenwich. The results of Oxleas Prison Services
Limited have been consolidated in the Group accounts figures presented here for the year ended 31 March 2017.
In year ended 31 March 2017 OPS Ltd made a deficit of £89,482 (year ended 31 March 2016 deficit £3,360), turnover
for the period was £3,246,645 (year ended 31 March 2016 £2,925,203). OPS Ltd is domiciled in the UK. The registered
address is Queen Mary’s Hospital, Forgnal Avenue, Sidcup, Kent DA14 6LT.

2

Operating segments
The Chief Operating Decision Maker is the Board of Directors. The Board is presented with monthly management
accounts which are split into different segments for income and expenditure. The operating results of expenditure
segments are reviewed by the Board to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess
its performance.
The Trust has nine reportable segments based on expenditure. Financial performance against budget for each
segment is presented to the Board on a monthly basis. The table below summarises the expenditure by each
operating segment:
Year ended 31 March 2017

Year ended 31 March 2016

£000

£000

Adult Mental Health
Learning Disabilities

(49,126)
(4,966)

(47,426)
(5,367)

Older Adults

(14,623)

(14,593)

Children and Y.P. Services

(28,123)

(26,672)

Adult Community Services

(27,183)

(28,710)

Forensic & Prisons

(36,704)

(35,759)

Estates & Facilities

(25,271)

(25,080)

HQ Services

(17,333)

(19,329)

Central Income

205,866

202,872

150

150

2,687

86

Charitable Trust Funds

(46)

(140)

Oxleas Prison Services Limited

(89)

(2)

2,552

(56)

(5,130)

(5,844)

643

0

(1,935)

(5,900)

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

Queen Mary's Hospital (QMS) *
Underlying Surplus

Group (Deficit)/Surplus
IFRS 8: Reconciliation to Deficit for the year
Impairments
Gain on disposal of land and buildings
DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR
* The underlying surplus from QMS is analysed as follows:
QMS Operating Statement
for the Year Ended 31 March 2017
Operating Income
Operating expenses (excluding impairments)
OPERATING SURPLUS
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QMS
£000

12,719

14,137

(11,188)

(12,911)

1,531

1,226

Finance costs
Finance costs - interest expense

(419)

(424)

PDC dividends payable

(962)

(652)

(1,381)

(1,076)

150

150

Net finance costs
UNDERLYING SURPLUS
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2

3.1

Operating segments (continued)
Estates & Facilities includes depreciation costs.

Operating Income

Overhead expenditure-other includes HR & development, nursing & governance, finance, quality & pharmacy, trust
management and interest costs.
The Trust does not report surplus/deficit, operating income, finance costs or other comprehensive income by segment
as part of its management information.

Income from Activities

The types of products and services that the Trust generates its income from are:

NHS Foundation Trusts

- Adult Mental Health - Greenwich Time to Talk, Liaison and intake teams, Short term intervention teams, Adult inpatient
wards, Recovery teams, Early intervention services, Assertive outreach teams, Community rehabilitation services,
Inpatient rehabilitation services.

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

2,341

2,341

2,013

2,013

Local Authorities
Non NHS

- Older People’s Mental Health Services - Inpatient wards, Community teams, Day and memory services.

Being:
Cost and volume contract income

- Children and Young People’s Services - Child and adolescent mental health services, Specialist community health
services, Universal community health services, Therapies, Services for adopted and looked after children.

Mental health block contract income

Most of the Trust’s income (more than 82%) is received from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS
England, the majority of which is through block contracts. The Trust also earns income from cost and volume contracts
with CCGs as well as clinical partnerships (S75 agreements) with local authorities. The Trust’s income is generated in
England.		

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

NHS Trusts

Total income from activities

- Forensic and Prison Services - Bracton centre medium secure hospital, Bracton community team, Specialist physical
and mental health services in Kent prisons.

Year ended
31 March 2017
TRUST
£000

CCGs and NHS England

- Learning Disabilities - Adult Learning Disability community teams, day services and inpatient units.

- Adult Community Services - Unscheduled care services, Long term conditions, Planned care.

Year ended
31 March 2017
GROUP
£000

283

283

346

346

197,296

197,296

200,728

200,728

17,402

17,402

12,154

12,154

3,421

3,421

3,114

3,114

220,743

220,743

218,355

218,355

2,093

2,093

1,490

1,490

135,929

135,929

133,916

133,916

5,900

5,900

5,358

5,358

Community services block contract income

59,014

59,014

58,971

58,971

Other non-protected clinical income

17,807

17,807

18,620

18,620

220,743

220,743

218,355

218,355

Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services
(including S75 agreements)

Other Operating Income
Research and development
Education, training and research
Received from other bodies - donation of physical assets
(non cash)
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income
Other income **
NHS Charitable Funds: excluding investment income
Total other operating income
Total operating income

37

37

53

53

3,874

3,874

3,802

3,802

0

0

99

99

2,238

2,238

0

0

18,530

20,087

23,063

24,332

93

0

139

0

24,772

26,236

27,156

28,286

245,515

246,979

245,511

246,641

494

494

502

502

** Analysis of other operating income: Other
Car parking
Estates recharges

1,001

1,001

2,038

2,038

Pharmacy sales

6,092

6,092

4,953

4,953

119

119

174

174

6,689

6,689

7,820

7,820

4,135
18,530

5,692
20,087

7,576
23,063

8,845
24,332

Catering
Property rentals
Other
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3.2

4.2 Auditor’s remuneration
The Council of Governors appointed Deloitte LLP as external auditor of the Trust for the year commencing 1 April
2017. The audit fee for the statutory audit was £65,500 (2015/16, £64,000) excluding VAT. This was the fee for an audit
in accordance with the Audit Code issued by Monitor in March 2011. The quality accounts fee was £14,500 (2015/16
£14,000) excluding VAT. Deloitte LLP also performed an independent examination the charitable funds for a fee of £4k
(excluding VAT).									

Commissioner Requested Services
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
Group
Trust
£000
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
Group
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
Trust
£000

Commissioner Requested Services
Non Commissioner Requested Services

202,936
17,807

202,936
17,807

199,735
18,620

199,735
18,620

Total income from activities

220,743

220,743

218,355

218,355

4.

Operating Expenses

The engagement letter signed on 21 February 2017, included a liability cap of £1m for Deloitte LLP, its members,
partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence or otherwise) in respect of all such services.
4.3 Profit on disposal of other property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal all relates to unprotected assets.						

4.1 Operating expenses comprise:
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
GROUP
TRUST
£000
£000
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from CCGs and NHS England
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Directors' costs - executive directors
Directors' costs - non-executive directors
Staff costs **
Drug costs
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Bad debts
Movement in other provisions
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments
Audit services - statutory audit
Audit services - quality accounts
Other auditor remuneration-other assurance services
Clinical negligence
Early retirements
Consultancy
Internal audit
Legal fees
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Reconfiguration - (not included in staff costs)
Other
NHS Charitable funds: Other resources expended

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

2,233
3,036
81
0
14,295
1,055
152
172,389
7,118
6,785
2,050
7,079
1,354
14,057
268
(1,927)
3,319
11
5,130
79
17
0
555
0
505
82
198
1,162
142
446
2,255
128

2,233
3,036
81
0
14,295
1,055
152
172,324
8,692
6,775
2,034
7,079
1,354
14,057
268
(1,927)
3,319
11
5,130
79
17
0
555
0
505
82
198
1,158
142
446
2,231
0

953
1,669
63
0
9,040
1,180
163
172,976
8,850
14,079
4,346
9,862
273
12,665
(38)
(1,382)
2,929
8
5,844
81
17
0
202
0
587
105
498
1,625
96
293
924
274

953
1,669
63
0
9,040
1,180
163
172,873
10,422
14,014
4,216
9,862
273
12,665
(38)
(1,382)
2,929
8
5,844
81
17
0
202
0
587
105
498
1,621
96
293
916
0

244,054

245,381

248,182

249,170

4.4

Operating leases

4.4.1 Arrangements containing an operating lease:

Minimum lease payments

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
£000

5,921

6,264

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
£000

4.4.2 Future minimum lease payments due:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

5,986
17,725

5,753
17,986

48,537

50,024

Total

72,248

73,763

Over 97% of the operating lease commitments are property leases with varying expiring dates. Oxleas House and Green Park
House together account for over 59% of the total minimum lease payments.
The Trust also holds a number of operating leases for leased vehicles. The annual commitment for leased vehicles for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was £1,077,301 (year ended 31 March 2016, £866,944).				

** Total staff costs in note 5 of £173,444 (Year ended 31 March 2016 £174,156k) include £1,055k (Year ended 31 March 2016 £1,180k)
of executive directors’ cost.
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5

Employee costs and numbers

5.3

5.1

Employee costs

Retirements due to ill-health							
During the year there were 3 early retirements on the grounds of ill-health (31 March 2016, 2 in total). The estimated
additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £172,698 (31 March 2016, £178,048). The cost of these
ill-health retirements will be borne by NHS Pensions.

5.4

Exit packages							
During the year there were 28 exit packages (31 March 2016, 23) at a cost of £792,000 (31 March 2016, £490,000).

Year ended 31 March 2017
Total

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Pension costs-other contributions
Agency/contract staff
Total

Other

£000

Permanently
Employed
£000

127,642
12,849

127,526
12,849

116
0

15,206

15,206

0

Exit package cost band

0

0

0

17,747

0

173,444

155,581

£000

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other departures
agreed *

Total number
of exit packages
by cost band

17,747

<£10,000
£10,001-£25,000

5
12

0
0

5
12

17,863

£25,001-£50,000

8

0

8

£50,001-£100,000

1

0

1

£100,001-£150,000

2

0

2

£150,001-£200,000

0

0

0

> £200,000

0

0

0

Total number of exit packages by type

28

0

28

Total resource cost £'000

792

0

792

Number agreed

Total value of
agreements (£'000)

0

0

Year ended 31 March 2016
Total

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Pension costs-other contributions
Agency/contract staff
Total

Year ended 31 March 2017

Other

£000

Permanently
Employed
£000

128,772
10,360

127,957
10,360

815
0

15,345

15,345

0

0

0

0

19,679

0

19,679

174,156

153,662

20,494

£000

* of which
Contractual payments in lieu of notice

Year ended 31 March 2016
Total employer’s contributions payable to the defined contribution pension scheme in the year ended 31March 2017 were
£15,206,000 ( 31 March 2016, £15,345,000).

5.2 Average number of employees
Year ended
31 March 2017
Total Number

Year ended
31 March2016
Total Number

Medical and dental
Administration and estates

160
691

157
711

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

479

495

1,051

1,062

691

696

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff

84

81

Agency and contract staff

240

203

Bank staff

259

266

3,655

3,671

Total
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Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other departures
agreed

Total number of
exit packages
by cost band

<£10,000
£10,001-£25,000

5
5

5
1

10
6

£25,001-£50,000

4

0

4

£50,001-£100,000

3

0

3

£100,001-£150,000

0

0

0

£150,001-£200,000

0

0

0

> £200,000

0

0

0

Total number of exit packages by type

17

6

23

Total resource cost £'000

458

32

490

Exit package cost band
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5.5

8.

Directors' remuneration (Key management personnel)

Short-term employee benefits
	
The aggregate remuneration and other benefits receivable by executive and non-executive directors during the year
was £1,206,906 (2015/16, £1,342,356). This is made up of aggregate salaries of £913,788 (2015/16, £983,949), other
remuneration of £21,769 (2015/16, £65,660), clinical excellence awards of £35,832 (2015/16, £35,484), employer
contributions to NHS pensions schemes £115,904 (2015/16, £130,902) and employers national insurance contributions
£119,613 (2015/16, £126,361).									
The highest paid director’s salary in the year was in the band £205,000 - 210,000 (2015/16 £195,000 - 200,000 ).
The highest paid director participated in a defined benefit pension scheme. The total accrued pension at age 60 at 31
March 2017 of this director was in the band £85,000 - 90,000 (2015/16 £75,000 - 80,000) and the lump sum at age 60
related to accrued pension at 31 March 2017 was in the band £265,000 - 270,000 (2015/16 - £225,000 - 230,000).
Post-retirement employee benefits
	
Employer contributions to NHS pensions schemes in respect of executive and non executive directors in the year were
£115,904 (2015/16, £130,902).

6.

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
£000

Valuation/gross cost brought forward 1 April
Additions-donations of assets - non cash

99
0

0
99

Gross cost at 31 March

99

99

8

0

Provided during the year

11

8

Amortisation at 31 March

19

8

Net book value at 31 March

80

91

Amortisation brought forward 1 April

The total number of executive and non executive directors to whom benefits are accruing under defined benefit
schemes is 6 (2015/16, 7 in total).									

9.

Finance income

2016/17
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
GROUP
TRUST
£000
£000

NHS Charitable funds: investment income
Interest on loans and receivables

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

0
211

0!
211

0
353

0
353

211

211

353

353

Property, plant and equipment

Finance costs - interest expense

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Revaluations

10,735
18,431

£000

£000

Furniture
and
fittings
£000

86
0

3,451
2,039

728
879

Total

£000
123,714
30,663

0

5,650

(3,113)

0

0

212

2,749

(200)

(3,103)

0

0

(1,827)

0

(5,130)

2,445

0

0

0

0

2,970

(195)

0

0

0

0

(300)

18,434

104,612

26,053

86

3,663

1,819

154,666

Accumulated Depreciation as at 1 April 2016
Charged during the year

0
0

0
2,749

0
0

86
0

0
568

718
2

804
3,319

Reclassifications

0

(2,749)

0

0

0

0

(2,749)

Accumulated Depreciation as at 31 March 2017

0

0

0

86

568

720

1,374

17,270

83,438

26,053

0

3,095

1,099

130,954

1,164

13,086

0

0

0

0

14,250

0

2,590

0

0

0

0

2,590

18,434

99,114

26,053

0

3,095

1,099

147,794

Interest obligations under finance leases
Finance costs in PFI obligations-main finance costs

61
592

64
611

PFI contracts

Finance costs in PFI obligations-contingent finance costs

409

393

Total at 31 March 2017

5

(17)

1,067

1,051

182

90,501
9,314

Transport Information
equipment Technology

525

Year ended
31 March 2016
£000
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18,214
0

Buildings
Assets
excluding
under
dwellings construction
£000
£000

(105)

Disposals / derecognition

Year ended
31 March 2017
£000

Unwinding of discount on provisions

Land

£000

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017

Interest on loans and receivables consists of interest earned on the Trust's bank accounts and treasury deposits.

7.

Intangible assets

Net Book Value
Owned
Finance leased
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9

The net book value of assets held under PFI agreements and finance leases at the statement of financial position date are
as follows:

Property, plant and equipment continued

2015/16

Land

£000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation
reserve
Transfers to assets held for sale

Buildings
Assets
excluding
under
dwellings construction
£000
£000

Transport Information
equipment Technology
£000

£000

Furniture
and
fittings
£000

Total

£000

14,808

15,994

0

1,954

1,954

PFI

0

464

464

Finance leases

0

112

112

PFI

0

481

481

Finance leases

0

105

105

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Total
£000

Opening at 31 March 2016
Assets classified as held for sale in the year
Disposals in the year

77
0
0

143
0
0

220
0
0

NBV of assets held for sale at 31 March 2017

77

143

220

(9,139)

(1,126)

0

734

0

(9,545)

At 31 March 2017
PFI

(3,980)

(1,864)

0

0

0

0

(5,844)

Finance leases
At 31 March 2016

(7)

0

0

0

0

(10)

Revaluations

0

7,510

0

0

0

0

7,510

Disposals / derecognition

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

18,214

90,501

10,735

86

3,451

728

123,714

14
0

6,790
2,741

0
0

68
18

0
0

548
170

7,420
2,929

(14)

(9,531)

0

0

0

0

(9,545)

0

0

0

86

0

718

804

17,028

73,739

10,735

0

3,451

10

104,962

1,186

14,808

0

0

0

1,954

0

0

0

0

15,994

0

0

1,954

18,214

90,501

10,735

0

3,451

10

122,910

The Trust’s estate was revalued at 31 January 2017 by independent valuers.
The valuation methods used at 31 January 2017 were as follows: Specialised properties-depreciated replacement cost
(DRC); Operational Non specialised assets-existing use value (EUV); Investment Properties market value (MV).
DRC is defined as the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern equivalent asset less deductions for physical
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. In general the Trust’s valuers have relied upon
the floor areas of the existing buildings in assuming modern equivalent assets will require the same floor area, however
the Trust has identified that a small number of their existing buildings are inefficient with areas that are not occupied
for operational purposes and therefore consider any replacement of those assets would require a reduced floor area.
Having derived the modern equivalent replacement cost of the existing buildings the valuers have depreciated these
values to reflect age and obsolescence. Each building is assumed to have a maximum life expectancy from new of 60
years with the buildings depreciated on a straight line basis from 100% at completion of construction to zero, once their
life span has been met. 									
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1,186

(14)

(3)

Total at 31 March 2016

2,590

121,113
15,306

(4,816)

Finance leased

2,590

728
0

0

PFI contracts

0

0
2,717

0

Net Book Value
Owned

14,250

86
0

0

Accumulated Depreciation as at 31 March 2016

13,086

4,259
7,602

0

Reclassifications

1,164

89,014
4,987

0

Accumulated Depreciation as at 1 April 2015
Charged during the year

£000

27,027
0

(4,816)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016

£000

Buildings,
excluding
dwellings
£000

Land

184

PFI
Finance leases

Total

The total amount of depreciation charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of assets held under
PFI and finance lease agreements :
Depreciation - 31 March 2017

Depreciation - 31 March 2016

Assets Held for sale
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10

Inventories
Year ended
Year ended
31
March
2017
31 March 2017
GROUP
TRUST
£000
£000

287

Materials

484

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

278

537

The inventories figure relates to stocks of drugs.
Expenditure on drugs in the year was £7,118,000 (31 March 2016, £8,850,000). No amounts were written off in the year (31 March 2016, £nil).

11.3 Analysis of impaired receivables
31 March 2017
£000
Ageing of impaired financial assets
0 - 30 days

542

991

30-60 days

126

409

60-90 days

6

310

473

320

180-360 days

2,027

1,133

Total

3,174

3,163

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

0

0

90-180 days

11.1 Trade and other receivables
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
GROUP
TRUST
£000
£000

Current Assets:
NHS receivables
Prepayments
Interest receivable
Accrued Income

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

12,472

10,786

10,786

(2,895)

(2,895)

(3,163)

(3,163)

3,494

3,494

4,700

4,700

12,472

Provision for impaired receivables

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

0

0

0

0

1,445

1,436

437

391

31 March 2016
£000

Ageing of non-impaired financial assets past their due date
0 - 30 days

PDC receivable

0

0

73

73

30-60 days

2,043

2,450

VAT receivable

1,272

1,308

1,091

1,091

60-90 days

228

735

Non NHS receivables

2,670

2,287

2,806

2,564

1,421

1,514

0

9

0

0

905

0

18,458

18,111

16,730

16,442

4,597

4,699

279

279

279

279

(279)

(279)

0

0

0

0

279

279

Year ended
31 March 2016
TRUST
£000

Year ended
31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other receivables
TOTAL
Non Current Assets:
NHS receivables
Provision for impaired receivables

90-180 days
180-360 days
Total
12

Cash and cash equivalents
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
TRUST
GROUP
£000
£000

11.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

At 1 April
Increase in provision

3,163
268

3,201
0

Amounts utilised

(257)

0

0

(38)

Unused amounts reversed

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year

84,962
(22,543)

86,283
(23,092)

86,827
(1,865)

87,804
(1,521)

Balance at 31 March

62,419

63,191

84,962

86,283

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

22,382

22,382

84,932

84,932

37

77

30

543

40,000

40,000

0

0

0

732

0

808

62,419

63,191

84,962

86,283

Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Deposits with the National Loan Fund

At 31 March

3,174

3,163

NHS charitable funds

Current assets

2,895

3,163

279

0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position and
statement of cash flows

3,174

3,163

Non current assets
At 31 March
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13.1

13.4

Trade and other payables
Year ended
Year ended
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
TRUST
GROUP
TRUST
GROUP
£000
£000
£000
£000

Prudential borrowing limit
This is no longer a required disclosure for NHS Foundation Trusts.

13.5

Finance lease obligations

Current:
NHS payables

5,088

5,088

5,101

5,101

Trade payables-capital

1,935

1,935

1,028

1,028

Social security costs

5,310

5,310

5,117

5,117

Gross lease liabilities of which liabilities are due:
Not later than 1 year

Other payables

8,591

8,637

8,241

8,294

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Accruals
PDC dividend payable
NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other payables
Total current trade and other payables

10,239

10,165

8,157

8,611

579

579

0

0

0

5

0

5

31,742

31,719

27,644

28,156

13.2 Borrowings
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Less finance charges allocated to future years

70

66

Obligations under PFI contracts

312

292

382

358

Obligations under finance leases

971

1,041

Obligations under PFI contracts

8,742

9,053

Total non-current borrowings

9,713

10,094

Non-current:

Current:
Deferred income
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14,427

13,145

127

508

508

1,131

1,258

1,766

1,893

(725)

(786)

1,041

1,107

31 March 2017
£000
Gross PFI liabilities of which liabilities are due:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

13.3 Other liabilities
31 March 2016
£000

127

PFI obligations

Less finance charges allocated to future years

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Finance lease obligations relate to the lease of buildings at Bridgeways Day Hospital and Wallace Medical Centre. No
contingent rent was paid and there is no option in the lease to purchase the asset.		
Minimum lease payments are not disclosed at present value as rent increases by RPI annually which is expected to be equal to
any inflation and therefore there will not be a significant difference.
13.6

Current:
Obligations under finance leases

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

883

883

3,534

3,534

11,600

12,483

16,017

16,900

(6,963)

(7,555)

9,054

9,345

Under IAS 17, disclosure of the net present value of liabilities is required. The figures above are not reported at net present
value however note 20.3 discloses the fair value of the finance lease obligations under the PFI contract.
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14 Provisions

15

Capital Commitments
Commitments under capital expenditure contracts relating to property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2017 were
£4,536,262 (31 March 2016 £4,298,972).

16

Contingencies

16/17
At 1 April 2016

Pensions early
departure costs

Legal claims
and other

Redundancy

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

2,066

6,131

282

8,479

Arising during the year

42

1,702

478

2,222

Contingent liabilities
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities

(20)
0

(55)
0

Utilised during the year

(164)

(42)

(277)

(483)

Net value of contingent liabilities

(20)

(55)

0

(4,149)

0

(4,149)

Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

5

0

0

5

At 31 March 2017

1,949

3,642

483

6,074

Current
Non-current

209
1,740

3,642
0

483
0

4,334
1,740

1,949

3,642

483

6,074

209
690

3,642
0

483
0

4,334

Expected timing of cash flows:
31 March 2017
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

Contingent liabilities relate to legal claims where it is estimated that it is not probable that the Trust will be liable for the excess
under the Liabilities to Third parties Scheme and Property Expenses Scheme provided by the NHS Litigation Authority.
Legal claims under these schemes where it is probable that the Trust will be liable for the excess are included in
provisions.				

690

1,050

0

0

1,050

1,949

3,642

483

6,074

31 March 2016
Within one year
Between one and five years

268
897

6,131
0

282
0

6,681

After five years

901

0

0

901

2,066

6,131

282

8,479

897

The provision for pensions early departure costs is stated subject to the uncertainty about the length of time and amounts over
which this will be payable.
Legal claims and other provisions include the following:
Provisions for other legal claims is stated subject to uncertainty about the outcome of legal proceedings.
£1,624,084 (31 March 2016, £5,050,925) relating to provisions for overseas income and non contracted income covering
activity in 2016/17.		
Amounts excluded from total provisions above:
£1,342,270 (31 March 2016, £1,644,576 ) is included in the provisions in the financial statements of the NHS Litigation Authority
at 31 March 2017 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust .				
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17

Related Party Transactions
During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has
undertaken any material transactions with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust other than those set out below.
During the year Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust has had material transactions with the following NHS bodies:
														
Payments to Related
Party 16/17

Receipts from Related Amounts owed to Related
Party 16/17
at 31 March 2017

Amounts due from Related Party
at 31 March 2017

Payments to Related Party Receipts from Related Party
15/16
15/16

Amounts owed to Related
Party at 31 March 2016

Amounts due from Related
Party at 31 March 2016

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Department of Health
NHS Bexley CCG

0
896

0
44,459

0
365

0
861

0
610

99
42,299

0
105

73
599

NHS Bromley CCG

144

34,232

144

18

0

32,595

0

245

NHS Croydon CCG

0

293

0

80

0

483

0

137

NHS Greenwich CCG

721

70,785

495

5,341

319

73,181

295

2,886

NHS Lewisham CCG

0

1,339

0

94

0

1,798

0

185

NHS England
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
Health Education England

2

50,142

0

2,284

600

53,257

297

221

1,271

8,428

1,514

1,659

1,399

7,966

314

4,160

514

4,328

250

1,064

633

4,007

217

232

2,738

770

1,113

14

2,565

1,245

557

341

6

4,172

0

728

0

4,450

0

299

The Department of Health is the parent department. In addition, the Trust has had material transactions with the following local Government bodies:
London Borough of Bexley
London Borough of Bromley
London Borough of Greenwich

106

4,470

1,085

84

820

3,562

34

127

0

1,459

417

0

0

1,523

97

126

250

11,556

342

0

623

7,252

83

1,300

AAmounts owed to and from related parties are trade receivable and trade payable balances. Payments from related parties mainly
relates to income from contracts for healthcare services. Payments to related parties are for purchases of healthcare and other services.
The Trust has had transactions with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund as follows:								
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
0
11
The receipts from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund relate to a recharge of administrative costs.
The Trustees of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund are also members of the NHS Foundation Trust Board.
The audited accounts of the Funds Held on Trust are available from the Director of Finance, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
The Trust has had transactions with Oxleas Prison Services Limited as follows:

9

0

0

5

0

21

Oxleas Prison Services Limited

1,560

1

402

2,837

1,353

124

331

0

0

100

0

0

0

100

3,233

The receipts from Oxleas Prison Services Limited relate to a recharge of staff and administrative costs.
The payments to Oxleas Prison Services Limited relate to drugs costs.
The Trust has had transactions with its joint venture SARD JV Limited as follows:
SARD JV Limited

0

The Trust has provided a loan to the joint venture as disclosed in note 1.24 to the financial statements.
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Private Finance Transactions
Service element of PFI schemes deemed to be on-statement of financial position
The Trust is party to a PFI scheme with Bexley PPP Health Services Ltd (“the partner”). The scheme was
implemented in a phased 3 year programme. Three buildings were opened in 1999/2000, two buildings in
2000/2001 and one building in 2001/2002. 2 of the properties - Erith Centre and the Bexleyheath Centre, 4
Emerton Close are used to deliver community mental health and outpatient services and to accommodate
Trust offices; the Woodlands Unit is used to deliver acute inpatient services; 3 properties - 42 Oakwood Drive,
Somerset Villa and North House are used to deliver residential services for mental health and learning disability
clients. The substance of the contract is that the Trust has a finance lease and payments comprise 2 elements
- imputed finance lease charges and service charges (see note 1.7). Under IFRIC 12 the assets are treated as
assets of the Trust.							
The lease period is 50 years commencing in 2000 and expiring in 2050. There are no re-pricing dates in respect
of the unitary payment. RPI is applied annually at 1st April based on the table published by the Office for National
Statistics. Market testing in respect of maintenance is required 30 years after the commencement date and on a
quinquennial basis thereafter. Market testing in respect of items other than maintenance is required 5 years after
the commencement date and on a quinquennial basis thereafter.
Ownership of the land and buildings reverts to the Trust at the end of the lease period, i.e. in 2050. Terminal
options include those for the following reasons: gross negligence of the partner; insolvency of the partner; nonpayment of loan instalments by the partner to the lending bank.
An element of the unitary payments is applied to a “sinking fund” for the purpose of funding significant capital
expenditure on the properties as required over the period of the lease.

Non current asset values
The following non current assets are held under the PFI schemes:
Buildings
£000

Land
£000

Total
£000

Erith Centre, Park Crescent, Erith, Kent
42 Oakwood Drive, Barnehurst, Kent

214
312

116
168

330
480

4 Emerton Close, Bexleyheath, Kent

377

203

580

Woodlands Unit, Queen Mary's Hospital, Sidcup, Kent

11,294

352

11,646

Somerset Villa, Goldie Leigh, Lodge Hill, London SE2

876

143

1,019

13

182

195

13,086

1,164

14,250

31 March 2016
Erith Centre, Park Crescent, Erith, Kent

215

115

330

42 Oakwood Drive, Barnehurst, Kent

403

217

620

4 Emerton Close, Bexleyheath, Kent

377

203

580

Woodlands Unit, Queen Mary's Hospital, Sidcup, Kent

12,730

338

13,068

Somerset Villa, Goldie Leigh, Lodge Hill, London SE2

1,068

138

1,206

15

175

190

14,808

1,186

15,994

31 March 2017

North House, 237 Erith Road, Bexleyheath, Kent
Total

North House, 237 Erith Road, Bexleyheath, Kent

Following dissolution of South London Healthcare NHS Trust in October 2013 the PFI scheme for Elmstead
& Newsland at Queen Marys Hospital, Sidcup, Kent was transferred to the Trust. The partner for the QMH PFI
scheme is Bexley PP Health Services Ltd and the lease on the asset expires on 31 March 2029. 			
						

Total
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Year ended
31 March 2017

Year ended
31 March 2016

£000

£000

Amounts included within operating expenses in respect of the 'service' element of PFI
schemes deemed to be on Statement of Financial Position

864

851

Net charge to operating expenses

864

851

£000

£000

875

861

Commitments in respect of the service element of the PFI:
Within one year
2nd to 5th years (inclusive)

3,501

3,443

Later than five years

19,070

19,609

Total

23,446

23,913

Financial Instruments
Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
year in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities. 			
The Trust is not exposed to significant financial risk factors arising from financial instruments. Because of the
continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with local Clinical Commissioning Groups and the
way those CCGs are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
Credit Risk			
Credit risk is the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Trust. Credit risk arises from
deposits with banks as well as credit exposures to the Trust’s commissioners and other receivables. Surplus
operating cash is only invested in line with the Trust’s treasury management policy which allows investments with
the Government Banking Service (GBS) and the National Loan Fund (NLF) only. The trust’s cash assets at the
year end are held with the Government Banking Service and deposits with the National Loan Fund.
The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred largely under annual service agreements with local Clinical Commissioning
Groups and Local Authorities, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. An analysis of the
ageing of receivables and provision for impairment can be found at Note 10.1 “Trade and other receivables”.		
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Market risk			
Market risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as interest
rates and stock market movements. Market risk comprises three types of risk, where the fair value or future
cash flows could fluctuate because of movements in the underlying interest rate risk, currency risk, and price
risk.

20.1

Interest rate risk			
The Trust holds short term investments throughout the year in commercial banks as agreed in its treasury
management policy. At 31 March 2017, the Trust invests only in the Government Banking Service and National
Loan Fund. Other than cash and short term deposits as noted, the Trust’s financial assets and liabilities carry
nil or fixed rates of interest and the Trust’s income and operating cash-flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

Assets as per statement of financial position
NHS Receivables - Revenue

12,472

12,472

10,786

10,786

Provision for impaired receivables

(2,895)

(2,895)

(3,163)

(3,163)

Price risk			
The Trust has a number of contractual arrangements which are linked to the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) therefore
the Trust is exposed to price risk in line with movements in the UK economy.			
Liquidity risk			
Liquidity risk is the possibility that the Trust might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make
payments. Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding

Financial assets by category
31 March 2017 31 March 2017
TRUST
GROUP
£000
£000

Loans and receivables

1,445

1,436

437

391

Other receivables - Revenue

2,670

2,287

2,806

2,564

Cash and cash equivalents
NHS Charitable funds - cash & cash equivalents

62,419
0

62,459
732

84,962
0

85,475
808

Total at 31 March

76,111

76,491

95,828

96,861

31 March 2017
TRUST
£000

31 March 2017
GROUP
£000

31 March 2017
TRUST
£000

31 March 2017
GROUP
£000

5,088

5,088

5,101

5,101

20.2

Financial liabilities by category

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
NHS payables
Other payables

8,591

8,637

8,241

8,294

10,239

10,165

8,157

8,611

Trade payables - capital

1,935

1,935

1,028

1,028

Obligations under finance leases

1,041

1,041

1,107

1,107

Obligations under PFI contracts

9,054

9,054

9,345

9,345

0

0

0

0

Accruals

Provisions under contract
NHS Charitable funds: trade and other payables
Total at 31 March

196

31 March 2016
GROUP
£000

Accrued income

from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.			

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

31 March 2016
TRUST
£000
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0

5

0

5

35,948

35,925

32,979

33,491
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20.3 Fair Values
Set out below is a comparison, by category, of book values and fair values of the Trust’s financial assets and liabilities:

20.4

31 March 2017 31 March 2017
Book value
Fair value
£000
£000

31 March 2016
Book value
£000

31 March 2016
Fair value
£000

Maturity of financial liabilities
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

26,212
334

23,397
312

Less than one year
In more than one year but not more than two years

Financial assets
NHS Receivables - Revenue

12,472

12,472

10,786

10,786

Provision for impaired receivables

(2,895)

(2,895)

(3,163)

(3,163)

Accrued income

1,445

1,445

437

437

Other receivables - Revenue

2,670

2,670

2,806

2,806

Cash and cash equivalents

62,419

62,419

84,962

84,962

TRUST TOTALS

76,111

76,111

95,828

95,828

(352)
732

(352)
732

225
808

225
808

76,491

76,491

96,861

96,861

Financial liabilities
NHS payables

5,088

5,088

5,101

5,101

Other payables

8,591

8,591

8,241

8,241

2016/17

2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

10,239

10,239

8,157

8,157

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

1,935

1,935

1,028

1,028

2
11

0
1

1
0

0
0

OPS Limited
NHS Charitable funds
GROUP TOTALS

Accruals
Trade payables - capital
Obligations under finance leases due < 1 year

70

70

66

Obligations under finance leases due > 1 year

971

971

1,041

66
1,041 Note b

Obligations under PFI contracts due < 1 year

312

312

292

Obligations under PFI contracts due > 1 year

8,742

6,978

9,053

0

0

0

0

35,948

34,184

32,979

30,488

(28)
5

(28)
5

507
5

507
5

35,925

34,161

33,491

31,000

Provisions under contract
TRUST TOTALS
OPS Limited
NHS Charitable funds
GROUP TOTALS

292
6,562 Note a

In more than two years but not more than five years

1,516

1,420

In more than five years

7,863

8,362

35,925

33,491

Total
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Third Party Assets
The Trust held £394,203 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016, £464,228) which relates to
monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from cash and cash equivalents reported
in the accounts.

22

Losses and Special Payments
There were 37 cases of losses and special payments paid during the year (31 March 2016, 24.

Loss of cash - other
Bad debts and claims abandoned - other

0

0

1

1

TOTAL LOSSES

Damage to buildings, property - other

13

1

2

1

Special Payments under legal obligation
Ex gratia payments in respect of personal effects

8
16

59
4

6
14

20
3

0

0

2

1

TOTAL SPECIAL PAYMENTS

24

63

22

24

TOTAL LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS

37

64

24

25

Ex gratia payments in respect of other

During the year there were no cases exceeding £250,000 ( 31 March 2016, £250,000).

Notes					
a	To obtain fair value, cash flows have been discounted at prevailing market interest rates for finance leases for a similar
term. As no precise interest rate could be determined the rate has been calculated as the mid point between the base rate
at the inception of the lease, plus the risk premium, and the base rate at 31 March 2017, plus the risk premium.

Losses and special payments are reported on an accruals basis excluding provisions for future losses. 			
					

b	Fair value is not significantly different from book value since, in the calculation of book value, the expected cash flows have
been discounted by the Treasury discount rate of 2.2% in real terms.				
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Consolidation of charitable funds
Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are
classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and
reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments
are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned with the Trust’s.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Funds. The charity
is deemed to be a subsidiary under the prescriptions of IAS 27. International Accounting Standards dictate that
consolidated accounts should be prepared, that include the result and Statement of Financial Position of this subsidiary
undertaking.
HM Treasury previously granted dispensation to the application of IAS 27 (revised) by NHS foundation trusts solely in
relation to the consolidation of NHS charitable funds. From 2013/14, the Treasury dispensation was no longer available.
Consequently in these financial statements the trust has consolidated material NHS charitable funds which are
determined to be subsidiaries.					
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the sole beneficiary of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Funds. The charity
registration number is 1061424 and the registered address is Pinewood House, Pinewood Place, Dartford, Kent DA2
7WG. The charity is domiciled in the UK. Accounts for the charity can be obtained from
http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk.								

The charity’s total reserves is analysed between restricted and unrestricted funds as below:					
				
31 March 2017
£'000

31 March 2016
£'000

377

25

Restricted income funds

359

757

TOTAL CHARITABLE FUND RESERVES

736

782

Unrestricted funds:
Unrestricted income funds
Restricted funds:

Unrestricted funds are accumulated income funds that are expendable at the discretion of the trustees in furtherance of the
charity’s objects. Unrestricted funds may be earmarked or designated for specific future purposes which reduces the amount
that is readily available to the charity.
Restricted funds are accumulated income funds which are expendable at the trustee’s discretion only in furtherance of the
specified conditions of the donor and the objects of the charity. They can also represent capital funds (e.g. endowments)
where the assets are required to be invested, or retained for use rather than expended.					
24

Events after the reporting period
There are no material events occuring after the reporting period at 31 March 2017.
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